
 
 
 

 
 

CABINET 

15 September 2011 at 7.00 pm 
Conference Room - Council Office 

 
AGENDA 

 

Membership: 
 

Chairman: Cllr. P Fleming 
 

Cllr. Mrs P Bosley, Cllr. Mrs E Bracken, Cllr. Mrs C Clark, Cllr Mrs J Davison, 
Cllr. Mrs A Hunter and Cllr. B Ramsey 
 

 
 
1. Minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on 21 July 2011  (Pages 1 - 8) 

 

  
 

2. Declarations of interest   
 

  
 

3. Questions from Members  
 

 
 

  

 
    (maximum 15 minutes)  

 
 

4. Matters referred from Council  
 

 
 

  

 
 None  

 
 

5. Matters referred from the Performance and Governance 
Committee and/or Select Committees 
(Paragraph 5.20 of Part 4 (Executive) of the Constitution)  
 

 
 

  

 

 None  
 

 

6. West Kent Homelessness Strategy 2011-16  
 

(Pages 9 - 82) 
 

Pat Smith  

 
 

�  

 

 

7. Proposed changes to Staff Terms and Conditions  
 

(Pages 83 - 100) 
 

Tricia Marshall  

 
 

�  
 



 
 

 

�Indicates a Key Decision� Indicates a matter to be referred to Council 

To assist in the speedy and efficient despatch of business, Members wishing to obtain factual 
information on items included on the Agenda are asked to enquire of the appropriate Director or Contact 

Officer named on a report prior to the day of the meeting. 
 

Should you require a copy of this agenda or any of the reports listed on it in another format please do 
not hesitate to contact the Democratic Services Team as set out below. 

 
For any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact: 

 
The Democratic Services Team (01732 227241) 



1 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet 
 held on 21 July 2011 commencing at 7.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Cllr. P Fleming (Chairman) 
 

 Cllr. Mrs P Bosley, Cllr. Mrs E Bracken, Cllr Mrs J Davison, 
Cllr. Mrs A Hunter and Cllr. B Ramsey 
 

 Apologies for absence: Cllr. Mrs C Clark 
 

 Cllr. I Bosley, Cllr. R Brookbank, Cllr Mrs A Cook, Cllr. A Eyre and 
Cllr. Mrs D Morris were also present 
 

 
 

13. MINUTES OF THE MEETINGS OF THE CABINET HELD ON 23 JUNE 2011  
 
Resolved: That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 June 2011 be 
approved and signed as a correct record. 
 

14. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

15. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS (MAXIMUM 15 MINUTES)  
 
There were no questions from Members. 
 

16. MATTERS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE AND GOVERNANCE 
COMMITTEE AND/OR SELECT COMMITTEES  
 
(a) Property Review – Disposal of Public Toilets (Ide Hill, Kemsing, Leigh, 
Swanley) – (Performance and Governance Committee – 28 June 2011) 
 
This was considered under minute item 20 below. 
 
(b) Argyle Road Offices – Accommodation for Moat Housing - (Performance 
and Governance Committee – 28 June 2011) 
  
This was considered under minute item 22 below. 
 

17. PROGRESS WITH IMPROVEMENT INITIATIVES IN DEVELOPMENT 
SERVICES  
 
The Head of Development Services introduced a report which outlined 
progress with regards to the Cabinet Review of Development Services (2009) 
(DSR) and the Sevenoaks District Council-Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Planning Partnership which commenced in November 2008.  

It was noted that at the time the DSR was initiated Development Services 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



Cabinet - Thursday, 21 July 2011 
 
 

2 

performance against national indicators was in the lowest quartile, but as a 
result of the DSR performance had met or exceeded its target on all 
indicators. The most marked improvement had been against NI157(A), time 
taken to deal with Major Planning Applications, where over 86% were now 
determined within the target time. Good progress had also been made on the 
Local Development Framework. The Core Strategy had been adopted on 22nd 
February 2011, draft documents for Allocations for Land for Development had 
already been out to public consultation and Development Management 
policies were currently undergoing public consultation. It was noted that this 
had been achieved whilst there had been significant year-on- year reductions 
in net spending on Development Services which was expected to continue 
and that the service was performing well in terms of value for money. In view 
of this progress it was felt that the DSR has achieved it’s objectives,  and that 
any ongoing improvements should be carried out as part of normal 
Development Services activity. The Cabinet was also asked to continue with 
the successful Planning Partnership with Tunbridge Wells Borough Council. 

The Cabinet congratulated the Head of Development Services and his staff 
for the improvements in performance and reduction in costs and noted that 
the transformational change associated with the DSR had been delivered. 
Members noted that any areas for continued change would be addressed as 
part of ongoing Development Services activity and the process of continuous 
improvement. If more significant changes were required this would be 
undertaken by following the business process review process. 

  Resolved: 

(a) That subsequent to the changes already made as a result of the 
Cabinet Review of Development Services (2009) no further changes 
are considered necessary but that ongoing improvements should be 
carried out as part of the normal operation of Development Services; 
and  

(b) That the Sevenoaks District Council-Tunbridge Wells Borough 
Council Planning Partnership be continued until further notice 

 
18. BIG COMMUNITY FUND  

 
The Head of Community Development introduced a proposal to establish a 
new grant scheme funded by the New Homes Bonus Scheme which would 
enable Members to take forward projects in their local communities. The fund, 
to be called the Big Community Fund grant scheme, would enable Members 
to bid for funding in partnership with a local delivery organisation such as a 
town or parish council, voluntary or community organisation to improve or 
strengthen the local community or local area. The total amount of grant 
available each month under the scheme would be £10,000 with a maximum of 
£3,000 per application, totalling £120,000 in a full financial year. Any amount 
unallocated from one month would roll-into the next month’s allocations.  

It was proposed that awards would be made by the Portfolio Holder for 
Community Wellbeing with advice and recommendations from a panel of 

Agenda Item 1

Page 2



Cabinet - Thursday, 21 July 2011 
 
 

3 

specially trained Members. This panel of 5 members drawn from a wider pool 
would meet each month to consider applications against the published criteria 
for the scheme and to make recommendations. Where applications related to 
the Portfolio Holder’s Ward, or where she had an interest, or in her absence, 
then the Leader of the Council would take the decision. Where the Portfolio 
Holder’s or Leader’s view was contrary to the Panel’s recommendation the 
application would be referred to the Cabinet for decision. The amount 
allocated to each ward would be considered as part of the grant appraisal 
process and it was proposed that the awards would be reported to the 
Performance and Governance Committee to ensure transparent scrutiny.. 

The Cabinet welcomed the new scheme which it felt would have a very 
positive impact at local level, noted the criteria for applications, the 
assessment template and the draft timetable for implementation. The Leader 
of the Council had written to Members to ascertain interest in serving on the 
advisory panel and 14 Members had volunteered to undertake formal training 
to enable them to sit on the panel.   

  Resolved: 

(a) That £120,000 be allocated to the new grant scheme, entitled the 
Big Community Fund, from the additional New Homes Bonus Scheme 
funding received; 

(b) That approval of the award of grants under the Scheme be 
delegated to the Portfolio Holder for Community Wellbeing provided 
such approval is in line with the recommendation of the Project 
Appraisal Group. If the Portfolio Holder’s view is contrary to the Project 
Appraisal Group’s recommendation, the application will be referred to 
Cabinet for decision; 

(c) That where the Portfolio Holder is unable to act due to unavailability 
or an interest or Ward connection the delegation in (b) above shall be 
exercised by the Leader of the Council; 

(d) That the 14 Members listed in the Appendix to these minutes be 
appointed to the panel to advise the Portfolio Holder for Community 
Wellbeing in determining grants under the scheme; 

(e) That the Big Community Fund guidelines set out in Appendix A to 
the report be approved; and 

(f) That the Appraisal Template set out at Appendix B to the report be 
agreed.        

 
19. 2011/12 PERFORMANCE INDICATOR TARGETS  

 
The Policy and Performance Manager reminded Members that the 
performance indicators were reviewed on annual basis to ensure that the 
focus of services aligned with the council’s priorities, and that meaningful 
information was collected and to ensure progress against key Council and 
service objectives. The selection of performance indicators and target setting 

Agenda Item 1

Page 3



Cabinet - Thursday, 21 July 2011 
 
 

4 

were key aspects of the Strategic Service Planning process and Service 
Plans set out the key vision and service priorities whilst also documenting 
the resources available to deliver those priorities, risks and proposed 
savings.  

The Cabinet was asked to agree 93 Performance Indicators and targets for 
2011/12 across 29 service areas. The impact that delivering savings of 
£2.5m in 2011/12 would have on performance was highlighted and it was 
noted that, whilst it remained the intention to deliver high quality services and 
to make the best use of resources by innovative ways of working, some 
targets had been set at lower levels to reflect this.   

The Cabinet was asked to amend the target in LPI CS001, which related to 
the percentage of telephone calls answered within 20 seconds by the 
Contact Centre, from 80% to 70% to more realistically reflect performance. 
Experience had shown that customers preferred to have calls resolved at the 
first point of contact even if this took longer rather than having slightly shorter 
response times. This had been endorsed at the last meeting of the 
Performance and Governance Committee. 

The Portfolio Holder for the Cleaner and Greener Environment suggested 
that the target for LPI Waste 001, percentage of household waste sent for 
recycling, should be reduced from 26% to 23% as she felt that the higher 
target was not realistically achievable without an increase in funding. The 
change would also need to be reflected in LPI Waste 006, percentage of 
household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting, by reducing the 
target from 35% to 32%. 

The Leader of the Council felt that it was important that Performance 
Indicators reflected the Council’s ability to deliver within financial constraints 
and that the focus should be on maintaining the performance of public facing 
services. Whilst noting that the number of indicators had been reduced by 
25-30% over the last few years he felt that there might be scope for further 
reductions in the number of LPI’s and the information collected to support 
these.      

Resolved: That the Performance Indicator targets for 2011/12 
appended to the report, with the amendments to LPI’s CS001, Waste 
001 and Waste 006 as agreed by the Cabinet, be approved.      

 
20. PROPERTY REVIEW – DISPOSAL OF PUBLIC TOILETS 

(IDE HILL, KEMSING, LEIGH, SWANLEY)  
 
The Cabinet considered a report which explained that a number of public 
toilets had been closed as part of the 2011/12 budget process and the 
ongoing Property Review. In looking at the future of these toilets a number of 
factors had been considered including the desirability of not retaining vacant 
property which had no identified operational use but would still incur business 
rates and could be subject to vandalism. In each case the possibility of 
transferring the toilets to the relevant town/parish council had been explored 
but where this was not possible the disposal of the property on the most 

Agenda Item 1

Page 4



Cabinet - Thursday, 21 July 2011 
 
 

5 

economically advantageous terms hade been investigated. 

The Cabinet was asked to approve the disposal of four former public toilets. It 
was proposed that the toilets at Ide Hill be disposed of by transferring the 
lease to the toilets and lay-by to the Parish Council at nil cost and the toilets in 
the Wheatsheaf Car Park, Kemsing by seeking the permission of the 
freeholders of the adjoining Wheatsheaf Public House to grant a sub-lease of 
the toilets to the Parish Council at nil cost.  

The report proposed that the toilets at Leigh School should be sold to Time 
Talk at a figure to be agreed with the District Valuer for conversion to offices. 
This would allow Time Talk to relocate from the Cobden Road Centre, where 
they were the last remaining tenant, which would allow the future of the 
Centre to be considered by Members. The Cabinet was also asked to agree 
to the sale of the public toilets at Station Road, Swanley to the existing tenant 
of the taxi office currently operating from part of the site at a figure to be 
agreed with the District Valuer. In the case of the commercial disposals if 
terms could not be agreed with the interested parties the properties would be 
sold on the open market by auction. 

The Cabinet had regard to the comments and recommendations made by the 
Performance and Governance Committee at its meeting on 28 June 2011. In 
particular the Cabinet considered the recommendation that the Leigh Public 
toilets should be transferred to Leigh Primary School at the District Valuers 
figure as it considered that the social benefit of this should be a determining 
factor. Cllr. Mrs Cook addressed the Cabinet to support the sale of the toilet to 
the Primary School and explained that the school needed to have the land 
and had the funds available to purchase it. She was also concerned that any 
alternative prospective owner would need to be suitable to operate in 
proximity to young children. The Cabinet noted the arguments for transferring 
the property to the school and felt that whatever decision was made should 
include resolution of the ongoing land dispute with KCC, which might be 
possible as it was understood that KCC would fund the purchase by the 
school. In view of this the Cabinet felt that the disposal of the Leigh Public 
toilets should be re-evaluated before making a decision.   

The Performance and Governance Committee had also recommended the 
Public Toilets at Station Road, Swanley should be offered to the Town Council 
rather than to the existing tenant. At the time of writing the report it had been 
understood that Swanley Town Council did not wish to take over responsibility 
for the public toilets but it was felt that negotiations may have been with the 
outgoing Town Council. Cllr. Brookbank informed the Cabinet that he believed 
that Swanley Town Council was interested in taking responsibility for the 
toilets and had understood that this was being pursued with the District 
Council. He asked for a decision to be deferred until the position could be 
ascertained and the Cabinet agreed to the deferral.   

Resolved:  

(a)That the public toilets at Ide Hill and Kemsing be disposed of in 
accordance with the recommendations contained in the report and 
subject to any other conditions that the Council’s legal advisors 

Agenda Item 1

Page 5



Cabinet - Thursday, 21 July 2011 
 
 

6 

consider necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 

(b) That the disposal of the Leigh and Swanley public toilets be re-
evaluated within the next 3 months in light of the Cabinet’s discussion 
and the views expressed by the Performance and Governance 
Committee and  recommendations brought back to the Cabinet within 
that timescale.   

 
21. CONSIDERATION OF EXEMPT INFORMATION  

 
Resolved: That, under section 100 (A) 4 of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the remaining items of business 
on the ground that likely disclosure of exempt information is involved in each 
case as defined by paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local Government 
Act 1972. 

 
22. ARGYLE ROAD OFFICES - ACCOMMODATION FOR MOAT HOUSING  

 
The Cabinet considered an exempt report relating to accommodation for Moat 
Housing at the Argyle Road offices and welcomed the recommendations 
contained in the report. 

Resolved: That capital reserves be used to provide office 
accommodation for Moat Housing on the terms and conditions detailed 
in the report and on such other conditions as the Council’s legal 
advisors consider necessary to protect the Council’s interests 

 
23. LONDON 2012 OLYMPIC GAMES  

 
The Cabinet considered an exempt report relating to the London 2012 
Olympic Games torch relay. 

  Resolved: 

(a) That the Cabinet supports the District hosting the 2012 
Olympics Torch relay on Friday 20 July 2012; 

(b) That Officers sign the formal contract with The London 
Organising Committee of the Olympic Games (LOCOG) to assist 
LOCOG with the staging of the event; 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive or, in his 
absence, the Community & Planning Services Director, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Community 
Wellbeing Portfolio Holder, to sign the contract; and 

(d) That Council service requirements are carried out in relation 
to this event, subject to the pre-agreed contract requirements.         

 

Agenda Item 1

Page 6



Cabinet - Thursday, 21 July 2011 
 
 

7 

 
THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT  8.05 pm 

 
  

 
 
 

Chairman 

Agenda Item 1

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



 

CABINET – 15 SEPTEMBER 2011 

 

 

WEST KENT HOMELESSNESS STRATEGY 2011-16 

Report of the: Director of Community and Planning Services  

Also to be 
considered by: 

Council – 18 October 2011 

Status: For Decision 

Key Decision: Yes  

This report supports the Key Aim of: 

(a) The Vision for Balanced Communities;  

(b) The Sustainable Community Action Plan; and 

(c) Housing Strategy.   

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Mrs Carol Clark  

Head of Service Head of Housing and Communications – Mrs. Pat Smith 

Recommendation to Cabinet: It be RESOLVED that Members recommend 
approval of the West Kent Homelessness Strategy (WKHS) to Full Council.    

Recommendation to Full Council: It be RESOLVED that Members adopt the 
WKHS as District Council policy.   

Reason for recommendation: to form the strategic document to guide the direction 
of the District Council’s homelessness service and to minimise homelessness in the 
Sevenoaks District and across West Kent.    

 

Introduction 

1 The Homelessness Act 2002 granted new provisions and powers for local 
authorities relating to homelessness and prevention.  It also imposed a duty on 
local authorities to carry out a review of homelessness in their area and to 
formulate and publish a strategy for the future based on the results of that 
review, outlining how the local authority and their partners would work to 
prevent homelessness and ensure accommodation and support for those who 
were at risk of homelessness. 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 9



Cabinet – 15 September 2011  

 

2 Disapplication legislation followed in 2005 and removed the duty to provide a 
strategy for those having achieved ‘excellent’ status.  However, Communities 
and Local Government (CLG) recommends that local authorities still produce a 
strategy.    

 
3 The draft WKHS (Appendix A), which is an update of the Joint Homelessness 

Strategy 2007, has been developed in consultation with a wide range of 
service users and partners across sectors.   

 
4 Key themes emerging from consultation include a desire for more commonality 

in how the three West Kent local authorities (Sevenoaks District Council, 
Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, Tunbridge Wells Borough Council) 
work.  This includes: a need for more shared services, more innovation and 
sharing of knowledge, information and good practice; and opportunities to 
streamline services, processes and information.  

 
5 The draft WKHS provides the national, regional and local policy context,  

methods of consultation, and what the main findings were. The main section of 
the document covers five key objectives before a conclusion is drawn and an 
explanation of how the strategy will be monitored and reviewed over the next 
five-year period. 

 

6 The five key priorities of the draft WKHS, are to:  

I. Maximise homelessness prevention through the provision of 
appropriate housing options and choices;  

II. Maximise resources across West Kent, becoming more efficient and 
effective; 

III. Work effectively with private sector landlords; 

IV. Create strong partnerships to tackle homelessness; and  

V. Meet the needs of the diverse range of people affected by 
homelessness. 

7 Members are referred to Appendix A for the full draft WKHS which includes 
further details of the strategy process, proposed work plan, and intended 
outcomes.     

 

8 The draft WKHS has now been adopted as council policy by both Tonbridge 
and Malling and Tunbridge Wells borough councils.     

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 10



Cabinet – 15 September 2011  

 

Key Implications 

Financial  

The WKHS will be delivered using existing resources and as such there will be no 
additional financial implications. 

Community Impact and Outcomes  

The draft WKHS aims to minimise homelessness by providing a wide range of 
housing solutions to prevent or remedy homelessness.  The draft WKHS supports a 
range of other housing solutions which in turn support wider Sustainable Community 
Action Plan outcomes, such as employment and training.   

Legal, Human Rights etc.  

The recommendations are compatible with the provisions of the Human Rights Act 
1998 and are not likely to result in any Human Rights Act implications.  

Resource (non-financial) 

The WKHS will be delivered using existing resources and as such there will be no 
additional non-financial implications. 

Value For Money and Asset Management 

- The WKHS and sub-regional working arrangements provides opportunities to 
reduce the impact on the District Council's assets and may create savings.   

- Working across local authority boundaries and with cross-sector partners, 
there is less consequent requirement for office space.   

- The WKHS will not have a negative environmental impact; impact would be 
positive, though negligible.   

Equality Impacts 

The WKHS aims to assist those in need and improve life chances.  It is need-based 
and equalises opportunities.  The WKHS adheres to the District Council’s equality 
policies.   

Sustainability Checklist 

Completed and available by request. 

Conclusions 

That the draft WKHS would be an effective District Council policy to address 
homelessness and related issues.   

Risk Assessment Statement  

There are a number of risks associated with not adopting the WKHS.   

Agenda Item 6

Page 11



Cabinet – 15 September 2011  

 

If the District Council did not adopt the WKHS as District Council policy, this would 
result in:- 

- It not having an up-to-date homelessness strategy and clearly defining 
objectives and targets to reduce homelessness and to sustain home 
ownership and tenancies. 

- Not having a strategic document setting the way forward to reduce and 
minimise homelessness in the District and across West Kent; 

- A missed opportunity to partner with organisations across sectors to deliver 
services together - improving delivery and reducing resource requirements;    

- A failure to demonstrate to the community and beyond that the District Council 
is actively working towards Sustainable Community Plan and Housing 
Strategy outcomes; and   

- A risk of an increase in homelessness.  

Attached Documents Appendix A - Draft West Kent Homelessness 
Strategy (2011-16) 

Background Papers: Joint Homelessness Strategy (2007) 

Sustainable Community Action Plan (2010-13) 

West Kent Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(2009)  

Contact Officer(s): Pat Smith, x7355 

Kristen Paterson 
Community and Planning Services Director  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 12



Page 1 of 69 

 

 

 

 

West Kent 

Homelessness Strategy  

2011-2016 

 

Sevenoaks District Council 

Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 

 

 

         July 2011 
  

Cabinet - 15 September 2011 

Item No. 6 - Appendix AAgenda Item 6

Page 13



Page 2 of 69 

 

CONTENTS 
 

1.  Foreword 
 

3 

2.  Executive Summary 
 

4 

PART ONE: THE STRATEGIC CONTEXT  

 
3.  Introduction 

 

6 

4.  How we produced the strategy  
 

8 

5.  The strategic context 
§ The national policy context 

§ The regional policy context 
§ The sub-regional and local contexts 
§ The West Kent economy and housing market  

 

9 

6.  Homelessness in West Kent 

§ Key findings, data and trends 2005-2010 
§ Non-priority homeless 

§ Who becomes homeless, and why? 
§ Achievements and progress since 2005 
§ Preventing homelessness, what works? 

§ Tackling issues beyond homelessness 
§ Choice based lettings 

§ Accommodation & services for homeless people in West Kent  
 

17 

PART TWO: THE STRATEGY   

 
7.  Lessons learnt  

 

35 

8.  Our vision and strategic priorities 
 

37 

PART THREE: DELIVERING THE STRATEGY  
 

9.  Resources and funding  
 

45 

10. Monitoring, reporting and review  

 

46 

11. Action Plan 2011-2013 

 

46 

APPENDICES 
 Appendix 1:  West Kent Homelessness Strategy Project Team 

membership 

47 

 Appendix 2:  Summary of Homelessness Strategy Group 

Consultation Events 

48 

 Appendix 3:  Summary of service user consultation  52 
 Appendix 4:   A summary of the Housing Options Process 54 

 Appendix 5:  Key data and trends in homelessness by LA area  56 
 Appendix 6:  Overview of the West Kent Homeless Teams 61 

 Appendix 7:  Action Plan 2011-2013 63 

Agenda Item 6

Page 14



Page 3 of 69 

 

1. FOREWORD 

 

Welcome to the second West Kent Homelessness Strategy. 

 

The three West Kent authorities of Tonbridge and Malling, Tunbridge Wells and 

Sevenoaks have a strong track record in joint working together and with other 

agencies and service users over many years to tackle homelessness across West 

Kent.  

 

A considerable amount has been achieved since the development of the first 

West Kent Homelessness Strategy in 2007. However, this strategy has been 

developed at a time of unprecedented change. Public spending has been 

significantly cut, and the Government is in the process of radically overhauling 

the social housing system, much of which will, subject to the passage of the 

Localism Bill, be implemented from April 2012. We have no doubt that this will 

add to the pressures on services for people who are facing homelessness at a 

time when resources are at an all-time low. 

 

It is undoubtedly a challenging time to be developing a homelessness strategy, 

but we remain confident that the broad strategic priorities that the strategy is 

based on will provide a sound framework for the next five years. Progress 

against these priorities will be closely monitored, and an earlier review will be 

undertaken if it is considered necessary. The detailed Action Plan, which sets out 

individual objectives for delivering the strategy, has been developed to cover the 

first two years of the strategy only, and it will be reviewed from 2013.  

 

This strategy will strengthen the sub-regional approach that has underpinned 

many of our achievements to date. It will build on past successes and existing 

partnerships, without losing sight of district/borough-specific priorities.  

 

It has been developed in consultation with partners, stakeholders and service 

users, and it reflects the broader strategic priorities that have been identified 

within national, regional and sub-regional housing policy.  

 

Councillor Jean Atkinson 

Cabinet Member for Housing 

Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council 

 

Councillor John Cunningham 

Portfolio Holder for Health, Wellbeing and Rural Communities 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 

Councillor Carol Clark 

Portfolio Holder for Housing and Balanced Communities 

Sevenoaks District Council  

Agenda Item 6

Page 15



Page 4 of 69 

 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

2.1. This Homelessness Strategy for West Kent sets out the vision of the three West Kent 

authorities – Sevenoaks DC, Tonbridge & Malling BC and Tunbridge Wells BC – for 

tackling homelessness over the period 2011-2016.  

 

2.2. The strategy is set against the backdrop of unprecedented change. Public spending 

is being cut, major changes to welfare benefits (in particular Housing Benefit) are 

planned, permanent social housing tenancies for new tenants are ending while 

changes to the allocation of social housing and the homelessness legislation are also 

on the table. The implications of these changes are not yet fully understood but 

there is a wide consensus that they will increase pressure on homelessness services, 

at a time when resources are facing cuts.  

 

2.3. West Kent is a relatively affluent area, characterised by a buoyant economy, high 

levels of owner occupation and high houses prices. A shortage of housing in the 

social rented sector places pressure on the private rental market, where high rents 

are driven by demand from the buy-to-let and commuter market. This brings 

specific challenges to homelessness services and will continue to do so, given the 

increased emphasis on the private sector in providing long term housing solutions. 

Accommodation for homeless people is in short supply and demand always exceeds 

supply. 

 

2.4. Despite these challenges, homeless prevention has been very effective in West Kent 

over recent years, with homeless applications and acceptances falling year-on-year 

since 2005 (in 2009/10, 126 householders were accepted as homeless across West 

Kent). However, there are clear signs that this trend is now reversing and 

applications and acceptances are on the rise. Many more people, however, are not 

captured in the official statistics because they are classed as non-priority homeless 

and, as such, are at risk of rough sleeping or sofa surfing.   

 

2.5. Patterns and causes of homelessness across West Kent stubbornly persist. 

Homelessness disproportionally impacts on young people and around 4 in 5 

homeless households contain children. Most often, these young people and families 

have been evicted by their parents or family or have suffered from relationships 

breaking down.  

 
2.6. The authorities have developed very effective prevention techniques though 

approaches and emphases vary between the three. Mediation with family members  

(often to keep young people at home) has proved effective, as have rent in advance 

and deposit schemes which have been used successfully across all three authorities 

to enable applicants to access the private rented sector. Prevention techniques are 

going beyond the issue of homelessness and are increasingly tackling the underlying 

causes, with advice on benefits, employment and training.  

 

2.7. Partnership working is alive and well in West Kent with a range of public sector 

bodies, housing associations and voluntary agencies working together to tackle 

homelessness. The Supporting People programme is also central to prevention, 

funding a range of accommodation-based and floating support services across the 

region. These partnerships will become even more important in the future, with 

pressure on services and resources acting as a catalyst for radical new ideas about 

how – and by whom - services could best be delivered in future.   

 
2.8. This strategy has been developed in consultation with these partners and with 

service users and the key themes emerging from the consultation have shaped the 

strategy. They included a desire for more commonality in how the three authorities 

Agenda Item 6

Page 16



Page 5 of 69 

 

work; an appetite for more shared services, more innovation and sharing of 

knowledge, information and good practice; and opportunities to streamline services, 

processes and information. The importance of effective partnership working was also 

strongly underlined. Service users wanted good quality, realistic advice and 

information, which they felt would empower them to make better choices and 

control their situation and help accessing good quality private housing.   

 
2.9. Our overall vision for homelessness is to “proactively support and empower 

people to plan their own futures so that homelessness within West Kent is 

significantly reduced”.  

 

2.10. In order to deliver this vision, we have identified five strategic priorities. These are: 

 
1. Maximising homelessness prevention through an enhanced housing 

options service - with proposed changes to benefits, reduced investment and 

an uncertain economy, homelessness services will be put under real pressure.  

To meet this challenge, we will ensure that existing processes, protocols and 

techniques work well, that any barriers are removed and invest in increasing 

skills and expertise within the Housing Options Teams. We will also seek to 

manage customer expectations with good quality, clear and accessible advice 

and information, using new media and creative ways to reach the ‘front line’ of 

homelessness.  

 

2. Maximising resources across West Kent, becoming more efficient and 

effective – with local authority and Supporting People funding facing significant 

reductions, we will think – and act - radically about how services can be 

delivered more cost effectively in the future. Building on our history of joint 

working, we will identify opportunities to share staff and expertise and develop 

shared processes and procedures that learn from the best.  

 

3. Working effectively with private sector landlords – the private sector is 

already central to successful prevention and will become even more so in the 

future, despite the reluctance of private landlords to accept tenants who may be 

vulnerable or on benefits.  We will improve links with landlords, understanding 

their priorities and barriers and develop an ‘offer’ that works. This will include 

robust rent in advance and deposit schemes, landlord ‘accreditation’ and tenancy 

sustainment packages. 

 

4. Creating strong partnerships to tackle homelessness – we will build on the 

already strong partnerships that exist to help us make the best use of limited 

resources. By drawing together information that already exists, we will ‘map’ 

homelessness services and resources, facilitating a conversation with partners 

about the best way to deliver a joined-up service across West Kent, reviewing 

how these partnerships work in practice and whether there is scope for services 

to be delivered in different ways, by different organisations. We will also review 

the operation of the Homelessness Strategy Group, providing clear accountability 

and opportunities for better sharing of resources, expertise and good practice.    

 

5. Meeting the needs of the diverse range of people affected by 

homelessness – homelessness affects a wide – and widening - range of people. 

Our focus will be on understanding and meeting the needs of the diverse range of 

groups impacted by homelessness including young people, people experiencing 

domestic abuse, vulnerable people and those with complex needs, people with 

disabilities, gypsies and travellers, older people and offenders. Partnerships are 

key here and we will robustly enforce existing protocols to ensure that they work 

for the benefit of clients. Information is also key and we will find new, effective 

and appropriate ways of providing information.  

Agenda Item 6

Page 17



Page 6 of 69 

 

PART ONE: THE STRATEGIC CONTEXT  

 

3. INTRODUCTION 

 

3.1. This Homelessness Strategy for West Kent sets out the vision of the three West Kent 

authorities – Sevenoaks DC, Tonbridge & Malling BC and Tunbridge Wells BC – for 

tackling homelessness over the period 2011-2016. The strategy has been developed 

within the context of national and local priorities and identifies five strategic 

objectives that will drive forward the homelessness agenda in the coming years.  

 

3.2. The 2002 Homelessness Act placed a duty on local authorities to develop a 

Homelessness Strategy and to renew this every five years. The previous West Kent 

Homelessness Strategy, published in 2007 and covering the period to 2010 (with an 

updated Action Plan to 2011), made an important contribution to tackling 

homelessness in West Kent. The strategy built on the housing options model, 

maximising homeless prevention opportunities and contributed to an increase in 

homeless preventions, a reduction in the number of homeless acceptances and a 

significant reduction in the use of temporary accommodation.  

 

3.3. Despite the real achievements made, challenges remain. The main causes of 

homelessness remain the same: family or friends no longer willing or able to 

accommodate young people; violent breakdown of relationships; while private 

rented accommodation is not easy to access in this relatively affluent area. This new 

strategy seeks to build on the achievements made, address the (significant) new 

challenges which have emerged during 2010 and establish the strategic objectives 

that will continue to prevent homelessness across West Kent over the next five 

years. 

 

3.4. It is an exciting - if challenging - time to be developing a homelessness strategy. We 

are in a time of unprecedented change with the new Coalition Government reducing 

public spending in order to cut the deficit, proposing major changes to welfare 

benefits (in particular Housing Benefit) and ending permanent social housing 

tenancies for new tenants. Changes to the allocation of social housing and to the 

homelessness legislation are also on the table1. At the time of writing, it is still 

unclear how (and, in some cases, whether) these proposals will be implemented but 

there is a consensus that they will have a significant impact on homelessness and 

homelessness services. At the same time, the economic outlook is uncertain and 

local authorities are facing unprecedented cuts in funding and services – both factors 

likely to add to the pressures on homeless and support services.  

 

3.5. In the light of this, it is worth remembering that homelessness prevention saves 

£5,300 per case per year compared to the cost of helping someone who is already 

homeless
2
.  The savings are both short term (the costs of temporary accommodation 

and B&B) and long term (the human and societal costs of homelessness in terms of 

pressures on health and social services, crime and on children’s life chances).   

 

                                                           
1
 Local decisions: a fairer future for social housing, CLG, November 2010 

2
 Research by Heriot Watt University (2007) found that the costs per person of successful mediation are 

around 9 times less expensive than providing alternate settled accommodation; home visits 3.5 times less 

expensive; advice on housing options 9 times less expensive; rent deposit schemes 8.5 times less; rent bond 

scheme 37 times less; Sanctuary schemes save 5.5 times the costs of providing accommodation under the 

main homelessness duty. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 18



Page 7 of 69 

 

3.6. Homelessness is about much more than statistics, strategic objectives and resource 

implications. It is about real people and their lives. To illustrate the impact that 

homelessness can have – and the difference that homelessness services can make – 

we have included some of the stories and experiences we have come across in 

developing this strategy. These illustrate the successes that have been achieved as 

well as the challenges that remain going forward.    

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 19



Page 8 of 69 

 

4. HOW WE PRODUCED THE STRATEGY  

 

4.1. In order to develop this strategy, a Project Team was established consisting of 

senior staff within the Housing Departments of the three authorities. This Project 

Team met regularly from September 2010 to January 2011 (see Appendix 1 for 

membership). 

 

4.2. In addition to the Project Team, a workshop was held in November 2011 with all 

staff working within the Housing Options Teams of the three authorities. This gave 

valuable ‘practitioner’ input into the strategy and facilitated the sharing of good 

practice between the three authorities.    

 

4.3. Stakeholders were also key to developing the strategy. The Homelessness Working 

Group, which had played a key role in developing the previous Action Plan, was 

reformed into the Homelessness Strategy Group and then involved through three 

consultation events. 44 partner organisations were invited to the first, a half day 

event in July 2010, which included talks from organisations working with homeless 

people in West Kent and discussion groups around five key themes. The second, a 

half day event in December 2010, attracted 21 delegates included a presentation on 

the findings of the Homelessness Review and discussion groups to agree and hone 

the key priorities and actions. The third, held in January 2011, considered the draft 

strategy document. (See Appendix 2 for notes of these events). 

 

4.4. Service user engagement was undertaken through detailed telephone interviews 

with twelve service users who had been involved with homelessness services in West 

Kent during 2010. A summary of this consultation appears at Appendix 3.   

 

4.5. The Project Team would like to thank everyone who participated in the consultation 

events and who contributed to the formulation of the strategy.  

 

4.6. A review of best practice in homelessness from elsewhere was undertaken through a 

document review; internet and telephone research; publications including “Homeless 

Prevention: a guide to best practice (2006); “Homeless Strategies: a good practice 

handbook” (ODPM 2006); and “Local Authorities’ Homelessness Strategies: 

evaluation and good practice” (ODPM, 2004); and a review of ‘trailblazer’ local 

authorities.   

 

4.7. Data underpinning the strategy was produced from an analysis of the local 

authorities P1E returns, the statutory quarterly returns made to the Department for 

Communities and Local Government. Data on the housing market was taken from 

the 2008 Strategic Housing Market Assessment produced by David Couttie 

Associates. Other data was provided by the local authorities themselves.  

  

 

 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 20



Page 9 of 69 

 

5. THE STRATEGIC CONTEXT 

 

5.1. The national policy context 

 

5.2. The Homelessness Act 2002 places a duty on local authorities to: 

 

§ provide free advice and information about homelessness and preventing 

homelessness to everyone in their district 

§ assist eligible individuals and families who are homeless or threatened with 

homelessness, and in priority need. 

 

5.3. A chart summarising the duties on local authorities in respect of homelessness is 

included at Appendix 4.  

 

5.4. With the 2002 Homelessness Act, the Government made homelessness prevention 

a priority through providing increased funding to tackle homelessness, setting 

challenging targets for prevention and placing requirements on the local councils to 

produce Homelessness Strategies. These strategies were to be informed by a 

review of performance, current service provision and estimated future need. The 

Act stated that the focus of these strategies was to be on prevention measures, as 

well as emphasising the importance of offering advice to all people in housing 

need. 

 

5.5. The government later identified a number of targets in relation to homelessness. 

These include: 

 

§ to reduce the number of households in temporary accommodation by 2010 by 

50% (against December 2004 figures) 

§ to end the use of bed and breakfast accommodation for homeless 16/17 year 

olds by 2010 

§ to end rough sleeping by 2012/13 

 
5.6. National strategies and guidance that have helped shaped this Homelessness 

Strategy include:  

 
§ “Sustainable Communities: settled homes; changing lives” (2005): 

Homelessness Prevention, reduction in the use of temporary accommodation by 

50% by 2010, from 2010 B&B no longer suitable for 16/17 year olds 

 

§ “Sustainable Communities: Homes For All” (2005): Choice Based Lettings 

schemes in all local authorities in England by 2010 

 

§ “Tackling Homelessness” (2006): recognises the role of RSLs in preventing 

homelessness through partnership working, sustainable communities, allocation 

and management policies and better use of existing stock  

 

§ “No One Left Out: Communities Ending Rough Sleeping” (Nov 2008): aimed to 

end rough sleeping in UK for more than one night by 2012 
 

§ “Local decisions: a fairer future for social housing”: Consultation document 

(Nov 2010)  

 
5.7. These strategies had some success and homelessness and rough sleeping has 

fallen nationally over the last five years.  

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 21



Page 10 of 69 

 

5.8. With the new Coalition Government, however, priorities are shifting. Welfare 

reform is a major plank of the new Government’s agenda, with plans to devolve 

decision making to the local level and reducing overall welfare spending in 

particular the burgeoning Housing Benefit bill.  As a result, there is an 

unprecedented amount of change underway that is likely to impact on 

homelessness over the coming years, both in terms of the resources available to 

tackle it and demands placed on services. At the time of writing, it is unclear 

exactly how these changes will impact, either individually or in the round
3
 but there 

does seem to be a consensus that services will come under considerable pressure 

in the medium term while the hoped-for behavioural changes materialise.  

 

5.9. A summary of proposed changes to benefits and Local Housing Allowance that will 

potentially impact on homelessness and homelessness prevention is shown below.  

 

Table 1: Proposed Changes to benefits and Local Housing Allowance 

 

- reducing the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) from 50% of the Broad Market 

Rental Area (BRMA) to 30% from October 2011. This will impact on many 

households renting in the private sector, reducing their LHA payments by 

between £8-25 per week for up to 2,000 households in West Kent  
 

- uprating and increasing the non-dependent rate from April 2011 is likely to 

place pressure on households with adult children still living at home who cannot 

contribute towards household expenses  

 

- capping the Local Housing Allowance is likely to make applicants for private 

sector letting less attractive to landlords  

 

- capping the total benefits to a household at no more than the national 

average wage is likely to impact larger families  

 

- limiting payments for people under 35 to the shared room rate (up from 

25), making it harder to place young single people in private rented housing  

 

- limiting Housing Benefit entitlements for working age people in social 

housing sector to reflect family size could increase arrears  

 

- uprating LHA in line with Consumer Price Index (CPI) instead of Retail 

Price Index (RPI) will impact on the availability of private sector homes for rent  

 

- the move towards a Universal Credit is likely to end Housing Benefit 

payments direct to landlords, making benefit claimants potentially less 

attractive as tenants. 

  

- the replacement for council tax benefit in 2013 will see less funding 

available - a consultation exercise is due to start soon.  

 

- administration of social fund payments will be transferred to the local level 

and will play an important role in homelessness prevention, as will the 

increased Discretionary Housing Payment allocations to LAs. 

 

                                                           
3
 The Select Committee on Work and Pensions concluded that “It is difficult to judge at the moment to what 

extent Housing Benefit claimants will change their behaviour as a result of these proposals. The Government 

hopes that people will be able to find cheaper accommodation in cheaper areas and that private landlords will 

be willing to reduce their rents to Local Housing Allowance claimants, so that the new levels will not result in 

an increase in homelessness” (Report on changes to housing benefit announced in the June 2010 Budget). 

Agenda Item 6

Page 22



Page 11 of 69 

 

5.10. In addition, there are other major changes on the horizon including:  

 

§ Public spending cuts - in October 2010, the Chancellor set out savings of 

£81bn to be made from public spending over the next 5 years. Funding for local 

authorities is being reduced by 26% over the next two years and the West Kent 

councils are already planning or in some cases, have already implemented, cost 

cutting measures in their detailed budgets for 2011/12. These include staffing 

reductions (particularly at managerial level), reducing discretionary funding and 

planning shared services across authorities (both sub-regionally and with other 

Kent authorities). The Homelessness Grant which supports local authorities in 

homelessness prevention, was however increased for 2011/12.   

 

§ Changes to the homelessness duty – the Government are planning to 

introduce legislation to enable local authorities to fully discharge their duty to 

secure accommodation by arranging an offer of suitable accommodation in the 

private rented sector, without requiring the applicant’s agreement. Where 

applicants become homeless again within two years, the duty will be retained by 

the original authority.  

 

§ Changes to housing allocations – changes are planned that will give local 

authorities flexibility in managing their waiting list. Sevenoaks DC have pre-

empted this move, carrying out a review of their Housing Waiting List in 2008 

which reduced the list significantly. Tonbridge & Malling BC also reviewed their 

waiting list in 2008 and continue to do so on an on-going basis. 

 

§ Reducing capital funding for new affordable housing - capital funding for 

new affordable housing is to be replaced by a new, yet-to-be developed model of 

below-market rents supported by revenue subsidy. The impact of this change 

depends largely on whether housing associations are able to build significant 

numbers of new homes under this new financial regime but, in the medium term, 

it is predicted that the supply of new affordable homes will fall. 

 

§ Changes to planning - with the abolition of centrally-determined targets for 

new homes (both private and affordable), the existing Regional Spatial Strategies 

no longer apply (although this is, at the time of writing, subject to legal 

challenge), replaced by locally-determined plans. This is likely to lead to some 

uncertainty in the market and a possible hiatus in new house building in the short 

to medium term.   

 

§ New forms of tenure - ‘tenancies for life’ for new social housing tenants may be 

replaced by fixed term (2, 5 or 10 year) ‘flexible tenancies’, renewable depending 

on household circumstances. Details are yet to be finalised but impacts may 

include reduced turnover in social housing, reduced demand for new social 

housing tenancies (not least because rents on new build and possibly relets will 

increase to 80% of market rents) and challenges to community sustainment. On 

the other hand, the narrower gap between social and market rents may, as the 

Government hopes, start to change perceptions about the acceptability of the 

private sector as a long term housing solution.          

 

§ Supporting People funding - the Programme is required to make savings of £7 

million by 2012/13. It will adopt a strategic approach to reducing expenditure, 

which balances the priorities identified within the current five year strategy, 

particularly in relation to young people at risk. Whilst contracts for 

district/borough based floating support services have not been renewed, such 

support will still be available on a west Kent and countywide basis and other 

existing housing related support services will have their contracts extended to the 

end of 2011/12.  

Agenda Item 6

Page 23



Page 12 of 69 

 

5.11. The uncertainty surrounding these changes on the provision of, and demand for, 

homelessness services mean that the authorities will need to monitor the situation 

carefully to ensure that the strategy remains abreast of potential impacts.  

 

5.12. The regional policy context 

 

5.13. The prevention of homelessness is a key priority in The South East Regional 

Housing Strategy (March 2008) and, although the South East Region is being 

disbanded by the new Coalition Government, the three aims of the current strategy 

remain relevant, specifically: 

  

§ increasing the supply of new affordable housing 

§ housing-related support to enable vulnerable households to maintain tenancies 

§ better use of existing accommodation in both public and private sectors. 

 

5.14. The Kent Forum Housing Strategy (Better Homes: localism, aspiration and choice), 

launched in May 2011, sets out future priorities as:  

 

§ local housing and planning authorities deciding their own housing numbers, 

based on local people’s need and ambitions for growth 

§ coastal and urban communities revitalised and rural areas thrive and prosper 

§ homes provided that meet the needs and aspirations of all residents 

§ people to have the opportunity to choose to live in a high quality home, in the 

place they want to live 

§ by creating balanced communities, supporting people, to fulfil their potential 

and live the best life they can 

§ using innovative and flexible approaches to finance and regulation to encourage 

managed growth that makes a lasting and positive impact 

§ by listening to what people want, providing homes and communities that people 

can be proud to live in. 

 

5.15. Other relevant regional strategies include: 

 

§ Kent Supporting People Five-Year Strategy 2010-2015  

§ Kent Children and Young People's Plan 2008-2011  

§ Strategy for improving the mental health and wellbeing of people in Kent & 

Medway (2010) 

§ Kent and Medway Domestic Violence Strategy (2010) 

 

5.16. The sub-regional and local contexts  

 

5.17. The West Kent authorities have a long and successful history of joint working at 

regional, sub-regional and local levels (See Table 2). This trend is likely to 

accelerate as funding and political imperatives encourage the further development 

of shared services, both between the three authorities themselves but also with 

neighbouring authorities. For example, Tonbridge & Malling BC have recently 

established a shared Housing Options Team Manager with Gravesham BC.      

 

5.18. Other examples of where the three West Kent authorities have successfully worked 

together over recent years include: 

 

§ Colebrook Road, a hostel for single homeless based in Tunbridge Wells  

§ Tunbridge Wells Women’s Refuge  

§ A combined Severe Weather placement scheme 

§ West Kent Private Landlords Forum  

Agenda Item 6

Page 24



Page 13 of 69 

 

§ A young person’s accommodation based service (in partnership with the 

Supporting People Programme which revenue funds the service) 

§ Homeless Strategy Conferences  

§ The Local Investment Partnership (also includes Maidstone) 

§ Piloting a supported lodging scheme 

 

5.19. Finally, each of the authorities has their own housing strategies, all of which make 

homeless prevention a priority.  

 

TABLE 2: Regional And Sub-Regional Partnership Groups 
 

Joint Policy and Planning Board - a strategic partnership between health, housing, 

probation, social care and Supporting People. Its main responsibilities are to promote 

inter-agency working, and to ensure that district housing strategies inform, and are 

influenced by, the work of partner organisations and other inter-agency plans. The close 

links between housing and health are well recognised and a key objective for the Board 

is to improve the health care arrangements for homeless people. This is being taken 

forward in the Board’s 2008 action plan.  

 

Kent Housing Group - a Kent-wide group with membership drawn from the local 

authority and RSL sectors, as well as the Supporting People Team, Kent Adult Social 

Service and GOSE. Sub-groups include:  

§ Kent Housing Options Group - this group meets to share good practice and 

develop new initiatives to tackle homelessness. It is currently developing a schools 

education programme to raise the awareness of homelessness amongst children in 

schools.  

§ Housing Strategy and Enabling sub-group - a group that meets to share 

knowledge and good practice across the county  

§ Kent Private Sector Housing sub-group  

 

West Kent Landlords Forum – meet three times a year to provide advice and support 

to local landlords and keep them up to date with developments affecting the private 

rented sector. 

 

West Kent Partnership – a joint Local Strategic Partnership that monitors the Leaders’ 

Programme 

 

Homelessness Liaison Meeting – a group of local authority officers and agencies 

working on homelessness that meet quarterly at Colebrook Road hostel   

 

Gypsy & Traveller Working Group – a Kent-wide group comprising members/officers 

working with Kent CC to ensure the needs of Gypsy and traveller communities are met  

 

Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP) – helps Kent residents save money 

through energy saving improvements in their homes 

 

Kent Children’s Trust Board – a county-wide body responsible for overseeing strategic 

direction on young people and families, into which Local Children’s Trust Boards feed  

  

Supporting People - a Kent-wide strategic partnership between Kent CC, Health, 

Housing and Probation, administered by Kent CC on behalf of the partners. Based on 

evidenced need, the Programme commissions and performance manages housing related 

support to vulnerable people. Decisions are taken by the Commissioning Board, attended 

by representatives of the partners including districts and boroughs. 

 

Kent and Medway Leaders Forum – a strategic Forum that agreed the Kent Forum 

Housing Strategy and monitors its implementation  

Agenda Item 6

Page 25



Page 14 of 69 

 

5.20. The West Kent economy and housing market 

 

5.21. Situated in the heart of South East England and to the south east of London, the 

West Kent sub-region consists of the three authorities of Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & 

Malling and Tunbridge Wells. The authorities are situated in one of the UK’s most 

affluent counties with close proximity to London, a dynamic economy, proximity to 

the international airport of Gatwick, the Channel port of Dover and the Channel 

Tunnel Rail Link and frequent rail connections to London. Despite this, there are 

pockets of deprivation in each of the three districts.  

 

5.22. The West Kent economy is strong, with lower unemployment and higher incomes 

than the regional average, indicating a strong pattern of commuting into London. 

Having said that, 2009 saw the number of unemployment benefit claimants almost 

double in West Kent4 as the recession bit.  

 

5.23. The population of West Kent in 2006 was estimated at 332,000 and projected to 

rise to 341,900 by 2026. The age profile is expected to shift as the baby boomer 

generation reaches retirement age and people aged 65+ are expected to make up 

25% of the population by 2026.  

 

5.24. Average house prices in West Kent are significantly higher than the regional 

average and have risen faster than elsewhere: in Sevenoaks between 2003 and 

2008, prices rose by 44%. In 2008, the Land Registry indicated average prices of 

£401,400 in Sevenoaks, £272,800 in Tonbridge & Malling and £311,800 in 

Tunbridge Wells. Despite the recession since then, prices have remained relatively 

buoyant. High property prices mean that owner occupation is out of reach for many 

households. In 2010, a household would need an income of £40,800/year and a 

20% deposit to buy a home – perhaps the reason why the average age of first time 

buyers in the region is now 37. Demands on the private and social rented sectors 

are therefore high.    

 

5.25. In 2007, West Kent had a total housing stock of 140,800 dwellings, made up of a 

higher-than-average proportion of owner occupiers and a lower-than-average 

proportion of social and privately rented homes.   

 

Table 3: Dwelling Tenure West Kent 

 Owner occupied Social rented  Private rented  

Sevenoaks 35,500 (75.5%) 6,200 (14.0%) 3,000 (6.8%) 

Tonbridge & 

Malling 

32,000 (74.8%) 6,900 (16.2%) 2,600 (6.0%) 

Tunbridge 

Wells  

30,200 (70.8%) 6,700 (15.8%) 4,500 (10.6%) 

National 

average  

13,920,000 

(68.1%) 

1,238,000 

(19.3%) 

2,037,000 

(10.0%) 

 

5.26. Social and private renting declined as a proportion of the stock from 1991-20015 

and, while private renting may have increased over the last decade due to the 

emerging buy-to-let market,  the volatility in the housing market over recent years 

make it difficult to predict how this sector will change in future. Anecdotal evidence 

is that many landlords are selling properties as prices have bounced back since 

2009.    

 

                                                           
4
 Kent and Medway Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2010 (DTZ) 

5
 Census 2001 

Agenda Item 6

Page 26



Page 15 of 69 

 

5.27. Looking at the future demand for housing, the SHMA identified significant demand 

for new homes in West Kent. From 2006 to 2026, there will be an estimated 

shortfall of 3,353 homes each year in the private sector and 1,368 homes in the 

affordable rented sector.  This significant shortfall illustrates that the discharge of 

duty cannot be met through social housing alone. It is also worth assessing 

housing need by looking at the number of applicants on each housing register and 

those accepted as homeless and comparing that to the number of affordable homes 

delivered during that year. 

 

Table 4: Need for affordable housing  

 Affordable need 

p.a. 

Affordable need shortfall 

p.a. (not met from relets)  

Sevenoaks 948 646 

Tonbridge & Malling 731 432 

Tunbridge Wells  728 290 

 

Total   2,407 1,368 

 

5.28. Turnover levels in social housing are low at around 4-5% while right-to-buy sales 

are now minimal. In 2008, levels of under-occupation (defined as two or more 

‘spare’ bedrooms) in the social rented sector was estimated at 650 (10%) in 

Sevenoaks, 1,225 (18%) in Tonbridge & Malling and 715 (11%) in Tunbridge 

Wells6.  Levels of under-occupation exceed over-crowding by a significant margin.  

 

5.29. In 2007, rents in the private sector were more than double those in the social 

rented sector. Based on rent of 25% of gross income, these rents would require an 

income (without any financial assistance) of between £33,600 (Tunbridge Wells) 

and £37,200 (Sevenoaks).  

 

Table 5: Average monthly rent West Kent  

 Average 

monthly  

RSL rent  

(all sizes)  

Average 

monthly 

private rent  

(2 bed) 

Average monthly 

“entry level” 

private rent  

(2BF) 

Sevenoaks £325 £920 £800 

Tonbridge & Malling £334 £840 £750 

Tunbridge Wells  £361 £800 £700 

 

5.30. Turning to housing need, in 2010, a total of 5, 847 people were on the Housing 

Register at 31 December 2010.  

 

Table 6: Applicants on housing register  

 Sevenoaks Tonbridge & 

Malling 

Tunbridge 

Wells 

West Kent  

1- Bed 710 1136 1148 2,994 

2 – bed 330 716 607 1,653 

3 – bed 222 281 403 906 

4+ bed 56 101 164 321 

Total  1,318 2,234 2,232 5,874 

 

                                                           
6
 Housing Survey Data, from Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) 2008 (David Couttie Associates) 

Agenda Item 6

Page 27



Page 16 of 69 

 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

§ West Kent is a relatively affluent area, characterised by a buoyant economy, 

high levels of owner occupation and high houses prices 

§ there is considerable pressure on the social rented sector 

§ high rents in the private rented market are driven by the buy-to-let market 

and commuter demand 

§ this brings specific challenges to homelessness services in the area 

     

Agenda Item 6

Page 28



Page 17 of 69 

 

  

6. HOMELESSNESS IN WEST KENT   

 

6.1. Key Findings, data and trends 2005-2010 

 
6.2. Local Authorities are required to collate statistics every quarter on approaches 

made to them by homeless applicants. These statistics are referred to as the P1E 

returns and, as they cover all aspects of homelessness, they provide a useful 

insight to the levels and nature of homelessness within the area. The data used 

here is based on the P1E returns for the three districts from 2005/6 to September 

2010. The figures for 2010/11 have been extrapolated from the half year position.  

 

6.3. Where the pattern or trends are similar across West Kent, the graphs included in 

the strategy show total or collective figures. Where the picture is significantly 

different between the authorities, individual figures are given. Appendix 5 details 

the trends in each individual local authority.  

 

6.4. There has been a significant fall in the number of homelessness applications across 

West Kent over the past five years (see Table 7).  

 

Table7:  Homelessness Applications 2005-2010       

Year Ton & Malling Tunbridge Wells Sevenoaks 
Total West 

Kent 
Kent CC area National 

2005/06 304 283 346 933 3204 213290 

2006/07 240 240 181 661 2102 159350 

2007/08 224 162 131 517 2164 130850 

2008/09 67 130 123 320 1778 112900 

2009/2010 98 86 73 257 1393 89120 

2010/11* 160 54 64 278 n/a   n/a 

reduction 

2005-2010 
-68% -70% -79% -72% -57% -58% 

* figures extrapolated from Q1/2 totals  

     

6.5. Having peaked in 2003/4 at 1,165, applications have fallen by an average of 72% 

to 257 in 2009/10 – more than the county or national average. This is due to the 

increasing emphasis on the prevention of homelessness through the Housing 

Options model and, in particular, to the success of rent deposit/guarantee 

schemes.  

 
6.6. However, as Chart 1 shows, this picture is starting to change. Applications in 

Tonbridge & Malling saw a sharp increase in early 2010/11 and, while those in 

Tunbridge Wells and Sevenoaks remain relatively stable, there are signs that they 

might rise in the future. All three districts have experienced a sharp increase in 

demand for housing advice services in late 2010/11 and early 2011/12.     

 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 29



Page 18 of 69 

 

 
* figures extrapolated from Q1/2 totals 
 

6.7. National figures from the DCLG paint a similar picture. Acceptances in Quarter 3 

2010/11 were 14% higher than the same quarter last year and, while there has 

been a decrease in temporary accommodation, there has been an increase in the 

use of bed & breakfast nationally. Looking at the South East, homeless acceptances 

in the South East were 17% higher than the previous quarter and 30% higher than 

the same quarter last year.  

 
6.8. From 2005 to 2010, the number of homeless acceptances across West Kent has 

also been falling, by an average of 75% to 126 in March 2010 (Table 8). However, 

acceptances for 2010/11 are projected to more than double in Tonbridge & Malling 

and increase by 15% in Sevenoaks.  

 

Table 8: Homelessness Acceptances 2005-2010       

Year Ton & Malling Tunbridge Wells Sevenoaks 
Total West 

Kent 
Kent CC area National 

2005/06 186 141 183 510 1607 93980 

2006/07 184 122 114 420 1241 73360 

2007/08 173 85 102 360 1260 63170 

2008/09 32 73 100 205 973 53430 

2009/2010 32 44 50 126 639 40020 

2010/11* 72 40 56 168  n/a n/a  

% reduction 

2005-2010 
-83% -69% -73% -75% -60% -57% 

* figures extrapolated from Q1/2 totals 

  

2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 2009/2010 2010/11*

Ton & Malling 186 184 173 32 32 72

Tunbridge Wells 141 122 85 73 44 40

Sevenoaks 183 114 102 100 50 56

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Chart 1: Homelessness Acceptances 2005-2010 

Ton & Malling Tunbridge Wells Sevenoaks

Agenda Item 6

Page 30



Page 19 of 69 

 

6.9. Looking at how many homeless applicants are accepted as homeless, the picture is 

quite different across the three districts (Chart 2), revealing some interesting 

differences in practice. In Tonbridge & Malling only a third of applicants were 

accepted in 2009/10; in Tunbridge Wells the ratio stood consistently at around 

50% over the period; while in Sevenoaks, the proportion of acceptances is around 

3 in 4. While all three local authorities have robust approaches to prevention, it 

would appear that applications are treated as more of a ‘safety net’ in Sevenoaks. 

There is also a link with how Housing Registers are managed with, in the past, 

more applicants being accepted as homeless as a means of achieving higher 

priority on the Housing Register. 

 

 
*2010/11 figures extrapolated from Q1/2 data. 

 

6.10. All three authorities have noted an increase in the number of vulnerable people 

being accepted as homeless and in the complexity of their needs. Such people are 

both more at risk of becoming homeless and their situations are often harder to 

resolve, either due to the shortage of suitable accommodation and problems they 

may have sustaining tenancies. The Housing Options Teams co-ordinate what can 

be intensive interventions with these clients, working closely with Social Services, 

partner agencies and Floating Support (funded by the Kent Supporting People 

Programme through services for rough sleepers and outreach, and specialist and 

generic floating support). 

 

6.11. Non priority homeless  

 
6.12. This data, however, provides only a partial picture of homelessness, driven as it is 

by legislation and definitions of priority need. It does not count what are called the 

“hidden homeless”, people to whom local authorities do not owe a statutory duty 

(mainly young single people or couples or families with non-dependent children) 

and who are at risk of sleeping rough or ‘sofa surfing’.  

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Ton &

Malling

Tunbridg

e Wells

Sevenoak

s

Total

West

Kent

Kent CC

area

National

2005/06 61% 50% 53% 55% 50% 44%

2006/07 77% 51% 63% 64% 59% 46%

2007/08 77% 52% 78% 70% 58% 48%

2008/09 48% 56% 81% 64% 55% 47%

2009/2010 33% 51% 68% 49% 46% 45%

2010/11* 45% 74% 88% 60%

Chart 2: Homelessness acceptances as % of applications 

2005-2010 

2005/06

2006/07

2007/08

2008/09

2009/2010

2010/11*

Agenda Item 6

Page 31



Page 20 of 69 

 

6.13. Although local authorities do have a duty to provide non-priority homeless people 

with advice and assistance (and can refer them to short-term hostels or provide 

them with a deposit/rent in advance), many bypass councils (and therefore the 

‘official’ figures) and approach other agencies or housing providers directly. This 

might be because they are already in contact with those agencies, because they 

perceive as slim their chances of making a successful homeless application or for 

convenience, as agencies are often located in town centres.  

 

 

Case Study  

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council recently worked jointly with the Kent-based homelessness 

charity Porchlight, to help a couple in their forties who had been sleeping rough for a number of 

years. They had alcohol problems and were struggling to manage after the tent they were 

sheltering in got damaged. As they weren’t in priority need under the homelessness legislation, 

they weren’t entitled to emergency accommodation, except when the weather was very cold and 

the Council’s Severe Weather Policy came into force. They were, however, entitled to advice and 

assistance to help them find somewhere to live. 

 

One of the barriers this household faced in obtaining social rented housing was the fact that they 

couldn’t prove a ‘local connection’, as they didn’t have a permanent address. As they were well 

known by several homelessness charities in the local area, their Housing Options Adviser made 

contact with one of these and requested a letter confirming that they had had regular visits from 

the couple for at least the last six months. Obtaining proof of a local connection enabled them to 

be in a much stronger position on the housing register. The Housing Options Adviser then 

organised a meeting with the couple and their Porchlight outreach worker, plus another member of 

Porchlight’s staff who specialises in finding private rentals for people who have been homeless.  

 

At this meeting the couple’s situation was discussed in more detail. It was acknowledged that it 

might be difficulties in landlords accepting them as tenants due to their alcohol issues, so the 

adviser asked some of the charities who had worked with them to provide character references. 

They also contacted the housing association who had provided their last settled home – as this 

tenancy had gone well they were also happy to provide a good reference. Porchlight identified a 

landlord and Tunbridge Wells BC provided a rent-in –advance loan. 

 

Their Porchlight worker is continuing to support them during the first few months of their tenancy, 

to help them make the transition from sleeping rough and sustain their tenancy.  

 

 
 

6.14. A large number of vulnerable non-priority homeless people are supported by the 

Supporting People Programme. Whilst there are no aggregated statistics on these 

groups some estimates can be made based on data collected through the 

Programme. According to client records 2009-10, of the 1,069 new clients 

identified as ‘single homeless’ accessed services across Kent providers recorded 

166 as having been accepted as ‘statutorily homeless and owed a duty’. However  

572 were classed by providers as homeless but had not been accepted as 

statutorily homeless and owed a duty (but were nevertheless offered housing 

advice and assistance). Many of these people have multiple needs such as alcohol, 

drug and/or mental health problems. 

 

6.15. The Supporting People team is currently collating referral data to short term 

accommodation-based supported housing. In July-December 2010, a total of 

(excluding multiple referrals) 1,948 individuals were referred to such 

accommodation across Kent, many of whom were single homeless people identified 

under a range of client group headings: 

§ 297 individuals were aged 16 and 17 

§ 286 (14.7%) were sleeping rough at the time of referral 

§ 417 (21.4%) were ‘sofa surfing’ 

Agenda Item 6

Page 32



Page 21 of 69 

 

§ 236 (12%) were in prison with no accommodation to go to on release 

§ 16 were sleeping rough or sofa surfing in Sevenoaks, 51 in Tonbridge and 

Malling and 76 in Tunbridge Wells. 

6.16. The picture of single homelessness further emerges through surveys and Rough 

Sleeper counts. A survey of single homelessness carried out in Kent during 2007 

reported 731 respondents in total (107 in West Kent), half of whom has slept 

rough within the previous 12 months. These were predominantly men between 26-

59, many with mental health, drug or alcohol problems and with a history of being 

in care or prison. They were mostly living in hostels or with friends/family and 

more than half had been homeless for more than 12 months. Most had become 

homeless as a result of disputes with their family or partner or as a result of 

leaving prison.  

 

6.17. Who becomes homeless, and why? 

 

6.18. While trends do shift slightly over time, the most common causes of homelessness 

have remained consistent over the last four years. As Chart 3 shows, the most 

common reason is family breakdown, where parents or relatives are no longer 

willing or able to accommodate the (usually young) applicant (accounting for 

around one third of cases).  Breakdown of relationships (either violent or non-

violent) account for around another third of cases. The third most common cause is 

termination of assured shorthold tenancies (either because of arrears, problems in 

sustaining tenancies or landlords selling properties) which account for around 15% 

of cases.   

 

 

 

Parents no longer 

willing/able to 

accommodate 

34% 

Termination of 

assured short hold 

tenancy 

15% 

Violent 

breakdown of 

relationship 

14% 

Other forms of 

violence/harassment

8% 

Relatives/friends no 

longer willing/able to 

accommodate 

8% 

Non-violent 

relationship 

breakdown  

8% 

Left 

hospital 

4% 

Mortgage default 

3% 

Reasons other than 

termination of AST 

2% 

Other 

2% 

Rent 

arrears  

1% 

Left 

other 

institutio

n or LA 

care 

1% 

Chart 3: Reason for homelessness 2009/10  

Agenda Item 6

Page 33



Page 22 of 69 

 

6.19. The picture varies slightly between authorities (see Chart 4) but is very similar to 

that at the time the last strategy was written, indicating a consistent pattern of 

how and why homelessness arises in West Kent.  

 

 

  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tonbridge and

Malling BC

Tunbridge Wells

BC

Sevenoaks DC

Chart 4: Causes of homelessness 2009/10 

Other

Left other institution or LA care

Left hospital

Reasons other than termination of

AST
Termination of assured short hold

tenancy
Rent arrears

Mortgage default

Other forms of violence/harassment

Violent breakdown of relationship

Non-violent relationship breakdown

Relatives/friends no longer

willing/able to accommodate
Parents no longer willing/able to

accommodate

Agenda Item 6

Page 34



Page 23 of 69 

 

6.20. People accepted as homeless are most often families with dependent children 

(50%+) or pregnant women (a further 15-20%), often because they have been 

evicted by their families. Mental illness/disability and physical disability account for 

around 7% of cases, as do 16/17 year olds. Vulnerability due to domestic violence 

features in around 7% of cases in Tunbridge Wells, less so elsewhere (and possibly 

linked to the presence of a women’s refuge within the borough). This picture is 

fairly consistent across time and geography (Chart 5). 

 

 
*2010/11 figures extrapolated from Q1/2 data. 

  

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Emergency

Dep. Ch'ld

Pregnancy

16-17 year old

Care leaver 18-20

Old age

Phys. disability

Mental illness/disability

Other (drug/alc. dep.)

Care leaver

HM forces

Custody/remand

Violence

Emerg

ency

Dep.

Ch'ld

Pregna

ncy

16-17

year

old

Care

leaver

18-20

Old

age

Phys.

disabili

ty

Mental

illness/

disabili

ty

Other

(drug/

alc.

dep.)

Care

leaver

HM

forces

Custod

y/rema

nd

Violenc

e

2010/11* 0% 64% 8% 5% 0% 2% 7% 11% 0% 1% 0% 0% 1%

2009/10 0% 57% 16% 6% 2% 2% 7% 7% 0% 0% 0% 0% 2%

2008/9 0% 49% 20% 7% 2% 1% 7% 6% 1% 2% 0% 0% 3%

2007/8 0% 56% 21% 4% 1% 1% 4% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 6%

Chart 5: Priority need category 2007-2010: 
West Kent 

2010/11*

2009/10

2008/9

2007/8

Agenda Item 6

Page 35



Page 24 of 69 

 

6.21. The age profile is striking with just under half of people accepted as homeless 

being young (16-24) and a further 40% aged 25-44 (see Chart 6). This picture is 

consistent across all three districts and probably reflects the greater availability of 

alternative accommodation for older people threatened with homelessness, rather 

than a lack of demand as such.  

     

 
*2010/11 figures extrapolated from Q1/2 data. 

  

2007/08 2008/09 2009/2010 2010/11*

75+ 3% 2% 2% 1%

65-74 1% 0% 0% 0%

60-64 0% 2% 4% 0%

45-59 9% 6% 10% 12%

25-44 43% 40% 37% 45%

16-24 45% 49% 48% 42%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Chart 6: Age profile 2007-2010: West Kent   

75+

65-74

60-64

45-59

25-44

16-24

Agenda Item 6

Page 36



Page 25 of 69 

 

6.22. Households are most often lone parents, usually single mothers (43% of cases in 

2009/10), with a further 25% families with children (up from 18% in 2007/8) (see 

Chart 7).  

 

 
*2010/11 figures extrapolated from Q1/2 data. 

 

6.23. The numbers of people with physical disabilities, learning disabilities and mental 

health problems accepted as homeless have increased slightly over recent years. 

This may in part be due to a lack of support provided through statutory services or 

failure to access floating support (which helps to sustain tenancies). With proposed 

cuts to funding, there is a risk that more vulnerable people will fall into 

homelessness (including rough sleeping) as cuts to floating support impact on drug 

and/or alcohol dependence services which then may have a significant knock-on 

effect on homelessness services. Supporting People have indicated that a strategic 

approach will be adopted to ensure that the programme can continue to provide 

floating support to vulnerable people. However, demand is likely to increase for 

such services. 

 

6.24. The ethnic profile of homeless people in West Kent is broadly in line with the 

general population.  In Sevenoaks, BME people account for 4.5% of homeless 

acceptances (6.1% in the general population); in Tunbridge Wells, for 10.3% 

(9.4%); and in Tonbridge & Malling 4.5% (4.8%). The figures do not indicate that 

there is any one particular ethnic group at greater risk of homelessness, rather 

numbers are divided fairly evenly among all of the ethnic groups.   

 

6.25. Gypsies and travellers (the largest minority group in Sevenoaks DC) are at risk of 

homelessness where there is a shortage of suitable sites and accommodation for 

them.  In 2006, there were a total of 81 public and 107 privately owned pitches in 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Couple

with

depend

ent

children

Lone

parent/

dep

children

(M)

Lone

parent/

dep

children

(F)

1-p

hshld

(M)

1-p

hshld (F)

Other

househo

lds

2007/08 18% 5% 52% 11% 8% 6%

2008/09 25% 3% 39% 20% 10% 3%

2009/2010 26% 2% 43% 9% 12% 8%

2010/11* 29% 6% 38% 7% 10% 11%

Chart 7: Acceptances 2007-2010 by household type: 

West Kent 

2007/08

2008/09

2009/2010

2010/11*

Agenda Item 6

Page 37



Page 26 of 69 

 

West Kent and an estimated shortfall of 70 over the next 5 years7. Existing sites 

include: 

 

§ Edenbridge (Sevenoaks) with 12 pitches (undergoing refurbishment and 

extension to 16 pitches)  

§ Cinderhill site in Matfield, Tunbridge Wells with 6 pitches.  

§ Kent County Council sites at Hawkhurst (3 pitches), Polhill (7 pitches) and Ash 

(35 pitches). 

§ Coldharbour in Tonbridge & Malling with 8 pitches 

§ Windmill Lane with 14 pitches 

 

6.26. Recent initiatives such as the employment of a Site Warden at one Sevenoaks- 

managed site has helped reduce demand on homeless services from the gypsy 

traveller community by helping resolve disputes quickly.   

 

 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS 

 

§ the Housing Options approach to homeless prevention has been very 

effective with homeless applications and acceptances falling year-on-year 

since 2005 

§ however, there are clear signs that this trend is now reversing and 

applications and acceptances are on the rise  

§ although we can’t be exact, around three times as many people may be  

“hidden homeless” and not counted in official homelessness statistics   

§ young people are much more likely to become homeless than older people 

§ around 4 in 5 homeless households contain children 

§ the most common causes of homelessness are eviction by parents or family, 

relationships breaking down or short term private sector tenancies coming 

to an end     

 

 

6.27. Achievements and progress since 2005 

 

6.28. With the publication of “Sustainable Communities: Homes for All” in 2005, the 

prevention of homelessness became one of the Government’s key priorities. 

Homelessness prevention is based on the Housing Options model, based on the 

assumption that, by providing advice, support (including financial support) or 

advocacy before homelessness actually arises, alternative solutions can be found 

and the need for a homeless application will not arise. Prevention can take the 

form of enabling people to remain in their current home or by finding them 

alternative accommodation.  

 

6.29. One of the key priorities identified in the 2007 Joint Homelessness Strategy was 

the provision of housing options and advice. Approaches to homeless prevention 

have evolved over the last five years and all three authorities have developed 

considerable expertise and skills in this area.  As a result, they have been very 

successful at prevention, as shown by the downward trend in homelessness 

applications and acceptances from 2005 until 2010. Table 9 provides an overview 

                                                           
7
 Ashford, Maidstone, Tonbridge & Malling & Tunbridge Wells Gypsy & Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

2005/6 

Agenda Item 6

Page 38



Page 27 of 69 

 

of the preventative approaches used during the first half of 2010/118 when over 

550 people were assisted. 

 

6.30. Again the data shows interesting differences in practice with Sevenoaks’ prevention 

work focusing on keeping people in their existing home whereas Tonbridge & 

Malling are more likely to place people in alternative accommodation.  The figures 

for Tunbridge Wells are the result of recording issues (which have now been 

resolved), rather than differences in practice.   

 

Table 9: Homelessness 

Preventions 

2010/11 

Ton & 

Malling 

Tunbridge 

Wells 

Sevenoaks Total 

West 

Kent 

Preventions (remained in 

the home) 

26 - 226 253 

Preventions (found 

alternative accom) 

71 98 131 300 

Total  97 98 357 553 

 

6.31. Where people are assisted to remain in their existing home, it is usually through 

mediation, conciliation or advice to resolve arrears or benefit problems. Where 

alternative accommodation is found, it is most usually within social housing 

(around half of all cases) though all councils make extensive use of the private 

sector, usually with some form of rent deposit or guarantee (see Chart 8).  

 
 

 
 

6.32. Across all three local authorities, the use of temporary accommodation and bed & 

Breakfast has reduced considerably over recent years with all three ahead of their 

target to cut the numbers in TA by half by April 2010. At the end of Quarter 2 

                                                           
8
 The data for Tunbridge Wells BC is somewhat unreliable due to recording issues which are currently being 

rectified. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Ton & Malling Tunbridge Wells Sevenoaks

Chart 8: Homelessness preventions 2010/11  

(alternative accomodation found) 

Hostel/HMO

Private rented with  bond

Private rented no landlord

incentive

Friends or relatives

Supported accom

Social housing

Social housing - negotiation

with RSL

Low cost home ownership

Other

Agenda Item 6

Page 39



Page 28 of 69 

 

2010/11, Sevenoaks had a total of 20 households in temporary accommodation (3 

in B&B); Tonbridge & Malling had 13 (8 in B&B); and Tunbridge Wells had 18 (2).  
 

6.33. Preventing homelessness: what works? 

 

6.34. All three Housing Options teams use a variety of preventative tools and techniques 

and each team prides itself on delivering advice that is specific to the needs to the 

client. The most commonly used types of intervention are described here.  
 

6.35. Mediation or conciliation - given that parental eviction is the most common 

cause of homelessness among young people, mediation can be a very useful 

prevention tool. Most commonly used when young people are being evicted by 

their family, informal mediation to allow the young person to stay in their home or 

give them more time to find suitable accommodation is offered by all three 

authorities. Sevenoaks carry out a home visit in every case of threatened parental 

eviction while Tunbridge Wells and Tonbridge & Malling undertake mediation face-

to-face or over the phone. Informal mediation is successful in up to 80% of cases 

and was described, in some cases, as a ‘reality check’ in managing the 

expectations of families who may have benefited from social housing in the past 

and have similar expectations for their children.  

 

6.36. Formal mediation has been tried in the past but was less successful, mainly 

because the intervention of a third party was felt to be less effective than informal 

mediation provided as part of an overall ‘package’ of advice offered by the Housing 

Options Teams.    
 

6.37. Supporting victims of domestic violence – Tunbridge Wells fund Intouch to 

operate the Sanctuary scheme. This offers victims of domestic violence advice and 

practical support to make their home safe and secure, so they are able to remain in 

their home (through additional security measures such as extra locks, gated 

security, emergency lighting etc.). Tonbridge & Malling and Sevenoaks operate a 

similar scheme called ‘Safe Haven’ while housing association partners have also 

contributed by making security improvements to properties where necessary.  

 

6.38. Rent in advance and deposit guarantees to private sector landlords – given 

the importance of the private sector as a long term housing solution – and with 

many landlords reluctant to let to tenants on benefits - effective rent deposit 

schemes are key to the successful use of the private sector in homeless 

prevention. All three authorities offer private sector landlords rent in advance plus 

some form of cash deposit or guarantee/bond covering any damage to the 

property. These schemes (usually funded through Homelessness Grant) are seen 

as highly effective examples of “spend to save” and a key prevention tool, giving 

landlords assurance in case of damage and overcoming any delays in the first 

payment of Housing Benefit. In most cases, rent deposits are only available to 

priority homeless.  

 

6.39. Each authority operates a different scheme with varying degrees of success:  
 

§ Sevenoaks have a dedicated Private Sector Lettings Scheme officer to work 

directly with people looking to rent privately and also with landlords who have 

vacant homes to rent.  The Private Sector Lettings Scheme acts as an 

introduction agency putting landlords in touch with those looking for a home, 

providing deposit bonds (backed up by an inventory carried out by the Council) 

and rent in advance loans to enable those eligible for assistance to secure a 

private tenancy.  To qualify for assistance under the scheme those looking for a 

home must be either homeless or threatened with homelessness, on a low 

Agenda Item 6

Page 40



Page 29 of 69 

 

income and have a connection with the Sevenoaks District.  The scheme is 

linked with the Council’s Accreditation Scheme which provides advice and grant 

funding to private landlords to bring their properties up to the Decent Homes 

Standard.  Preventing Homelessness Grant has been used to supplement the 

funding available for loans under this scheme. 

 

§ Tonbridge & Malling offer a deposit bond (where landlords can claim against 

a bond in the case of any damage), or a cash deposit where a landlord is not 

prepared to accept a bond. In exceptional cases, one month’s rent in advance 

can also be paid to the landlord. Payments made to landlords are repayable by 

the tenants over an agreed period at an affordable amount. In 2009/10, 48 

customers were assisted with rent deposits/bonds and/or rent in advance 

payments and a further 36 in the first three quarters of 2010/11. 

 

§ Tunbridge Wells operates a rent deposit guarantee (bond) scheme, which 

provides landlords with a guarantee equivalent to up to 1 ½ months’ rent. The 

housing options team also has limited funds available to provide, in exceptional 

circumstances, cash deposits or rent in advance. During 2009/10, the Council 

provided deposits and deposit guarantees to a total of 69 households. So far 

during 2010/11, over 60 households have already been assisted through the 

scheme. The Council also operates a successful property-based accreditation 

scheme, which helps increase the number of good quality private rentals 

available to the Housing Options Team. Once a property has been accredited, 

the landlord is given the option of advertising their vacant rental properties free 

of charge on Kent Homechoice. The Council is able to assist non-priority need 

customers with a rent deposit guarantee at their discretion.  
 

Case Study 

 

Ms X was living in a women’s refuge with her 2 young children, having fled from her violent 

partner.  

 

She approached the Council for advice about housing and subsequently applied to the PSL scheme. 

The application to the scheme was accepted.  

 

A landlord with a property to let contacted the Council. The Council had previously assisted the 

landlord bring the property back into use by giving an Empty Homes Grant, following which the 

property was registered on the Council’s Accreditation Scheme, confirming the home was of good 

quality and complied with the requirements of the Decent Homes Standard.  As the landlord was 

happy to accept a tenant who would be claiming LHA and using a Deposit Bond & Rent-in-Advance 

loan, arrangements were made for Ms X to view the property.  

 

Both landlord and Ms X were happy to proceed with the tenancy and the tenancy recently 

commenced. 

 

As there is to be a shortfall between the LHA rate and the contractual rent, the Council’s Benefits 

Team have agreed to award some DHP towards some of the shortfall. 

 

 

6.40. Negotiating with lenders/landlords - mortgage companies do, in some cases, 

advise councils of repossessions, giving the authorities the opportunity to negotiate 

over mortgage arrears in order to keep people in their home. Authorities will also 

intervene with private/social landlords over rent arrears or where eviction is 

treated for other reasons.  
  

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 41



Page 30 of 69 

 

Case Study: 

 

Mr & Mrs A approached Tunbridge Wells BC in March 2010. Mr A had broken his back in a building 

site accident 10 years previously. He had started his own business as he could not work for anyone 

due to the accident but the business collapsed.   

 

Mr & Mrs A have seven children and were living in a 5 bedroom house.  The mortgage outstanding 

was £161,000 and the property value was £230,000; there were mortgage arrears of over 

£7,000K as well as four loans secured on the property totalling £37,500. All of these loans were in 

arrears and the loan companies were also attempting to repossess the property whilst the 

mortgage rescue case was going through.  

 

At the repossession hearing in March, the court was contacted by the Housing Options Adviser, 

who explained that the Government Mortgage Rescue Scheme was being pursued. As a result, 

possession was not granted and the Court allowed the Council and Moat Housing Association time 

to process the application for mortgage rescue.  

 

During the legal process, it came to light that the family did not have the appropriate planning 

permission and building regulations certificates for works that had been completed on the 

property. This could have derailed the process. However, effective liaison with Planning, the 

housing options adviser managed to get this permission quickly in special circumstances.     

 

Mr & Mrs A’s mortgage rescue completed in September 2010.   

 

 

6.41. Providing advice or assistance through other organisations – all three 

authorities use the Citizen’s Advice Bureau to carry out homeless prevention and 

organise regular joint training and liaison. All three authorities have referral 

arrangements with Porchlight for the rough sleeper and outreach services, funded 

by the Supporting People Programme. 

 

6.42. The Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) is a key resource for rough 

sleepers in time of severe weather and has been successfully used in West Kent in 

recent years. However, the temporary accommodation can be located away from 

any support links that the individual may have and, in some cases, may not be 

practical to travel to or from at times of severe weather.  

 
6.43. There are a number of other initiatives included within the previous strategy that 

have met with more limited success. These include:  

 

§ Schools projects – all three local authorities have worked with Porchlight to 

go into schools to advise young people of the realities of homelessness (though 

funding is due to expire in March 2011). Access into schools has not always 

been easy though progress has been made recently in Tunbridge Wells. 

§ Supported lodgings – the idea of supported lodgings is to place a young 

person with a host family who can support them pending a move to 

independent accommodation. A project with the Bridge Trust did not however 

take off due to problems recruiting host families and concerns over health and 

safety. With the economic downturn, however, the scheme may now be more 

attractive to host families and there are examples from elsewhere of successful 

supported lodgings schemes   

§ Crash pads – these provide a space for a (usually) young person to ‘cool off’ 

after family disputes that could lead to eviction. Lack of funding and suitable 

premises has prevented this idea being developed in the past though the three 

local authorities still see a need for this service and would support a cost-

effective solution  

§ Direct access shelter – the three authorities have run seasonal shelters in the 

past though demand for this service has reduced since Colebrook Road opened. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 42



Page 31 of 69 

 

Although agencies have indicated a desire for a permanent facility in each 

district, in the absence of identified suitable locations and external capital 

funding, this looks unlikely to be a priority in the foreseeable future.  Revenue 

funding to support accommodation-based supported housing for young people 

at risk (aged 16-24) has been agreed through the Supporting People 

Programme. Currently the funding is used to provide floating support to this 

client group in Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells. 

 

6.44. Tackling issues beyond homelessness  

 

6.45. HERO project – in recognition of the fact that local authorities need to look 

beyond the accommodation needs of homeless people and address underlying 

issues such as debt, long term unemployment and lack of educational 

opportunities, Sevenoaks DC has attracted external funding to develop this 

trailblazer enhanced housing advice project. Through a specialist advisor, they 

provide holistic advice on housing, debt, welfare benefits, saving money on fuel 

bills, retraining and further education options, getting back to work and business 

start-up. The project has been very successful and has helped many clients since it 

was set up.  Although funding for the project is due to expire in June 2012, 

Sevenoaks is determined to use the lessons of the project to evolve its housing 

options service into a more holistic service.  

 

Case Study  
 

Mrs L. recently moved into the Edenbridge area. She was lacking in self- confidence and did not 

know anyone in the area. She had not worked for over a year and came to the HERO project 

needing debt and employment advice. 

 

HERO worked very closely with the volunteering centre, getting her working in a retail 

environment in order to build up her confidence and work experience. Her confidence grew and 

within 4 months of Mrs L.’s coming to the HERO project, she had found volunteering work in the 

public and private sector. 

 

Mrs L also referred her 17-year old daughter to the service and she is now in a volunteering work 

placement as well as in fulltime education studying to be a carer. 

 

 

6.46. Tunbridge Wells and Rother Councils jointly secured Government Trailblazer 

funding in 2008 which has helped deliver debt and employment advice over the 

last two years, alongside housing options advice. Both Councils are now 

considering how to maintain key elements of this service in the future, in the 

context of continuing economic uncertainty. Tunbridge Wells are optimistic that 

funding to continue the housing and debt advice service, through the local Citizens 

Advice Bureau, will be secured for the immediate future.  

 

6.47. Choice based lettings  

 

6.48. The launch of the Kent-wide Choice Based Lettings scheme has brought many 

advantages including more mobility across the county, more transparency and 

improved cost effectiveness.  CBL has also been a useful preventative tool with the 

authorities using the Register in such a way as to encourage applicants to work 

with them to resolve their housing situation, either by the way points are allocated 

or by proactively bidding on behalf of applicants.  

 

6.49. Inevitably however, some applicants find the system quite hard to understand. This 

was shown in the service user consultation where many people said that they 

found the system quite complex.  The scheme is now looking to move to a 

Agenda Item 6

Page 43



Page 32 of 69 

 

Common Assessment Framework and a Working Group has also been established 

to explore other future options for the register.     

 

6.50. Accommodation and services for homeless people in West Kent  

 

6.51. Partnership working with other agencies - in addition to the housing options 

and advice provided by the local authorities, there are many agencies working 

across West Kent providing generic or specialist housing advice and assisting in 

homeless prevention. These include: 

 

§ Connexions - assists 14-19 year olds who are homeless and estranged from 

their families to access benefits  

§ Crisis Recovery Day Centre - help people who are homeless or those with 

alcohol or drug addictions 

§ HOPE - provide supported accommodation throughout Kent for homeless ex-

offenders or those at risk of offending  

§ Kent Police – through MARAC (multi agency risk assessment conference) 

assist with high risk domestic abuse victims with re-housing or securing 

existing accommodation.   

§ Moat HA – run Colebrook Road hostel 

§ Platform 51 (YWCA) – provide support to young women; have done pre-

tenancy training courses 

§ RSLs - prevent homelessness through the provision of affordable housing, 

including social housing, intermediate rent and shared ownership 

§ Salvation Army - provide hot meals and clothing to homeless people 

§ Shelter – provide free advice on housing, debt and welfare benefits issues to 

people across Kent  

 

6.52. The following partners also provide services funded through Supporting People: 

 

§ The Bridge Trust – single homeless hostel for homeless young men and 

women in Tunbridge Wells 

§ Catch 22 - supports 16/21 years leaving local authority care, supporting their 

move into independent living.  

§ Chapter One - supported accommodation for homeless young women in 

Tunbridge Wells 

§ Porchlight – focus on street homelessness, rough sleeping and non-priority 

single homeless households. Also offer floating support for individuals with drug 

or alcohol-related issues.  

 

6.53. There are also many successful partnerships with public sector bodies, including 

Health, Social Services and Offending. These relationships are enshrined in a series 

of protocols setting out responsibilities and key procedures. Feedback from staff 

suggests that some of these work well, others less so.     

 

6.54. Supporting People commissions a variety of supported accommodation and 

services across West Kent. West Kent has a limited amount of accommodation for 

homeless people and, as such, demand always exceeds supply. The current 

facilities funded by Supporting People are listed in Table 10. A new scheme for 

young people at risk has come on line in Tonbridge & Malling. It is revenue funded 

by Supporting People. Needs analysis carried out by Supporting People has 

identified need for further supported accommodation for young people in 

Sevenoaks and Tunbridge Wells, as well as women’s refuges in both those 

authorities and a scheme for people misusing alcohol in West Kent. Until those 

services can be delivered, the programme delivers floating support in West Kent. 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 44



Page 33 of 69 

 

Table 10: Short term (up to 2 years) accommodation based supported 

housing funded by Supporting People 

Scheme Bed 

spaces 

Location Client 

Group 

Description 

Colebrook 

Road 

13 Tunbridge 

Wells 

Single 

homeless 

with support 

needs 

Maximum stay 13 

weeks. Operated by 

Moat 

Chapter 1 17 Tunbridge 

Wells 

Single 

homeless 

women and 

families with 

support 

needs  

Shared facilities 

West Kent 

YMCA 

24 s/c Tunbridge 

Wells 

Single 

homeless 

with support 

needs 

A further 15 units are 

to open shortly. 

Shared among 3 West 

Kent Authorities 

Women’s 

Refuge 

6 Tunbridge 

Wells 

Women 

fleeing 

domestic 

abuse 

Access is shared with 

Sevenoaks and 

Tonbridge and Malling 

Bridge 

Trust 

22 Tunbridge 

wells/Tonbridge 

and Malling 

Single 

homeless 

with support 

needs 

Shared facility 

Richmond 

Fellowship 

15 Sevenoaks People with 

mental health 

problems 

(dual 

diagnosis) 

Greensands scheme. 

Shared house. 

Richmond 

Fellowship 

6 Tonbridge and 

Malling 

People with 

mental health 

problems 

Dispersed s/c 

supported 

accommodation 

Vine 

Court 

Road 

9 Sevenoaks People with 

mental health 

problems 

Shared house. 

HOPE 

Tonbridge 

6 Tonbridge and 

Malling 

Offenders or 

at risk of 

offending 

Shared facilities 

New 

Wharf 

9 Tonbridge and 

Malling 

Young people 

at risk 

(aged16-24) 

Self-contained 

accommodation. 

 

 

6.55. Supporting People also currently provides generic floating support for a range of 

vulnerable people and specialist floating support for people at risk of offending, 

with mental health problems, fleeing domestic abuse and misusing substances. The 

programme also funds rough sleeper and outreach services. All these services are 

accessible to the vulnerable people of West Kent.     

 

 

 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 45



Page 34 of 69 

 

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS  

 

§ Homeless prevention has been very effective in West Kent over recent years 

and the teams have developed effective toolkits for prevention   

§ Approaches differ between the three authorities and there are opportunities 

to better share ‘what works’, particularly around rent deposit schemes 

which will become increasingly important to prevention in the future  

§ Accommodation for homeless people is in short supply and demand always 

exceeds supply  

§ There is a need for additional accommodation for young people at risk in 

Sevenoaks and Tonbridge & Malling, women’s’ refuges in Sevenoaks and 

Tonbridge & Malling and for people misusing substances in West Kent   

§ Strong partnerships between local authorities, agencies, housing 

associations and other public sector bodies exist across West Kent 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 46



Page 35 of 69 

 

PART TWO: THE STRATEGY   

7. LESSONS LEARNT  

 

7.1. During the course of consultation with partners, stakeholders and staff, a number 

of themes emerged that have informed the strategy going forward (see Appendix 2 

for summaries of the consultations). These were:  

 

How things work 

 

§ a desire for more commonality in how the three authorities work and in their 

processes and procedures and for existing protocols to be better understood 

and enforced  

§ an appetite for more shared services across West Kent or county-wide  

§ an appetite for more innovation, moving away from “the way things have 

always worked” to exploring more radical solutions 

§ a feeling that there is some duplication and overlap between some services and 

therefore an opportunity to streamline  

§ an appetite for more sharing of knowledge, information and good practice 

amongst the authorities and partner agencies  

§ a need to streamline how some processes and procedures work so they do not  

get in the way of delivering effective services  

§ more ‘joined up’ and effective referral processes  

§ the importance of effective partnership working  

§ the need to involve service users in designing procedures and protocols 

 

New services and ideas 

 

§ build on the existing relationships with private sector landlords, to understand 

their issues and overcome the barriers they have to letting their properties to 

people on benefits 

§ the importance of robust, cost-effective rent deposit schemes to successful 

prevention  

§ support for schemes that would allow people who had not been tenants before 

to become “accredited” through a course in how to manage a tenancy 

§ the need for tenancy sustainment when people need specific support to help 

them keep their tenancy  

§ the need for more preventative work with young people and in schools  

§ the need for more floating support, particularly for new tenants  

§ the need for more direct access accommodation for non-priority homeless  

 

7.2. The key themes that emerged from service user consultation were:  

 
§ Staff – The quality of interaction with staff within the Housing Options Teams 

was often cited as the best or worst part of users’ experience with the common 

themes around quality of staff, empathy and communication skills. In many 

cases, households felt listened to, were kept informed and felt very positive 

about their experience. However, others were less positive, saying that they felt 

‘judged’ by staff who lacked empathy with their situation.  

 

§ Realistic advice – several households said that they needed more advice 

about their likely success bidding on properties, the amount of accommodation 

available and on what they might expect from the council. One household in 

particular said they would not have come to the area if they had known 

beforehand how difficult it was likely to be to find a new home.  The feedback 

showed that expectations are, in some cases, high. Several said that they 

Agenda Item 6

Page 47



Page 36 of 69 

 

would have liked more information from the outset and that this would have 

empowered them to make better choices and so take control of their own 

situation.  

 

§ Rent deposits – received positive feedback, but there was a feeling that the 

cap should be raised on the monthly rent you can access through this scheme. 

Several users struggled to find accommodation at rent levels under the cap.  

 

§ Private Accommodation – the lack of availability of private accommodation 

for people receiving benefits was mentioned with people wanting more help 

accessing landlords willing to accept them. Several users reported, once they 

had found a home, that they were happy with the quality of accommodation  

 

§ Temporary Accommodation – this was a worry for some households in terms 

of being able to maintain employment and family contact when placed long 

distances from their communities.  There were also a number of concerns about 

poor quality, cleanliness and, in one case, anti-social behaviour and domestic 

abuse in TA which the user found highly intimidating  
 

§ The HERO project received very positive feedback.  

Agenda Item 6

Page 48



Page 37 of 69 

 

8. OUR VISION AND STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 

 
8.1. We have used the following guiding principles in developing the strategy and action 

plan: 

 

§ they should build upon evidenced need of homeless people  

§ they should contain specific, actionable objectives rather than aspirations 

§ they should be aligned to the objectives of related national, regional and local 

strategies 

§ they will be delivered through partnership working between the three 

authorities, local agencies and the voluntary sector 

 

8.2. The overall vision of the West Kent Homelessness Strategy is to: 

 

“proactively support and empower people to plan  

their own futures so that homelessness  

within West Kent is significantly reduced” 

 

8.3. Responding to the consultation with stakeholders, partners and service users – and 

building on the successes over the last five years, we have defined five strategic 

priorities. These are: 

 

1. Maximising homelessness prevention through the provision of 

appropriate housing options and choices 

2. Maximising resources across West Kent, becoming more efficient and 

effective  

3. Working effectively with private sector landlords  

4. Creating strong partnerships to tackle homelessness 

5. Meeting the needs of the diverse range of people affected by 

homelessness 

 

8.4. Despite such uncertainty in the economic, funding and policy situation, we are 

confident that these broad strategic priorities will provide a sound framework for 

the next five years. However, given the current uncertainty and pace of change 

nationally and regionally, the detailed Action Plan covers the period to June 2013.  

We will review the Action Plan at that point to ensure that it remains relevant and 

up to date as things evolve.    

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 49



Page 38 of 69 

 

8.5. Strategic Priority One: Maximising homelessness prevention through an 

enhanced Housing Options service - by 2016, our goal is to develop a highly 

effective, personalised housing options service that empowers customers to 

make the best choices for themselves 

 

8.6. All three authorities have been very successful at preventing homelessness. 

However, with proposed changes to benefits, reduced investment in social housing 

and uncertain economic times ahead, there is a wide consensus that the services 

will be put under considerable pressure in the coming years and that demands on 

the services will increase. The teams will have to understand, and plan for, these 

changing demands as the situation evolves – including from non-priority homeless 

who are less visible in the homelessness statistics and from young people on low 

incomes who are no longer able to access the housing market.  

 

8.7. The current preventative tools will come under increasing pressure, so it is 

important that the teams use the coming months to ensure that processes and 

protocols are working well, being exploited to the full and that any barriers to their 

use are removed where possible. There is scope for the three teams to share best 

practice more effectively and to work together more closely and, through the 

development of the strategy, have identified an appetite – and opportunities – for 

this. At the same time, the Housing Options Teams will be tested through increased 

pressure on services and skill sets will need to evolve, with more emphasis on 

negotiation and mediation skills, detailed benefits advice and employment and 

training.     

 

8.8. At the same time, there will be a significant task in managing customers’ 

expectations. Service user consultation revealed that many applicants already have 

unrealistic expectations about their future housing prospects, while proposed 

changes to waiting lists, the allocation of social housing, social housing tenancies 

and the use of the private sector will need to be communicated, with messages to 

customers being clear and upfront. Improved advice and information will need to 

be made available through the internet (with more self servicing), as well as new 

and social media such as Facebook and Twitter. It could also involve more creative 

ways to reach the ‘front line’ of homelessness with advice available in doctors 

surgeries,  support centres for mental health clients, schools etc.  The need for 

more co-ordination of information, advice and guidance was identified throughout 

the consultation in order to reduce duplication.  

 

8.9. In order to deliver against this strategic priority, over the next two years, we will: 

 

§ ensure that we fully understand and analyse emerging trends in homelessness 

and that changing demands on the service are understood and planned for  

§ ensure that the impacts of cuts to support and other services are understood by 

Housing Options Teams, customers and other stakeholders and prioritise 

resources accordingly 

§ hone our ‘prevention toolkit’, ensuring that we are maximising the options that 

are available and making best use of available techniques and resources 

§ provide clear and timely information to people threatened with homelessness so 

that they are fully aware of their options and can make realistic choices 

§ building on the HERO project, develop more holistic approaches to prevention 

that tackle the underlying causes of homelessness 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 50



Page 39 of 69 

 

8.10. Strategic Priority Two: Maximising resources across West Kent, becoming 

more efficient and effective - by 2016, our goal is to deliver more effective 

services using fewer resources 

 

8.11. At the same time as this anticipated increase in homelessness, local authority and 

Supporting People funding is facing significant reductions. There is a real pressure 

not just to ‘do more for less’ but to think – and act - radically about how services 

can be delivered more cost effectively in the future. The three West Kent local 

authorities have a long and successful history of working together and, in 

developing the strategy, have demonstrated an appetite to take partnership 

working further. There may be opportunities to share staff and expertise, either 

between the three authorities or with other teams and partners (including housing 

associations and voluntary agencies) and identifying such opportunities is a key 

priority for the next two years.  

 

8.12. Teams could also develop shared processes and procedures, learning from the best 

within West Kent as well as more widely. The consultation revealed clear scope for 

reviewing processes and procedures in order to cut out any duplication and this 

exercise could usefully be completed with partner agencies to make sure that the 

best use is being made of all available resources. There is a link here with the 

service mapping exercise identified in Priority 4, which will give opportunities to 

review exactly how homelessness services can best be delivered across agencies 

and local authorities.           

 

8.13. Finally, with resources so scarce the authorities will need to maximise any funding 

that is available. This will mean having an eye to central and local government 

priorities and thinking and ensuring that the profile – and successes - of the 

homelessness services is maintained. This will particularly be the case when 

Homelessness Grant loses its ring-fenced status in 2013. The authorities will also 

need to ensure that benefits are maximised, with improvements to procedures and 

expertise a priority.  

 

8.14. To deliver against this strategic priority, over the next two years, we will: 

 

§ identify opportunities to share resources, services and expertise across the 

three authorities, and more widely  

§ maximise the external resources available to tackle homelessness  

§ with other Kent authorities, develop and implement a common Assessment 

Framework across Kent 

§ make best use of existing housing stock, in partnership with housing 

associations  

§ maximise the availability of accommodation for people threatened with 

homelessness, both in the social and private rented sectors 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 51



Page 40 of 69 

 

8.15. Strategic Priority Three: Working effectively with private sector landlords 

– by 2016, our goal is to understand and overcome the barriers to increased 

private sector lettings  

 

8.16. The private rented sector is already central to successful prevention and will 

become even more so when local authorities are able to fully discharge their duties 

into private rent. At the same time, many private landlords are wary about 

accepting tenants who may be vulnerable and/or on benefits and, in what is an 

affluent commuter area, are under little pressure to do so. With changes to 

benefits on the way, persuading landlords to accept benefit claimants will become 

an even greater challenge.   

 

8.17. All three authorities work with private landlords and have had varying degrees of 

success in forging links with the sector and in understanding and removing the 

(real and perceived) barriers.  A key priority for the future strategy is therefore to 

improve these links, ensure that the priorities and motivations of private sector 

landlords are understood and that the authorities develop an ‘offer’ to landlords 

that meets the needs of both parties.  

 

8.18. This could include looking at rent levels (perhaps trading certainty for price), 

preferred options for rent in advance and deposits, whether tenants could achieve 

‘accreditation’ that would provide reassurance to landlords and a package that 

would help more vulnerable residents sustain their tenancy. It may also mean 

ensuring landlords have access to a package of grants or loans to improve their 

properties so they meet Decent Homes and affordable warmth standards.  

 

8.19. To deliver against this strategic priority, over the next two years, we will: 

 

§ work with private sector landlords in order to understand their priorities, 

perceived barriers to letting to tenants on benefits and to develop a ‘win-win’ 

culture that offers reassurance to both parties 

§ develop a Tenancy Sustainment programme that will enable vulnerable 

residents maintain their tenancy 

§ work with landlords to improve property standards in private sector through 
Accreditation Schemes 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 52



Page 41 of 69 

 

8.20. Strategic Priority Four: Creating strong partnerships to tackle 

homelessness - by 2016, our goal is to strengthen existing partnerships, 

maximising synergies to meet the needs of homeless people   

 

8.21. Strong and effective partnerships already exist between the authorities and the 

many voluntary agencies and housing associations that work in West Kent. These 

provide a firm basis for what will need to be even closer partnership working in the 

future.    

 

8.22. At this time of real pressure on resources, it is vital that every organisation with a 

role in tackling homelessness in West Kent is clear about the contribution they 

make to the overall vision and delivery of this strategy. The consultation identified 

that there is some duplication between agencies and services as well as some 

gaps. An important early task therefore is to understand the resources available 

through joint service mapping with partners to identify roles, client group(s), 

expertise and resources. This need not necessarily be started from scratch – where 

mapping has already been carried out (for example The Bridge Trust has 

undertaken some mapping as part of their Homelessness Survival Handbook), this 

should be used as the starting point and built upon. This information will need to 

be accessible and web-based and data kept updated every 18 months - two years. 

A useful additional feature would be a ‘share point’ to share information, customer 

feedback and policies.  

 

8.23. By bringing together this information and filling in any gaps, the authorities can 

facilitate a conversation with partners about the best way to deliver a joined-up 

service across West Kent. This may mean radically reviewing how these 

partnerships work in practice and whether there is further scope for services to be 

delivered in different ways, by different organisations. For example, organisations 

such as Porchlight and the Citizen’s Advice Bureau may be best placed to lead on 

making contact with hard-to-reach groups while the CAB and Shelter could best 

provide advice and guidance to people with no recourse to public funds. Clarifying 

and formalising these relationships and roles would mean better use of resources, 

with the most appropriate agencies delivering services in the most appropriate way 

at the ‘front line’.    

 

8.24. Again, building on existing relationships, improved links will be made with a range 

of public sector bodies who play a part in delivering the strategy such as  Housing 

Benefit, Job Centre Plus (maximising the use of existing ‘back to work’ schemes), 

Children’s Trusts and the Kent-wide and local Learning Disability Partnership 

Boards.  New relationships will need to be forged with Health, with PCTs being 

abolished in 2012 and new bodies such as the Swanley, Dartford and Gravesham 

Pathfinder formed. Links with Young Persons’ Services need to be strengthened, in 

particular to focus on issues of throughput and move-on. Where protocols currently 

exist, these will be monitored to check that they are working effectively.  Given the 

proposed benefit changes, links will be made with London Boroughs to address the 

potential increase in homelessness resulting from displacement of families from 

London.  

 

8.25. With regard to rough sleepers, Tunbridge Wells has agreed that the needs of this 

group will be discussed at the JARS panel which will give an opportunity to discuss 

cases with agencies such as mental health teams, ensuring that the appropriate 

support is available.   

 

8.26. Homeless prevention could also benefit from improved information sharing across 

organisations and the authorities have identified a need to work together with 

housing association partners on evictions and on difficult-to-house people.  

Agenda Item 6

Page 53



Page 42 of 69 

 

 

8.27. The Homelessness Strategy Group is the body which brings together all of the 

agencies in West Kent working with homeless people and which monitors the 

delivery of the strategy. Building on the work already done, this group will refocus 

how it operates by establishing a series of sub-groups which bring together cross-

sector partners to concentrate on key themes such as crime reduction, health and 

vulnerable people, developing knowledge and relationships across sectors. These 

groups would have clear accountability for focusing on, and working towards 

achieving, relevant strategic priorities in the Action Plan and report back to HSG on 

a regular basis. Members of HSG will also share resources and expertise through 

committing to a programme of joint training, shadowing and knowledge sharing. 

They will also better co-ordinate information, advice and guidance with no 

duplication of information and a mechanism for sharing legislative and other good 

practice updates.    

 

8.28. To deliver against this strategic priority, over the next two years, we will: 

 

§ undertake a mapping exercise of homelessness organisations and services 

across West Kent, creating a shared, updatable resource  

§ work more closely with RSL partners 

§ improve links with public sector bodies  

§ increase the effectiveness and accountability of the Homelessness Strategy 
Group 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 54



Page 43 of 69 

 

8.29. Strategic Priority Five: Meeting the needs of the diverse range of people 

affected by homelessness - by 2016, our goal is to understand and meet the 

needs of the diverse range of groups affected by homelessness 

 

8.30. Homelessness affects a broad range of people, as illustrated by the case studies in 

this strategy. The relatively affluent nature and geography of West Kent mean that 

people threatened with homelessness face specific challenges of accessing 

accommodation and services while pressures on funding are already impacting on 

support services that enable people to sustain their tenancies. At the same time, 

homelessness is affecting a broader range of households, and local authorities are 

seeing an increase in approaches from owner occupiers hit by the recession.    

 

8.31. While the P1E data enables the authorities to undertake some analysis of who is 

becoming homeless and their needs, more detailed information and research is 

needed. This will enable the authorities to gain a fuller insight into the experiences 

of customers, better understand the complex patterns of ‘pulls and pushes’ that 

can cause homelessness and so better tailor services to individuals’ needs.  

 

8.32. To deliver against this strategic priority, over the next two years, we will: 

 

§ gain deeper insight into the customer experience to help us to achieve 

personalisation in service delivery to fully address equality and diversity 

matters 

 

8.33. Young People – young people are particularly affected by homelessness and 

authorities have a particular duty to consider the interests of children (16-18 year 

olds). Going forward, the definition of young people will be expanded to 16-35 year 

olds and will cover those classed (in terms of the legislation) as low priority with 

limited support needs (though the definition in terms of SP funded accommodation 

will not change). The priority here will be for early intervention to avoid 

homelessness arising. Research9 has shown that young people value information, 

advice and guidance (including through schools) as their preferred support options 

while new and social media (such as Facebook and Twitter) offer opportunities to 

interact with young people in ways that suit them. We will: 

 

§ using the Kent-wide Young Homeless Persons’ Protocol, ensure we work 

effectively with Children’s Services departments to assist homeless 16/17 year 

olds 

§ signpost young people to literacy and numeracy classes where appropriate 

§ promote and support young people to access tenancy sustainment courses  

§ support the commissioning of supported accommodation for young people in 

Tunbridge Wells and Sevenoaks  

 

8.34. People experiencing domestic violence (both women and men)– we will: 

 

§ Where funding permits, extend the use of and promote the Sanctuary scheme 

to allow people experiencing domestic abuse to remain in their home 

§ support the commissioning of refuges in Tonbridge & Malling and Sevenoaks 

§ following on from the successful MARAC training in 2010, ensure that staff 

receive on-going training on domestic abuse (resources to be identified) 

§ continue joint working with other agencies such as the Police through, for 

example, MARAC meetings 

                                                           
9
 On the Right Track? Consulting young people about the National Youth Homelessness Scheme (YMCA, 2007) 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 55



Page 44 of 69 

 

 

8.35. People with disabilities (including learning disabilities) – we will: 

 

§ audit existing supply of temporary accommodation to ensure that there is 

provision to meet the needs of people with disabilities 

§ with Private Sector Housing colleagues work with housing association partners 

to implement the Kent Housing Group standard for funding disabled adaptations 

in housing association stock 

 

8.36. People with complex needs, including mental health and substance misuse 

– we will:  

 

§ seek advice from health services and other specialists about the specific needs 

of this group and how best to engage with them and provide appropriate 

training for staff (may require additional resources) 

§ work more closely with adult Social Services and KDAAT and explore the 

possibility of joint assessments to identify the housing and support needs of 

this group 

 

8.37. Gypsies and travellers – we will: 

 

§ work with the KCC Gypsy and Traveller Unit to better understand the housing 

and support needs of the gypsy and traveller community 

 

8.38. Older people – we will:  

 

§ provide training for staff on the risks of financial and domestic abuse among 

older people 

§ develop an information pack for older people facing homelessness 

 

8.39. Rough Sleepers – we will:  

 

§ with other Kent authorities and partner agencies, develop joint initiatives for 

rough sleepers using funding allocated by DCLG 

§ identify options for sourcing accommodation that can be used as temporary 

winter shelters to support the Severe Weather Policies of each authority 

 

8.40. Offenders – we will:  

 

§ implement and monitor the Protocol for the Resettlement and Housing of 

Offenders 

 

8.41. Finally, service users have important knowledge about their experiences of the 

Housing Options Services that can be used to improve and shape services in the 

future. In order to use this valuable resource, we will: 

 

§ develop a co-ordinated approach to service user consultation and involvement, 

including minority groups e.g. gypsies and travellers   

Agenda Item 6

Page 56



Page 45 of 69 

 

PART THREE: DELIVERING THE STRATEGY 
 

9. RESOURCES AND FUNDING  

 
9.1. Financial resources for tackling homeless are limited and are likely to come under 

significant pressure in the coming years. Funding to deliver this strategy comes 

from a number of sources:  

 

9.2. General Fund - each local authority funds the majority of their revenue 

expenditure on homelessness and related activities through their General Fund. 

This includes the costs of providing a housing options and advice service, grant 

funding to voluntary partners that provide services to homeless people, and the 

cost of providing emergency accommodation to homeless households. Government 

grant to each of the three authorities has been cut by around 25% in the next two 

years, creating huge challenges in delivering services at affordable levels.  

 

9.3. Homelessness Grant – this is specific Government funding based on the level of 

need identified in each area, intended to fund the development of preventative 

initiatives, such as mediation services and outreach and resettlement services. The 

Government has recently confirmed that Homelessness Grant will continue to be 

available and has increased funding for 2011/12 in anticipation of increasing 

pressures on services (see Table 11), though funding for 2012/15 has not yet been 

identified. Funding is ring-fenced only for 2011-2013: after then, the grant will not 

be specifically tied to homeless prevention.    

 

Table 11: West Kent: Homelessness Grant 2009-2012 

 Tonbridge & 

Malling 

Tunbridge Wells Sevenoaks 

2009/10 £41,050 £63,000 £46,000 

2010/11 £41,050 £62,000 £46,000 

2011/12  £57,470 £88,000 £92,000 

 

9.4. Supporting People funding - Supporting People funding is allocated through the 

Kent Supporting People Team and provides the revenue funding for services that 

support homeless people across West Kent. This includes temporary 

accommodation such as direct access hostel provision, women’s refuges and 

accommodation-based support for people with specific needs, such as alcohol or 

drug dependency. Supporting People also funds the countywide Outreach and 

Resettlement Service that is delivered by Porchlight.  

 

9.5. Supporting People resources are limited and under considerable pressure. 

Commissioning decisions are made by the Commissioning Body of which the three 

authorities are members. The Programme’s agreed priorities for new service 

development are enshrined in the Kent Supporting People Strategy 2010-2015 and 

include services for young people at risk. The 2010/11 Supporting People budget is 

just in excess of £32 million for Kent. The current distribution funding supported 

housing across West Kent is shown in Table 12 below.  

 

Table 12: Current distribution of funding for supported housing 

Total West Kent Tunbridge Wells Sevenoaks Tonbridge & Malling 

£6,093,696 £1,918,898 £1,499,726 £876,195 

The data only includes district specific distribution. However, as identified elsewhere, vulnerable people across the three 

authorities can also access a range of floating support services delivered across six districts/boroughs in west Kent and 

countywide. 

Agenda Item 6

Page 57



Page 46 of 69 

 

9.6. Funding for voluntary sector organisations - the majority of voluntary sector 

organisations that provide services to homelessness people across West Kent are 

funded by grants and donations.  

 

9.7. Discretionary housing payments (Housing Benefit) - Discretionary Payments 

are housing benefit payments made to people who are experiencing housing 

difficulties and can help them to access and retain accommodation. With proposed 

change to affordable rents (moving to 80% of market rents) the Housing Benefit 

bill will come under pressure  

 

9.8. Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) funding - the main source of capital 

funding for new accommodation based services for homeless households and new 

affordable housing. Budgets from 2011/12 have been drastically reduced with an 

expectation that, in future, new schemes will be funded through charging rents of 

up to 80% of market rent levels.   

 

9.9. Other funding - from time to time additional grant resources are made available 

for new accommodation based initiatives and/or to improve existing 

accommodation. These resources are generally bid for by each authority or with 

partners where practical.  

 

9.10. The other main resource available to the local authorities is, of course, their staff 

and profiles of the Housing Options Teams in each of the three local authorities are 

shown at Appendix 6.  

 

 

10. MONITORING, REPORTING AND REVIEW  

 

10.1. The Homelessness Strategy Action Plan contains detailed individual objectives for 

delivering this Strategy. Performance will be monitored in various ways:  

 

§ the Homelessness Strategy Group will be the main monitoring mechanism, with 

reports made to HSG by the authorities and partner agencies on a quarterly 

basis 

§ progress against each objective is continuously monitored at both a 

district/borough and sub-regional level 

§ through the internal audit process within each authority, which undertakes 

audit reviews of specific services to ensure that they are being delivered 

appropriately. 

§ by Central Government, through the quarterly P1E return. 

 

10.2. Clients’ views will be obtained regularly through the service user group which will 

be established to facilitate service user input.  

 

11. ACTION PLAN 2011-2013 

 

11.1. The detailed action plan to deliver the strategy accompanies the strategy (see 

Appendix 7). Despite such uncertainty in the economic, funding and policy 

situation, we are confident that the five strategic priorities will provide a sound 

framework for the next five years. However, given the current uncertainty and 

pace of change nationally and regionally, the detailed Action Plan covers the period 

to June 2013.  We will review the Action Plan at that point to ensure that it remains 

relevant and up to date as things evolve.    

Agenda Item 6

Page 58



Page 47 of 69 

 

Appendix One: West Kent Homelessness Strategy Project Team  

 

Helen Clarke, Housing Needs Manager (Tunbridge Wells DC) (until 30/11/10) 

Jane Ellis, Housing Manager (Sevenoaks DC) 

Jane Rogers, Housing Options Manager (Tunbridge Wells BC) (from December 2010) 

Janet Walton, Chief Housing Officer, (Tonbridge & Malling BC) 

Lynn Wilders, Housing Needs Manager (Tonbridge & Malling BC) 

Pat Smith, Head of Housing and Communications (Sevenoaks DC) 

Rav Kensrey, Housing Options Team Manager (Tonbridge and Malling BC) (from 

December 2010) 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 59



Page 48 of 69 

 

Appendix Two: Summary of Homelessness Strategy Group Consultation Events 

Event One: July 2010 

Addressing the 
needs of Young 
people 16-25 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Non Statutory 

homeless - 
maximising the use 
of the private sector 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Maximising the Use 
of the Private Sector 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Assisting vulnerable 

people with a high 
support need 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Best 
Practice/Provision 
for those affected by 

§ More preventative work in education around housing and 

mediation services 

§ More supported accommodation from low support to high 

support 

§ More floating support services to reduce waiting lists 

§ A much more clear protocol with regards to crisis situations 

around housing services 

§ Clearer information and improved communication on services 

and signposting   

§ Emergency Housing such as Nightstop or Open House. 

§ Preventative education - leaflet/booklet for Young Persons and 

agencies? 

§ Housing Awareness for young people to dispel myths  

 

§ Same rent deposit scheme for all local authorities 

§ More direct access accommodation e.g. Colebrook Road 

§ More early intervention 

§ Expanding information provided in Gateways 

§ Raising awareness –expand available information 

§ Allocation pointing system to recognise those in supported 

accommodation 

§ maximise use of DHP payments 

§ Non priority applicants to be able to access Rent Deposit 

schemes 

§ Maximising benefits 

 

§ Supporting People banding – can those about to move into a 

private rental get prioritised for support so they receive help 

when they need it?  

§ People housed into tenancies from supported accommodation 

should be entitled to a run on of support from accommodation 

provider for 4 weeks  

§ Can LA housing options teams provide an in house tenancy 

support service to help sustain tenancies? Pooled across West 

Kent? 

§ Robust rent deposit schemes – strong relationships with 

landlords  

§ Housing options teams make full use of DHP funds 

§ Private sector leasing scheme that is attractive to landlords – 

e.g. rent at LHA rate, not below, guaranteed rent even when 

property is void? 
 

§ Training of staff – education on what is available across sectors 

§ Comprehensive advice from organisation such as the CAB 

§ Access to expertise on managing challenging behaviour 

§ Financial encouragement to landlords to work with high 

support clients 

§ Effective joint working protocols 

§ Producing a directory of services 

§ Involving clients in producing protocols and making them work. 

§ Gap in provision between supported accommodation and needs 

for residential care/provision. 

§ Need for high support scheme that will work with clients with 

complex needs 

 

§ The Sanctuary Scheme - better promotion required 

§ Quantifying demand– monitoring demands/more data 

collection. 

§ Consistent training & increase ease of access to information – 

same standard/level across all areas of local 

Agenda Item 6

Page 60



Page 49 of 69 

 

Domestic Abuse 

 

authorities/RSL’s/other housing providers  

§ All RSL’s to introduce Domestic Abuse as a breach of tenancy. 

§ Ensure a consistent approach to out of hours housing advice 

and response. (Contact  Centres to have at least one person 

with DA specialist knowledge) 

§ Widen reciprocal arrangements between local authority areas;  

§ Have joint policies and procedures; 

§ Provide more refuge accommodation in each borough  

§ To have early intervention in schools 

 

 

Event Two: December 2010 

 Aims Tasks Barriers 
Working 
Effectively With 

Private Sector 
Landlords 

Increase the 

number of 

private sector 

landlords  

 

Ensure rent gets 

paid on time  

 

Tenancy 

sustained 

§ LHA Direct 

§ Tenancy sustainment 

resource 

§ Evidence of failures in the 

rent system  

§ Tenant training and 

accreditation 

§ Review rent deposit 

schemes  

§ Establish a Steering 

group of landlords to 

work with 

§ Reluctance to take 

LHA tenants 

§  

§ Resources 

Maximising 
Resources 
(Efficiency & 
Effectiveness) 

Make best use of 

stock across all 

sectors 

 

 

 

Transparent 

policies  

 

 

 

 

 

Work ‘smarter’ – 

avoid duplication 

of services  

 

 

 

 

 

Include 

accredited 

private rented 

sector in CBL 

 

§ Develop under occupation 

schemes  

§ Bring back into use 

empty/in disrepair 

properties  

 

§ More cohesive thinking 

across organisations 

§ Promoting the needs of 

local people  

§ Joined up, efficient 

referral processes  

 

§ Share knowledge, 

expertise and best 

practice  

§ Explore new technologies 

§ Promotion of self-help 

measures 

§ Streamline processes 

 

§ Explore councils 

managing private lets 

§ HB changes 

§ Financial incentives 

§ Support with the 

logistics of moving 

§ Flexible tenancies 

§ Managing 

aspirations  

§ Resources 

§ Smaller associations 

find this difficult  

§ National policies  

 

 

§ Culture 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

§ Negativity of agents 

§ Prejudice against HB 

§ Payment for advert 

Meeting The 
Diverse Needs 
Of The 
Community 

Helping young 

people more 

effectively  

 

 

 

 

Gypsy & traveller 

community 

 

§ Forum for young people 

and agencies working 

with this age group  

§ Engaging/reaching them 

– are we doing this 

effectively?  

 

§ Providing facilities 

 

 

§ Geography – 

hard to get 

around the WK 

area 

 

 

 

 

§ Cultural 

difficulties and 

Agenda Item 6

Page 61



Page 50 of 69 

 

People with 

mental health 

problems 

 

Getting provisions for 17 year 

olds 

geographic 

 

Homelessness 
Prevention 

Management of 

expectations  

 

 

School lessons in 

financial literacy  

 

 

 

Improve 

mediation  

 

Widen scope of 

rent deposit 

scheme 

 

Better use of 

stock – use 

empty homes 

above shops  

Decent Homes 

Policy  

§ Communication – seek 

advice early 

§ Legal advice  

 

§ Education in schools/at 

Sure Start  

§ Adult numeracy and 

literacy  

§ Partnership with the 

private sector  

 

 

District Council’s cost  

 

 

 

Social exclusion/ mental 

illness  

 

 

ASB by tenants 

Landlords are anti-

benefit clients  

 

 

 

 

 

No policy yet 

Creating Strong 
Partnerships 

Pooling resources  

 

 

 

 

Develop Kent-

wide protocols  

 

 

Explore options 

appraisals for 

shared working  

 

 

Sharing 

knowledge/avoid 

overlapping and 

duplication  

 

Challenge of 

district/borough 

boundaries 

 

Getting local 

agencies to work 

together 

effectively 

 

Ensuring there is 

no duplication of 

advice services   

 

Looking at co-

location and 

pooling budgets 

(e.g. minibuses)  

 

More effective 

§ Share best practice (e.g. 

HERO project) 

§ Joint training 

§ Building relationships 

 

§ Better communication of 

WNK of JPPB with 

strategy  

 

§ Procurement of shared 

services e.g. mediation 

§ Expanding the 

employment and training  

 

§ Understanding the local 

area  

§ Logical steps through 

supported to 

permanent/independent 

living  

 

 

 

§ Improved communication 

between agencies 

 

 

 

§ Discussion between 

relevant agencies  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capacity to develop 

staff – outsourcing work 

 

 

Fear of the loss of 

control  

  

Agreeing clear 

requirements 

HB changes  

 

 

 

 

Talk to each other! 

Flexibility 

Limited finance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Logistics need to be 

resolved and fear of 

financial risks worked 

through  

 

Accepting need for 

Agenda Item 6

Page 62



Page 51 of 69 

 

advice and 

referrals  

 

 

Telephone 

conferencing 

advocacy 

 

LA fund more 

preventive 

homeless advice 

 

Work with 

landlords forums 

and letting 

agents 

 

Get social 

services and LAS 

to work together 

on under 18s 

§ Test efficiency of referral 

process (secret shopper) 

§ Co-ordinate housing 

advice 

§ Work with e.g. CAB 

 

§ Communicate and 

encourage a more 

proactive approach to 

accept benefit claimants  

E.g. Connexions in schools 

and colleges 

change by service 

providers 

 

 

Event Three: January 2011 

 

This event focused on the draft strategy with attendees giving comments on the draft 

document. The session also looked at the draft action plan (Strategic Priorities 4 &5), 

with outcomes of which were incorporated into the final draft of the action plan.  

Organisations represented in consultation meetings 

§ Tonbridge CAB 

§ NHS Capital Planning 

§ Sevenoaks DC  

§ Age UK – Sevenoaks 

§ The Bridge Trust 

§ Shelter 

§ Sevenoaks Seniors Action Forum 

§ Porchlight 

§ Tunbridge Wells CAB 

§ KCC Children’s Services 

§ Moat Housing 

§ Catch 22 Housing 

§ Sevenoaks CAB 

§ Kent CC 16 Plus Services 

§ Kent CC Supporting People Team  

§ Hope Kent 

§ Connexions 

§ KCC St Johns Community Mental Health Centre 

§ TMBC Community Safety Manager 

§ YWCA 

§ Kent Youth Offending Services 

§ MIND Sevenoaks 

§ DGS Mind 

§ SDSAF 

§ YOS 

§ Catch22 

§ Probation 

§ KMDASG 

§ NHS West Kent 

§ West Kent YMCA 

Agenda Item 6

Page 63



Page 52 of 69 

 

Appendix Three: Summary of Service User Consultation   

 

1. In order to seek the input of service users into the strategy, detailed telephone 

interviews were carried out with a total of 12 services users. These were selected at 

random from a list of contacts supplied by the three local authorities.  

 

2. The interviews, lasting approximately 30 minutes each, were semi-structured and 

asked a series of questions: 

 

§ Household details 

§ How did you first come into contact with the Council’s housing service? 

§ Ease of accessing information and advice?  

§ What they expected before they turned up? 

§ Good things about the service? 

§ What could have been better? 

§ How did advice etc. help change their situation? 

§ Name one thing that you would have wanted the Council to do differently? 

 

3. The household characteristics of the interviewees were as follows:  

 

Household 

composition 

No. Households  

 adult, 1 child 5 

1 adult, 2 children 2 

1 adult, 3 children 1 

2 adults, 1 child 2 

2 adults, 3 children 1 

2 adults, 4 children 1 

 

4.  The reasons for homelessness were varied with two households suffering domestic 

violence, two being evicted from the family home having had a child, three leaving 

private sector ranted properties, two relationship breakdown and one an owner 

occupier whose home was repossessed.  

 

5. Overall, the feedback about the service was generally positive. Most households 

found it easy to contact the Housing Options Team and several mentioned how 

helpful they found them (this is particularly noticeable at Sevenoaks DC where 

several applicants praised the clarity of advice and information given). A small 

number of interviewees found staff attitudes towards them somewhat unsympathetic 

and expressed the view that they would have liked staff to be more understanding of 

their situation.  

 

6. Expectations of the service were mixed. In some cases, applicants expected to be 

housed by the local authority quickly whereas others had much lower expectations, 

anticipating little assistance or a negative experience.  

Agenda Item 6

Page 64



Page 53 of 69 

 

 

7. Positive aspects of the service were felt to be:  

 

§ The quality of the service, especially helpful staff  

§ Being kept informed and not making false promises  

§ The HERO project received particular praise  

§ Rent deposits (though there was a feeling that the caps were too low to find an 

acceptable property)   

§ Sensitive to family history of domestic violence  

 

8. Aspects of the service felt to be less effective included:  

 

§ concerns about poor quality and cleanliness in temporary accommodation  

§ temporary accommodation was a worry for some households, in terms of being 

able to maintain employment and family contact when placed long distances from 

their communities 

§ what were perceived to be complexities of the points systems and of bidding for 

properties under Choice Based Lettings  

§ several people would have liked more help and guidance completing forms  

§ the difficulty of securing decent quality private rented accommodation     

 

 

 

     

 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 65



Page 54 of 69 

 

Appendix Four: A summary of the Housing Options Process 

  

Are you eligible for 

assistance? NO 

Not eligible/not homeless 

We have no duty to provide assistance, 

however we will provide advice to prevent you 

from becoming homeless 

YES

Are you homeless or 

threatened with 

homelessness? 

NO 

YES 

Are you in priority 

need? 

YES 

YES 

Not in priority need 

We have a duty to assess your needs and 

provide advice and assistance 

NO 

NO 

Have you made 

yourself intentionally 

homeless? 

Priority need but intentionally homeless 

We have a duty to provide advice and 

assistance and secure accommodation for 

such a period as will give you reasonable time 

to secure accommodation (28 days) 

Priority need and unintentionally homeless 

or threatened with homelessness 

We have a duty to secure accommodation or 

take reasonable steps to ensure that 

accommodation does not cease to be 

available  
Do you have a local 

connection? 

YES 

If you have a local connection with another 

authority, we can refer you to them, 

provided there is no risk of violence to you 

We have a duty to re-

house you  

Agenda Item 6

Page 66



Page 55 of 69 

 

Eligibility 

 

Applicants are not eligible for housing assistance if they... 

• do not have full rights to live in the UK because of their immigration status 

• are not considered to be ‘habitual’ resident in the UK, even if a British citizen 

 

 

Homeless/threatened with homelessness 

Applicants are classed as homeless if they... 

• have no accommodation in the UK or elsewhere that is available for occupation and that they 

have a legal right to occupy 

• have accommodation but cannot secure entry to it 

• have accommodation but it is a moveable structure, for example, a caravan or houseboat, and 

have no place to put it or moor it, where it can be lived in 

• have accommodation but it would not be reasonable for them to occupy it 

 

Applicants are classed as being threatened with homelessness if they... 

• are likely to become homeless within the next 28 days 

 

Priority Need 
Applicants are in priority need if... 

• they are pregnant or if dependent children live, or might reasonably be expected to live with 

them 

• they have become homeless or are threatened with homelessness as a result of a flood, fire or 

other disaster 

• they are aged 16 or 17 

• they are 20 or under and a former relevant child (see below for definition) 

• they are over 21 and are vulnerable as a result of having been looked after, accommodated or 

fostered at some time in their life 

• they are vulnerable due to ‘old age, mental illness, handicap, physical disability or other special 

reason 

• they are vulnerable as a result of having been a member of Her Majesty’s regular navy, military 

or armed forces 

• they are vulnerable as a result of ceasing to occupy accommodation because of violence or 

harassment from another person or threats of violence from another person that are likely to be 

carried out 

 

The only exceptions to these are, if they are a:  

‘Relevant Child’ - if they are 16 or 17 and were in care for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14 

and were looked after on their 16th birthday.  

‘Relevant Student’ - a former relevant child in full time education and their term time 

accommodation is not available to them during a vacation.  

‘Child in need’ - if a duty is owed to them under the Children Act 1989. 

 

 

Intentionality 
Applicants are considered intentionally homeless if they... 

a) deliberately did or did not do something 

b) which caused them to leave housing which they would otherwise have stayed in 

c) and it would have been reasonable to stay there 

All these points must apply. 

 

Local Connection 
Applicants have a local connection if they... 

• have lived in the area by choice for a certain time (usually for 6 of the last 12 months or 3 of the 

last 5 years) 

• have a family connection in the area 

• work in the area 

• have a connection with the area for ‘another special reason’ 

Agenda Item 6

Page 67



P
a

g
e

 5
6

 o
f 

6
9

 

A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 F
iv

e
: 

K
e
y
 d

a
ta

 a
n

d
 t

r
e
n

d
s
 i

n
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s
 b

y
 l

o
c
a
l 

a
u

th
o
r
it

y
 a

r
e
a
  

 

0

0
.1

0
.2

0
.3

0
.4

0
.5

0
.6

0
.7

0
.8

0
.9

H
o

m
e

le
ss

, 
in

p
ri

o
ri

ty

n
e

e
d

In
te

n
ti

o
n

a
ll

y

h
o

m
e

le
ss

N
o

t 
in

P
ri

o
ri

ty

N
e

e
d

N
o

t

h
o

m
e

le
ss

In
e

lig
ib

le
H

o
m

e
le

ss

, 
in

p
ri

o
ri

ty

n
e

e
d

In
te

n
ti

o
n

a
ll

y

h
o

m
e

le
ss

N
o

t 
in

P
ri

o
ri

ty

N
e

e
d

N
o

t

h
o

m
e

le
ss

In
e

lig
ib

le
H

o
m

e
le

ss

, 
in

p
ri

o
ri

ty

n
e

e
d

In
te

n
ti

o
n

a
ll

y

h
o

m
e

le
ss

N
o

t 
in

P
ri

o
ri

ty

N
e

e
d

N
o

t

h
o

m
e

le
ss

In
e

lig
ib

le

T
o

n
b

ri
d

g
e

 a
n

d
 M

a
ll

in
g

T
u

n
b

ri
d

g
e

 W
e

lls
S

e
ve

n
o

a
ks

2
0

0
6

/0
7

7
7

%
5

%
1

0
%

9
%

0
%

5
1

%
6

%
1

9
%

2
4

%
0

%
6

3
%

3
%

1
5

%
1

8
%

0
%

2
0

0
7

/0
8

7
7

%
5

%
6

%
1

2
%

0
%

5
2

%
1

0
%

1
5

%
2

2
%

0
%

7
8

%
5

%
2

%
1

5
%

0
%

2
0

0
8

/0
9

4
8

%
1

6
%

1
5

%
2

1
%

0
%

5
6

%
2

%
1

2
%

3
0

%
0

%
8

1
%

2
%

5
%

1
1

%
0

%

2
0

0
9

/2
0

1
0

3
3

%
1

5
%

2
2

%
2

8
%

2
%

5
1

%
3

%
1

5
%

2
8

%
2

%
6

8
%

5
%

5
%

2
1

%
0

%

A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 5

a
: 

O
u

tc
o

m
e

s 
o

f 
d

e
ci

si
o

n
s 

2
0

0
6

-2
0

1
0

  

2
0

0
6

/0
7

2
0

0
7

/0
8

2
0

0
8

/0
9

2
0

0
9

/2
0

1
0

Agenda Item 6

Page 68



P
a

g
e

 5
7

 o
f 

6
9

 

 A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 5
b

: 
R

e
a
s
o

n
s
 f

o
r
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s
 2

0
0

7
-2

0
1

1
 b

y
 b

o
r
o

u
g

h
  

 
T

o
n

b
ri

d
g

e
 a

n
d

 M
a

ll
in

g
 

 
T

u
n

b
ri

d
g

e
 W

e
ll

s 
 

 
S

e
v

e
n

o
a

k
s 

 
2

0
0

7
/8

 
2

0
0

8
/9

 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

 
2

0
0

7
/8

 
2

0
0

8
/9

 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

 
2

0
0

7
/8

 
2

0
0

8
/9

 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

P
a
r
e
n

ts
 u

n
w

il
li

n
g

/
u

n
a
b

le
 

to
 a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
te

 
6

0
 

7
 

1
1

 
2

0
 

 
2

1
 

2
3

 
1

1
 

8
 

 
3

8
 

4
5

 
1

8
 

1
8

 

R
e
la

ti
v
e
s
/
fr

ie
n

d
s
 

u
n

w
il

li
n

g
/

u
n

a
b

le
 t

o
 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o

d
a
te

 
1

1
 

5
 

4
 

4
 

 
5

 
1

1
 

1
 

6
 

 
9

 
1

2
 

4
 

6
 

N
o
n

-v
io

le
n

t 
r
e
la

ti
o
n

s
h

ip
 

b
r
e
a
k
d

o
w

n
  

2
5

 
1

 
6

 
1

6
 

 
5

 
3

 
2

 
2

 
 

3
 

3
 

1
 

2
 

V
io

le
n

t 
b

r
e
a
k
d

o
w

n
 o

f 
r
e
la

ti
o
n

s
h

ip
 

1
6

 
6

 
5

 
1

2
 

 
1

4
 

8
 

7
 

6
 

 
7

 
6

 
5

 
1

0
 

O
th

e
r
 f

o
r
m

s
 o

f 
v
io

le
n

c
e
/

h
a
r
a
s
s
m

e
n

t 
3

 
1

 
2

 
6

 
 

8
 

4
 

7
 

4
 

 
3

 
1

 
1

 
0

 

M
o
r
tg

a
g

e
 d

e
fa

u
lt

 
9

 
3

 
0

 
2

 
 

1
 

1
 

1
 

2
 

 
3

 
9

 
2

 
0

 

R
e
n

t 
a
r
r
e
a
r
s
  

0
 

1
 

0
 

0
 

 
3

 
1

 
1

 
2

 
 

0
 

5
 

0
 

6
 

T
e
r
m

in
a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

a
s
s
u

r
e
d

 
s
h

o
r
t 

h
o
ld

 t
e
n

a
n

c
y
 

3
8

 
3

 
2

 
1

0
 

 
1

3
 

9
 

9
 

8
 

 
1

9
 

9
 

7
 

4
 

R
e
a
s
o
n

s
 o

th
e
r
 t

h
a
n

 

te
r
m

in
a
ti

o
n

 o
f 

A
S

T
 

6
 

4
 

0
 

2
 

 
  

  
2

 
2

 
 

9
 

2
 

0
 

4
 

L
e
ft

 h
o
s
p

it
a
l 

0
 

0
 

2
 

0
 

 
1

 
0

 
1

 
0

 
 

1
 

1
 

2
 

0
 

L
e
ft

 o
th

e
r
 i

n
s
ti

tu
ti

o
n

 o
r
 L

A
 

c
a
r
e
 

2
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

 
3

 
3

 
0

 
0

 
 

3
 

3
 

1
 

2
 

O
th

e
r
 

3
 

1
 

0
 

0
 

 
1

1
 

1
0

 
2

 
0

 
 

7
 

4
 

0
 

4
 

T
o
ta

l 
1

7
3

 
3

2
 

3
2

 
7

2
 

 
8

5
 

7
3

 
4

4
 

4
0

 
 

1
0

2
 

1
0

0
 

4
1

 
5

6
 

‘*
 f

ig
u

r
e
s
 f

o
r
 2

0
1

0
/

1
1

 p
r
o

je
c
te

d
 f

r
o

m
 Q

1
/

2
 f

ig
u

r
e
s
 

 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 69



P
a

g
e

 5
8

 o
f 

6
9

 

 A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 5
c
: 

A
g

e
 o

f 
a
p

p
li

c
a
n

ts
 a

c
c
e
p

te
d

 a
s
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
T

o
n

b
ri

d
g

e
 a

n
d

 M
a

ll
in

g
 

 
1

6
-2

4
 

2
5

-4
4

 
4

5
-5

9
 

6
0

-6
4

 
6

5
-7

4
 

7
5

+
 

T
o

ta
l 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 
7

6
 

7
7

 
1

4
 

1
 

1
 

4
 

1
7

3
 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 
1

6
 

1
4

 
1

 
1

 
0

 
0

 
3

2
 

2
0

0
9

/2
0

1
0

 
1

5
 

1
4

 
2

 
0

 
0

 
1

 
3

2
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

2
8

 
3

2
 

1
0

 
0

 
0

 
2

 
7

2
 

 

 
T

u
n

b
ri

d
g

e
 W

e
ll

s 

 
1

6
-2

4
 

2
5

-4
4

 
4

5
-5

9
 

6
0

-6
4

 
6

5
-7

4
 

7
5

+
 

T
o

ta
l 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 
3

5
 

3
7

 
8

 
0

 
0

 
5

 
8

5
 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 
2

9
 

3
6

 
3

 
1

 
0

 
4

 
7

3
 

2
0

0
9

/2
0

1
0

 
1

9
 

1
6

 
6

 
2

 
0

 
1

 
4

4
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

1
8

 
1

4
 

8
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

4
0

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
S

e
v

e
n

o
a

k
s 

 
1

6
-2

4
 

2
5

-4
4

 
4

5
-5

9
 

6
0

-6
4

 
6

5
-7

4
 

7
5

+
 

T
o

ta
l 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 
5

1
 

3
9

 
1

1
 

0
 

1
 

0
 

1
0

2
 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 
5

5
 

3
3

 
9

 
3

 
0

 
0

 
1

0
0

 

2
0

0
9

/2
0

1
0

 
2

7
 

1
6

 
4

 
3

 
0

 
0

 
5

0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

2
4

 
3

0
 

2
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

5
6

 

‘*
 f

ig
u

r
e
s
 f

o
r
 2

0
1

0
/

1
1

 p
r
o

je
c
te

d
 f

r
o

m
 Q

1
/

2
 f

ig
u

r
e
s
 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 70



P
a

g
e

 5
9

 o
f 

6
9

 

 A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 5
d

: 
P

r
io

r
it

y
 N

e
e
d

s
 G

r
o

u
p

 2
0

0
7

-
2

0
1

1
 

 
T

o
n

b
ri

d
g

e
 a

n
d

 M
a

ll
in

g
 

T
u

n
b

ri
d

g
e

 W
e

ll
s 

 
S

e
v

e
n

o
a

k
s 

 
2

0
0

7
/8

 
2

0
0

8
/9

 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

2
0

0
7

/8
 

2
0

0
8

/9
 

2
0

0
9

/1
0

 
2

0
1

0
/1

1
*

 
2

0
0

7
/8

 
2

0
0

8
/9

 
2

0
0

9
/1

0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

E
m

e
rg

e
n

cy
  

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

D
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

t 
ch

il
d

re
n

 
9

9
 

1
8

 
1

5
 

4
8

 
4

7
 

3
3

 
2

7
 

2
2

 
5

6
 

4
9

 
3

0
 

3
8

 

P
re

g
n

a
n

cy
  

3
8

 
6

 
5

 
2

 
1

3
 

1
2

 
5

 
2

 
2

4
 

2
3

 
1

0
 

1
0

 

1
6

-1
7

 y
e

a
r 

o
ld

 
5

 
1

 
2

 
4

 
6

 
7

 
3

 
4

 
5

 
7

 
3

 
0

 

C
a

re
 l

e
a

v
e

r 
1

8
-2

0
 

1
 

1
 

0
 

0
 

1
 

2
 

1
 

0
 

2
 

2
 

1
 

0
 

O
ld

 a
g

e
 

2
 

0
 

1
 

2
 

0
 

0
 

1
 

0
 

3
 

3
 

1
 

2
 

P
h

y
si

ca
l 

d
is

a
b

il
it

y
 

8
 

4
 

2
 

4
 

3
 

3
 

3
 

4
 

5
 

8
 

4
 

4
 

M
e

n
ta

l 
il

ln
e

ss
 o

r 
d

is
a

b
il

it
y

 
6

 
2

 
6

 
1

0
 

9
 

6
 

2
 

6
 

4
 

5
 

1
 

2
 

O
th

e
r 

(d
ru

g
/a

lc
o

h
o

l 

d
e

p
e

n
d

e
n

cy
) 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

1
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

1
 

0
 

0
 

V
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 =

 c
a

re
 l

e
a

v
e

r 
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

2
 

0
 

2
 

0
 

2
 

0
 

0
 

V
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 -

 H
M

 f
o

rc
e

s 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 

V
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 -

 c
u

st
o

d
y

/r
e

m
a

n
d

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
0

 
1

 
0

 
0

 
0

 

V
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
 -

 v
io

le
n

ce
  

1
4

 
0

 
1

 
2

 
6

 
7

 
2

 
0

 
1

 
0

 
0

 
0

 

O
f 

w
h

ic
h

: 
 a

. 
d

o
m

e
st

ic
 v

io
le

n
ce

 
1

2
 

0
 

1
 

2
 

6
 

7
 

2
 

0
 

1
 

0
 

0
 

0
 

T
o

ta
l 

1
7

3
 

3
2

 
3

2
 

7
2

 
8

5
 

7
3

 
4

4
 

4
0

 
1

0
1

 
1

0
0

 
5

0
 

5
6

 

 
D

a
ta

 s
o

u
rc

e
: 

P
1

E
 f

o
rm

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 ‘
*

 f
ig

u
r
e
s
 f

o
r
 2

0
1

0
/

1
1

 p
r
o

je
c
te

d
 f

r
o

m
 Q

1
/

2
 f

ig
u

r
e
s
 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 71



P
a

g
e

 6
0

 o
f 6

9
 

 A
p

p
e

n
d

ix
 5

e
: H

o
u

se
h

o
ld

 T
y

p
e

, a
p

p
lica

n
ts a

cce
p

te
d

 a
s h

o
m

e
le

ss 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
T

o
n

b
rid

g
e

 a
n

d
 M

a
llin

g
 

 
 

T
u

n
b

rid
g

e
 W

e
lls 

 
S

e
v

e
n

o
a

k
s 

Y
e

a
r 

Couple with dep children 

Lone parent with Dep children 

(male) 

Lone parent with Dep children 

(female) 

1-person household (male) 

1-person household (female) 

All other households 

Total 

 
 

Couple with dependent children 

Lone parent with Dep children 

(male) 

Lone parent with Dep children 

(female) 

1-person household (male) 

1-person household (female) 

All other households 

Total 

 

Couple with dependent children 

Lone parent with Dep children 

(male) 

Lone parent with Dep children 

(female) 

1-person household (male) 

1-person household (female) 

All other households 

Total 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 
2

3
 

1
3

 
1

0
1

 
1

3
 

9
 

1
4

 
1

7
3

 
 

 
1

9
 

5
 

3
4

 
1

3
 

1
1

 
2

 
8

4
 

 
2

4
 

1
 

5
3

 
1

3
 

7
 

4
 

1
0

2
 

2
0

0
8

/0
9

 
1

0
 

1
 

1
3

 
5

 
2

 
1

 
3

2
 

 
 

1
7

 
3

 
2

5
 

2
0

 
8

 
0

 
7

3
 

 
2

4
 

3
 

4
1

 
1

5
 

1
1

 
6

 
1

0
0

 

2
0

0
9

/2
0

1
0

 
6

 
1

 
1

2
 

5
 

5
 

3
 

3
2

 
 

 
1

3
 

1
 

1
8

 
3

 
5

 
4

 
4

4
 

 
1

4
 

1
 

2
4

 
3

 
5

 
3

 
5

0
 

2
0

1
0

/1
1

*
 

1
0

 
6

 
3

4
 

4
 

8
 

1
0

 
7

2
 

 
 

1
0

 
2

 
1

2
 

6
 

6
 

4
 

4
0

 
 

2
8

 
2

 
1

8
 

2
 

2
 

4
 

5
6

 

 
D

a
ta

 so
u

rce
: P

1
E

 fo
rm

s 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

‘*
 fig

u
r
e
s
 fo

r
 2

0
1

0
/

1
1

 p
r
o

je
c
te

d
 fr

o
m

 Q
1

/
2

 fig
u

r
e
s
 

  

Agenda Item 6

Page 72



 

Page 61 of 69 

 

Appendix Six: Overview of the West Kent Homeless Teams  

Sevenoaks District Council 

The Social Housing Team is led by a dedicated Service Manager.  There are 3 Housing Officers 

responsible for delivering the Homelessness Prevention and Advice service (one a temporary, 

externally funded post) while a further Housing Officer delivers the Council’s Private Sector 

Lettings Scheme which offers rent in advance, loans and deposit guarantee bonds to help people 

secure private lets.  The team is supported by one shared administrative officer.  

 
SDC attracted external funding to the HERO Project which employs 1 specialist worker to provide 

holistic advice covering housing, saving money on fuel bills, debt, welfare benefits, retraining and 

further education options, getting back to work, business start up.  

 

 

Tonbridge & Malling BC 

The housing options service was brought back in house in April 2008, having previously been 

managed by Russet Homes. The Housing Options Team is led by a dedicated Housing Options 

Team Manager (a post shared with a neighbouring authority) and consists of three Housing 

Options Officers responsible for delivering the Homelessness Prevention and Advice service, plus 

administrative support.   The recruitment of a fourth Housing Options Officer for a period of 12 

months was approved at the end of 2010. 

 

  

Head of 
Housing  

Housing 
Manager 

Housing  

Officer 

Housing  

Officer 

 HERO Officer 
(CLG funded  

to 06/11) 

Admin Officer 
(1/2) 

Housing Officer 

(PSL/Rent 
Deposits) 

Housing Officer 
(Homeless Fund 
funded 4 yrs) 

Chief Housing 
Officer 

Housing Needs 
Manager 

Housing 
Options Team 

Manager 

Housing 
Options Officer 

Housing 
Options Officer 

Housing 
Options Officer 

Agenda Item 6

Page 73



 

Page 62 of 69 

 

Tunbridge Wells BC 

The team operates from the Town Hall in Tunbridge Wells and is led by a Housing Options Manager 

and consists of 4 Housing Options Advisors and one trainee delivering the Homelessness 

Prevention and advice. 

  

 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 

Housing Options 
Manager 

Housing Options 
Advisor 

Housing Options 
Advisor 

Housing Options 
Advisor 

Housing Options 
Advisor (p/t) 

Trainee Housing 
Options Advisor 

Agenda Item 6

Page 74



 

P
a

g
e

 6
3

 o
f 

6
9

 

 A
P

P
E
N

D
I
X

 7
: 

A
C

T
I
O

N
 P

L
A

N
: 

J
u

ly
 2

0
1

1
-J

u
n

e
 2

0
1

3
 

 

S
T
R

A
T
E
G

I
C

 P
R

I
O

R
I
T
Y

 O
N

E
: 

M
A

X
I
M

I
S

I
N

G
 H

O
M

E
L
E
S

S
N

E
S

S
 P

R
E
V

E
N

T
I
O

N
 T

H
R

O
U

G
H

 A
N

 E
N

H
A

N
C

E
D

 

H
O

U
S

I
N

G
 O

P
T
I
O

N
S

 S
E
R

V
I
C

E
  

B
y
 2

0
1

6
, 

o
u

r
 g

o
a
l 

is
 t

o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 h
ig

h
ly

 e
ff

e
c
ti

v
e
, 

p
e
r
s
o

n
a
li
s
e
d

 h
o

u
s
in

g
 o

p
ti

o
n

s
 s

e
r
v
ic

e
 t

h
a
t 

e
m

p
o

w
e
r
s
 

c
u

s
to

m
e
r
s
 t

o
 m

a
k
e
 t

h
e
 b

e
s
t 

c
h

o
ic

e
s
 f

o
r
 t

h
e
m

s
e
lv

e
s
  

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e
  

 

A
c
ti

o
n

s
 

 

T
im

e
 s

c
a
le

 
L
e
a
d

 &
 k

e
y
 p

a
r
tn

e
r
s
 

T
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

w
e
 f

u
ll
y
 

u
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 a

n
a
ly

s
e
 

e
m

e
rg

in
g
 t

re
n
d
s
 i
n
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
a
t 

c
h
a
n
g
in

g
 d

e
m

a
n
d
s
 o

n
 t

h
e
 

s
e
rv

ic
e
 a

re
 u

n
d
e
rs

to
o
d
 

a
n
d
 p

la
n
n
e
d
 f
o
r 

 

 

1
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 f
o
rm

a
t 

a
n
d
 t

im
e
ta

b
le

 f
o
r 

u
n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 j
o
in

t 
c
u
s
to

m
e
r 

s
u
rv

e
y
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 a

 R
o
u
g
h
 S

le
e
p
e
r 

c
o
u
n
t 

 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

2
. 

U
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 H

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 P

re
v
e
n
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 A

d
v
ic

e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
r 

m
o
d
u
le

, 
d
e
v
e
lo

p
 f

o
rm

a
t 

fo
r 

c
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
 o

f 
d
a
ta

 o
n
 n

o
n
-p

ri
o
ri

ty
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 c

a
s
e
s
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

3
. 

R
e
v
ie

w
 f
o
rm

a
t 

fo
r 

c
o
ll
e
c
ti
n
g
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

fe
e
d
b
a
c
k
, 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 a

 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

is
e
d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 t

h
re

e
 a

u
th

o
ri
ti
e
s
  

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

T
o
 e

n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 

o
f 

c
u
ts

 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 a
n
d
 

o
th

e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

re
 

u
n
d
e
rs

to
o
d
 b

y
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 

O
p
ti
o
n
s
 T

e
a
m

s
, 

c
u
s
to

m
e
rs

 

a
n
d
 s

ta
k
e
h
o
ld

e
rs

, 
a
n
d
 

p
ri

o
ri

ti
s
e
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 

a
c
c
o
rd

in
g
ly

 

4
. 

M
o
n
it
o
r 

c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 i
n
 l
e
g
is

la
ti
o
n
 a

n
d
 e

m
e
rg

in
g
 G

o
v
e
rn

m
e
n
t 

p
o
li
c
y
, 

a
n
a
ly

s
in

g
 i
m

p
a
c
ts

 o
n
 W

e
s
t 

K
e
n
t 

  

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

/S
tr

a
te

g
y
 &

 

E
n
a
b
li
n
g
 M

a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

5
. 

W
o
rk

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h
 s

ta
tu

to
ry

 a
n
d
 v

o
lu

n
ta

ry
 a

g
e
n
c
ie

s
 t

o
 m

in
im

is
e
 

th
e
 i
m

p
a
c
t 

o
f 

s
a
v
in

g
s
 t

o
 b

e
 m

a
d
e
  

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

G
ro

u
p
 

T
o
 h

o
n
e
 o

u
r 

‘p
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n
 

to
o
lk

it
’,
 e

n
s
u
ri

n
g
 t

h
a
t 

w
e
 

a
re

 m
a
x
im

is
in

g
 t

h
e
 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 t

h
a
t 

a
re

 a
v
a
il
a
b
le

 

a
n
d
 m

a
k
in

g
 b

e
s
t 

u
s
e
 o

f 

a
v
a
il
a
b
le

 t
e
c
h
n
iq

u
e
s
 a

n
d
 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
 

 

6
. 

R
e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 e

x
p
a
n
d
 o

u
r 

p
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n
 t

o
o
lk

it
  

 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

7
. 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 m

e
d
ia

ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f

o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 f
a
c
in

g
 e

v
ic

ti
o
n
 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 

fa
m

il
y
 h

o
m

e
 (

N
B
: 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
tr

a
in

in
g
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 m

a
y
 b

e
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
d
) 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

8
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 f
o
r 

th
e
 t

h
re

e
 t

e
a
m

s
 t

o
 s

h
a
re

 b
e
s
t 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
 m

o
re

 e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e
ly

 a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 t

h
e
 s

k
il
l 
s
e
ts

 w
it
h
in

 t
h
e
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 O

p
ti
o
n
s
 T

e
a
m

s
  

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

9
. 

In
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 c
a
s
e
s
, 

p
ro

m
o
te

 t
h
e
 t

a
k
e
-u

p
 o

f 
D

is
a
b
le

d
 

F
a
c
il
it
ie

s
 G

ra
n
ts

 t
o
 a

d
a
p
t 

p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 a

n
d
 p

re
v
e
n
t 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 &
 P

ri
v
a
te

 

S
e
c
to

r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 T

e
a
m

s
 

1
0
. 

P
ro

m
o
te

 t
h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
c
o
u
rt

 d
e
s
k
s
 t

o
 a

d
v
is

e
/a

s
s
is

t 
c
u
s
to

m
e
rs

 
O

n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 75



 

P
a

g
e

 6
4

 o
f 

6
9

 

 

a
tt

e
n
d
in

g
 p

o
s
s
e
s
s
io

n
 h

e
a
ri

n
g
s
  
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 &
 

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

G
ro

u
p
 

1
1
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t

o
 r

e
fe

r 
p
e
o
p
le

 t
o
 C

A
B
 f

o
r 

a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 d

e
b
t 

a
d
v
ic

e
 s

o
 t

h
e
y
 c

a
n
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 s

p
e
c
ia

li
s
t 

a
s
s
is

ta
n
c
e
 w

it
h
 d

e
b
ts

 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

1
2
. 

F
in

a
li
s
e
 d

ra
ft

 R
e
n
t 

A
rr

e
a
rs

 P
ro

to
c
o
l 
a
n
d
 s

e
c
u
re

 t
h
e
 

c
o
m

m
it
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
o
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 

in
 a

ll
 r

e
le

v
a
n
t 

c
a
s
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

1
3
. 

P
ro

v
id

e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 t

ra
in

in
g
 t

o
 s

ta
ff
 f

ro
m

 t
h
e
 W

e
lf
a
re

 

A
d
v
ic

e
 S

e
rv

ic
e
 t

o
 e

n
a
b
le

 t
h
e
m

 t
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

 c
o
m

b
in

e
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

a
n
d
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 s
u
rg

e
ry

 t
o
 c

u
s
to

m
e
rs

 a
t 

th
e
 T

o
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 G

a
te

w
a
y
 

(N
B
: 

fu
n
d
e
d
 t

o
 M

a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
) 

Ju
ly

 2
0
1
1
 

T
o
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 &

 M
a
ll
in

g
 

B
o
ro

u
g
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il
 

T
o
 p

ro
v
id

e
 c

le
a
r 

a
n
d
 

ti
m

e
ly

 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 

p
e
o
p
le

 t
h
re

a
te

n
e
d
 w

it
h
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 s

o
 t

h
a
t 

th
e
y
 

a
re

 f
u
ll
y
 a

w
a
re

 o
f 
th

e
ir

 

o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 c

a
n
 m

a
k
e
 

re
a
li
s
ti
c
 c

h
o
ic

e
s
  

 

1
4
. 

M
o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
 o

f 
P
o
rc

h
li
g
h
t’
s
 c

o
u
n
ty

-w
id

e
 e

d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 

p
ro

je
c
t 

to
 r

a
is

e
 a

w
a
re

n
e
s
s
 i
n
 s

c
h
o
o
ls

 o
f 

th
e
 r

e
a
li
ti
e
s
 o

f 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 t

h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 m

a
rk

e
t 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

(T
u
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 W

e
ll
s
 B

C
 t

o
 

le
a
d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

in
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le

) 

1
5
. 

R
e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 u

p
d
a
te

 t
h
e
 c

o
n
te

n
t 

a
n
d
 f

o
rm

a
t 

o
f 
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

th
a
t 

is
 p

ro
v
id

e
d
 t

o
 c

u
s
to

m
e
rs

 (
v
ia

 w
e
b
s
it
e
s
, 

le
a
fl
e
ts

 &
 g

e
n
e
ra

l 

c
o
rr

e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
c
e
),

 e
n
s
u
ri

n
g
 a

ll
 w

ri
tt

e
n
 d

o
c
u
m

e
n
ts

 h
a
v
e
 a

 f
o
g
 

in
d
e
x
 r

e
a
d
a
b
il
it
y
 o

f 
b
e
tw

e
e
n
 8

 a
n
d
 1

2
 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 

T
o
 b

u
il
d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 H

E
R

O
 

p
ro

je
c
t,

 d
e
v
e
lo

p
 m

o
re

 

h
o
li
s
ti
c
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
e
s
 t

o
 

p
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n
 t

h
a
t 

ta
c
k
le

 t
h
e
 

u
n
d
e
rl

y
in

g
 c

a
u
s
e
s
 o

f 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
  

1
6
. 

E
n
c
o
u
ra

g
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
e
m

p
lo

y
m

e
n
t 

fo
r 

lo
w

-p
a
id

 w
o
rk

e
rs

 s
o
 t

h
a
t 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 a
re

 a
b
le

 t
o
 s

ta
y
 i
n
 t

h
e
 d

is
tr

ic
ts

 f
o
r 

w
o
rk

  
(N

B
: 

A
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
fu

n
d
in

g
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 t

w
e
lv

e
 m

o
n
th

s
 t

o
 J

u
n
e
 2

0
1
2
)
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s
 D

is
tr

ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il
 

1
7
. 

E
x
te

n
d
 t

h
e
 H

E
R
O

 m
o
d
e
l 
to

 o
ff

e
r 

a
d
v
ic

e
 o

n
 j

o
b
s
, 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 a
n
d
 

s
k
il
ls

  
 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 76



 

P
a

g
e

 6
5

 o
f 

6
9

 

 S
T
R

A
T
E
G

I
C

 P
R

I
O

R
I
T
Y

 T
W

O
: 

M
A

X
I
M

I
S

I
N

G
 R

E
S

O
U

R
C

E
S

 A
C

R
O

S
S

 W
E

S
T

 K
E
N

T
 (

B
E

C
O

M
I
N

G
 M

O
R

E
 E

F
F
I
C

I
E
N

T
 

A
N

D
 E

F
F
E
C

T
I
V

E
)
  

B
y
 2

0
1

6
, 

o
u

r
 g

o
a
l 

is
 t

o
 d

e
li
v
e
r
 a

 m
o

r
e
 e

ff
e
c
ti

v
e
 s

e
r
v
ic

e
 u

s
in

g
 f

e
w

e
r
 r

e
s
o

u
r
c
e
s
  

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e
  

 

A
c
ti

o
n

s
 

 

T
im

e
 s

c
a
le

 
L
e
a
d

 &
 k

e
y
 p

a
r
tn

e
r
s
 

T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 o
p
p
o
rt

u
n
it
ie

s
 t

o
 

s
h
a
re

 r
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
, 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 e

x
p
e
rt

is
e
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 

th
re

e
 a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
, 

a
n
d
 

m
o
re

 w
id

e
ly

  

1
8
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

s
h
a
ri

n
g
 g

o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
 a

n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
in

g
 

s
h
a
re

d
 i
n
it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 a

c
ro

s
s
 t

h
e
 t

h
re

e
 a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
 (

o
r 

m
o
re

 w
id

e
ly

) 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

1
9
. 

V
ia

 t
h
e
 K

e
n
t 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 O

p
ti
o
n
s
 G

ro
u
p
, 

e
s
ta

b
li
s
h
 r

e
g
u
la

r 
‘g

o
o
d
 

p
ra

c
ti
c
e
’ 
s
e
s
s
io

n
s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 H

o
u
s
in

g
 O

p
ti
o
n
s
 T

e
a
m

s
  

F
ro

m
 S

e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

2
0
. 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 c

ro
s
s
-b

o
ro

u
g
h
 r

e
c
ip

ro
c
a
l 
a
rr

a
n
g
e
m

e
n
ts

 a
n
d
 r

e
fe

rr
a
l 

p
ro

c
e
d
u
re

s
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
 f

o
r 

u
rg

e
n
t 

c
a
s
e
s
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

T
o
 m

a
x
im

is
e
 t

h
e
 e

x
te

rn
a
l 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

v
a
il
a
b
le

 t
o
 

ta
c
k
le

 h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 

 

2
1
. 

M
a
x
im

is
e
 t

h
e
 a

v
a
il
a
b
il
it
y
 o

f 
b
e
n
e
fi
ts

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
: 

§
 

e
a
rl

y
 n

o
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o

f 
c
h
a
n
g
e
s
 t

o
 i
n
d
iv

id
u
a
ls

’ 
c
ir

c
u
m

s
ta

n
c
e
s
; 

§
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t

o
 a

 s
p
e
c
ia

li
s
t 

B
e
n
e
fi
ts

 A
d
v
is

o
r 

to
 a

c
t 

a
s
  

c
h
a
m

p
io

n
 

fo
r 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

; 
 

§
 

h
a
v
in

g
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 p

ro
c
e
d
u
re

s
 i
n
 p

la
c
e
 t

o
 m

a
x
im

is
e
 

D
is

c
re

ti
o
n
a
ry

 H
o
u
s
in

g
 P

a
y
m

e
n
ts

 w
it
h
in

 b
u
d
g
e
t 

§
 

p
ro

v
is

io
n
 o

f 
in

-h
o
u
s
e
 v

e
ri

fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 t

ra
in

in
g
 f
o
r 

s
ta

ff
 i
n
 

b
e
n
e
fi
ts

, 
c
u
s
to

m
e
r 

s
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 n

e
e
d
s
 T

e
a
m

s
. 

  

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

/ 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t 

M
a
n
g
e
rs

 

 

W
it
h
 o

th
e
r 

K
e
n
t 

H
o
m

e
c
h
o
ic

e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

, 

im
p
le

m
e
n
t 

a
 c

o
m

m
o
n
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

fr
a
m

e
w

o
rk

 

a
c
ro

s
s
 K

e
n
t 

2
2
. 

E
v
a
lu

a
te

 t
h
e
 i
m

p
li
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 o

f 
a
 s

h
a
re

d
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 r

e
g
is

te
r 

a
c
ro

s
s
 

W
e
s
t 

K
e
n
t 

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

T
o
 m

a
k
e
 t

h
e
 b

e
s
t 

u
s
e
 o

f 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

to
c
k
, 

in
 

p
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
it
h
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
s
  

 

 

2
3
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
 u

n
d
e
r-

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 w

it
h
 R

S
L
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 

b
a
s
e
d
 o

n
 D

C
L
G

 r
e
v
is

e
d
 p

o
li
c
y
 o

n
 u

n
d
e
r-

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 

T
B
C

 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 &

 

E
n
a
b
li
n
g
 S

u
b
-G

ro
u
p
 

(p
a
rt

 o
f 

K
e
n
t 

H
G

) 

2
4
. 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 t

h
e
 c

o
n
d
it
io

n
 o

f 
th

e
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 s

to
c
k
 a

n
d
 b

ri
n
g
 

b
a
c
k
 l
o
n
g
 t

e
rm

 e
m

p
ty

 p
ro

p
e
rt

ie
s
 b

a
c
k
 i
n
to

 u
s
e
  

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

P
ri

v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 

T
e
a
m

s
 

2
5
. 

M
a
k
e
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 L

o
n
d
o
n
 B

o
ro

u
g
h
s
 t

o
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 t

h
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 

in
c
re

a
s
e
 i
n
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 r

e
s
u
lt
in

g
 f
ro

m
 d

is
p
la

c
e
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

fa
m

il
ie

s
 

fr
o
m

 L
o
n
d
o
n
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

 

T
o
 m

a
x
im

is
e
 t

h
e
 

a
v
a
il
a
b
il
it
y
 o

f 

a
c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 

th
re

a
te

n
e
d
 w

it
h
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
, 

b
o
th

 i
n
 t

h
e
 

s
o
c
ia

l 
a
n
d
 p

ri
v
a
te

 r
e
n
te

d
 

2
6
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 a
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

to
 e

v
a
lu

a
te

 t
h
e
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 o

f 
a
 d

ir
e
c
t 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 

‘c
ra

s
h
 p

a
d
’ 
fa

c
il
it
y
 t

o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 c

ri
s
is

 h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 a

n
d
 a

ll
o
w

 

‘c
o
o
li
n
g
 o

ff
’ 
s
p
a
c
e
 f

o
r 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 (
N

B
: 

It
 i
s
 l
ik

e
ly

 t
h
a
t 

th
e
 

e
v
a
lu

a
ti
o
n
 w

il
l 
id

e
n
ti
fy

 t
h
a
t 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
 w

il
l 
b
e
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
d
 

b
e
fo

re
 a

n
y
 f

a
c
il
it
y
 c

a
n
 a

c
tu

a
ll
y
 b

e
 d

e
li
v
e
re

d
)
 

 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 77



 

P
a

g
e

 6
6

 o
f 

6
9

 

 s
e
c
to

rs
  

 S
T
R

A
T
E
G

I
C

 P
R

I
O

R
I
T
Y

 T
H

R
E
E
: 

W
O

R
K

I
N

G
 E

F
F
E
C

T
I
V

E
L
Y

 W
I
T
H

 P
R

I
V

A
T
E
 S

E
C

T
O

R
  
L
A

N
D

L
O

R
D

S
  

B
y
 2

0
1

6
, 

o
u

r
 g

o
a
l 

is
 t

o
 u

n
d

e
r
s
ta

n
d

 a
n

d
 o

v
e
r
c
o

m
e
 t

h
e
 b

a
r
r
ie

r
s
 t

o
 i
n

c
r
e
a
s
e
d

 p
r
iv

a
te

 s
e
c
to

r
 l

e
tt

in
g

s
 

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e
  

 

A
c
ti

o
n

s
 

 

T
im

e
 s

c
a
le

 
L
e
a
d

 &
 k

e
y
 p

a
r
tn

e
r
s
 

T
o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 p

ri
v
a
te

 

s
e
c
to

r 
la

n
d
lo

rd
s
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 t

h
e
ir

 

p
ri

o
ri

ti
e
s
, 

p
e
rc

e
iv

e
d
 

b
a
rr

ie
rs

 t
o
 l
e
tt

in
g
 t

o
 

te
n
a
n
ts

 o
n
 b

e
n
e
fi
ts

 a
n
d
 t

o
 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 ‘
w

in
-w

in
’ 
c
u
lt
u
re

 

th
a
t 

o
ff

e
rs

 r
e
a
s
s
u
ra

n
c
e
 t

o
 

b
o
th

 p
a
rt

ie
s
 

2
7
. 

E
s
ta

b
li
s
h
 a

 S
te

e
ri

n
g
 G

ro
u
p
 w

it
h
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
la

n
d
lo

rd
s
 i
n
 

o
rd

e
r 

to
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 t

h
e
ir

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
e
s
, 

u
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 o

v
e
rc

o
m

e
 

b
a
rr

ie
rs

 a
n
d
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 ‘
w

in
-w

in
’ 
a
p
p
ro

a
c
h
  

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

T
o
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 &

 M
a
ll
in

g
 

B
o
ro

u
g
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il
  

2
8
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h
e
 W

e
s
t 

K
e
n
t 

P
ri

v
a
te

 L
a
n
d
lo

rd
 F

o
ru

m
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

P
ri

v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 

T
e
a
m

s
 

2
9
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 W
e
s
t 

K
e
n
t 

L
a
n
d
lo

rd
 I

n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 P

a
c
k
  

 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

3
0
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 c
o
m

m
o
n
/s

h
a
re

d
 r

e
n
t 

d
e
p
o
s
it
 s

c
h
e
m

e
 b

e
tw

e
e
n
 t

h
e
 

th
re

e
 a

u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
  

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
3
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

T
o
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 T
e
n
a
n
c
y
 

S
u
s
ta

in
m

e
n
t 

p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e
 

th
a
t 

w
il
l 
e
n
a
b
le

 v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 

re
s
id

e
n
ts

 m
a
in

ta
in

 t
h
e
ir

 

te
n
a
n
c
y
 

3
1
. 

E
x
p
lo

re
 t

h
e
 d

e
v
e
lo

p
m

e
n
t 

o
f 

a
 t

e
n
a
n
c
y
 s

u
s
ta

in
m

e
n
t 

p
a
c
k
a
g
e
 

to
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 t
o
 s

u
s
ta

in
 t

h
e
ir

 p
ri

v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
le

tt
in

g
  

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

3
2
. 

W
h
e
re

 t
e
n
a
n
c
ie

s
 i
n
 t

h
e
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 
a
re

 a
t 

ri
s
k
, 

li
n
k
 

v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 t
e
n
a
n
ts

 t
o
 f
lo

a
ti
n
g
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 s
e
rv

ic
e
s
  

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

T
o
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 l
a
n
d
lo

rd
s
 t

o
 

im
p
ro

v
e
 p

ro
p
e
rt

y
 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

s
 i
n
 p

ri
v
a
te

 s
e
c
to

r 

th
ro

u
g
h
 t

h
e
 A

c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n
 

S
c
h
e
m

e
s
 

3
3
. 

M
a
x
im

is
e
 p

a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 L

a
n
d
lo

rd
 A

c
c
re

d
it
a
ti
o
n
 S

c
h
e
m

e
s
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

P
ri

v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 

T
e
a
m

s
 

3
4
. 

A
s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 
th

e
 r

e
v
ie

w
 a

n
d
 e

x
p
a
n
s
io

n
 o

f 
o
u
r 

p
re

v
e
n
ti
o
n
 t

o
o
lk

it
 

(s
e
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
 1

),
 p

ro
v
id

e
 f
u
e
l 
p
o
v
e
rt

y
 a

d
v
ic

e
 a

s
 p

a
rt

 o
f 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 o

p
ti
o
n
s
 w

o
rk

 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

  
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 78



 

P
a

g
e

 6
7

 o
f 

6
9

 

 S
T
R

A
T
E
G

I
C

 P
R

I
O

R
I
T
Y

 F
O

U
R

: 
C

R
E
A

T
I
N

G
 S

T
R

O
N

G
 P

A
R

T
N

E
R

S
H

I
P

S
 T

O
 T

A
C

K
L
E
 H

O
M

E
L
E
S

S
N

E
S

S
 

B
y
 2

0
1

6
, 

o
u

r
 g

o
a
l 

is
 t

o
 s

tr
e
n

g
th

e
n

 e
x
is

ti
n

g
 p

a
r
tn

e
r
s
h

ip
s
, 

m
a
x
im

is
in

g
 s

y
n

e
r
g

ie
s
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

s
 o

f 
h

o
m

e
le

s
s
 p

e
o

p
le

  
O

b
je

c
ti

v
e
  

 

A
c
ti

o
n

s
 

 

T
im

e
 

s
c
a
le

 

L
e
a
d

 &
 k

e
y
 p

a
r
tn

e
r
s
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 a

 m
a
p
p
in

g
 

e
x
e
rc

is
e
 o

f 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 

o
rg

a
n
is

a
ti
o
n
s
 a

n
d
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 

a
c
ro

s
s
 W

e
s
t 

K
e
n
t,

 c
re

a
ti
n
g
 

a
 s

h
a
re

d
, 

u
p
d
a
ta

b
le

 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
 

3
5
. 

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
e
 j
o
in

t 
s
e
rv

ic
e
 m

a
p
p
in

g
 t

o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 r
o
le

, 
c
li
e
n
t 

g
ro

u
p
(s

),
 e

x
p
e
rt

is
e
 a

n
d
 r

e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 a

m
o
n
g
 a

ll
 a

g
e
n
c
ie

s
 w

o
rk

in
g
 i
n
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 i
n
 W

e
s
t 

K
e
n
t 

 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

T
h
e
 B

ri
d
g
e
 T

ru
s
t 

T
o
 w

o
rk

 m
o
re

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h
 

R
S
L
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

  

3
6
. 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
o
rk

in
g
 a

ro
u
n
d
 h

a
rd

-t
o
-h

o
u
s
e
 t

e
n
a
n
ts

 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 g
ro

u
p
s
 w

it
h
 c

o
m

p
le

x
 n

e
e
d
s
  

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

T
o
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 &

 M
a
ll
in

g
 

B
o
ro

u
g
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il
 

T
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e
 l
in

k
s
 w

it
h
 

p
u
b
li
c
 s

e
c
to

r 
b
o
d
ie

s
  

 

3
7
. 

M
o
n
it
o
r 

e
x
is

ti
n
g
 K

e
n
t-

w
id

e
 p

ro
to

c
o
ls

 (
e
.g

. 
m

e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 

d
is

c
h
a
rg

e
, 

c
a
re

 l
e
a
v
e
rs

 a
n
d
 p

ri
s
o
n
 d

is
c
h
a
rg

e
)
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

3
8
. 

B
u
il
d
 r

e
la

ti
o
n
s
h
ip

s
 w

it
h
 t

h
e
 h

e
a
lt
h
 s

e
c
to

r 
in

c
lu

d
in

g
 t

h
e
 

S
w

a
n
le

y
, 

D
a
rt

fo
rd

 a
n
d
 G

ra
v
e
s
h
a
m

 P
a
th

fi
n
d
e
r 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

3
9
. 

Im
p
ro

v
e
 j
o
in

t 
w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 J

o
b
 C

e
n
tr

e
 P

lu
s
 i
n
 o

rd
e
r 

to
 

m
a
x
im

is
e
 t

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
e
x
is

ti
n
g
 ‘
b
a
c
k
 t

o
 w

o
rk

’ 
s
c
h
e
m

e
s
 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

4
0
. 

A
s
s
is

t 
v
u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 p
e
o
p
le

 t
h
ro

u
g
h
 e

it
h
e
r 

th
e
 J

A
R
S
 P

a
n
e
ls

 

(T
W

B
C
) 

o
r 

th
e
 K

e
n
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
t 

P
ro

c
e
s
s
 (

S
D

C
 a

n
d
 T

M
B
C
) 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

In
c
re

a
s
e
 t

h
e
 e

ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 

a
n
d
 a

c
c
o
u
n
ta

b
il
it
y
 o

f 
th

e
 

H
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

G
ro

u
p
  

 

 

4
1
. 

R
e
v
ie

w
 t

h
e
 o

p
e
ra

ti
o
n
 o

f 
H

S
G

, 
in

c
re

a
s
in

g
 i
ts

 a
c
c
o
u
n
ta

b
il
it
y
 f
o
r 

d
e
li
v
e
ry

 o
f 

th
e
 s

tr
a
te

g
y
 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

4
2
. 

E
s
ta

b
li
s
h
in

g
 t

h
e
m

e
d
 s

u
b
-g

ro
u
p
s
 w

it
h
 r

e
s
p
o
n
s
ib

il
it
y
 f
o
r 

d
e
li
v
e
ri

n
g
 s

tr
a
te

g
ic

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
e
s
  

4
3
. 

U
n
d
e
rt

a
k
in

g
 s

h
a
re

d
 t

ra
in

in
g
 a

n
d
 s

h
a
ri
n
g
 o

f 
g
o
o
d
 p

ra
c
ti
c
e
  

  
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 79



 

P
a

g
e

 6
8

 o
f 

6
9

 

 S
T
R

A
T
E
G

I
C

 P
R

I
O

R
I
T
Y

 F
I
V

E
: 

M
E
E
T
I
N

G
 T

H
E
 D

I
V

E
R

S
E
 N

E
E
D

S
 O

F
 H

O
M

E
L
E
S

S
 P

E
O

P
L
E
  

 

B
y
 2

0
1

6
, 

o
u

r
 g

o
a
l 

is
 t

o
 u

n
d

e
r
s
ta

n
d

 a
n

d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d

s
 o

f 
th

e
 d

iv
e
r
s
e
 r

a
n

g
e
 o

f 
g

r
o

u
p

s
 a

ff
e
c
te

d
 b

y
 

h
o

m
e
le

s
s
n

e
s
s
 

O
b

je
c
ti

v
e
  

 

A
c
ti

o
n

s
 

 

T
im

e
 

s
c
a
le

 

L
e
a
d

 &
 k

e
y
 p

a
r
tn

e
r
s
 

T
o
 g

a
in

 d
e
e
p
e
r 

in
s
ig

h
t 

in
to

 

th
e
 c

u
s
to

m
e
r 

e
x
p
e
ri

e
n
c
e
 

to
 h

e
lp

 u
s
 t

o
 a

c
h
ie

v
e
 

p
e
rs

o
n
a
li
s
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 

d
e
li
v
e
ry

 t
o
 f

u
ll
y
 a

d
d
re

s
s
 

e
q
u
a
li
ty

 a
n
d
 d

iv
e
rs

it
y
 

m
a
tt

e
rs

 

4
4
. 

In
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te

 t
h
e
 p

o
te

n
ti
a
l 
fo

r,
 a

n
d
 m

e
a
n
s
 o

f,
 u

s
in

g
 t

h
e
 K

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 M

e
d
w

a
y
 M

O
S
A
IC

 c
la

s
s
if
ic

a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 t

a
rg

e
t 

g
ro

u
p
s
 w

it
h
 a

d
v
ic

e
 

a
n
d
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 a

b
o
u
t 

p
re

v
e
n
ti
n
g
 h

o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

4
5
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 s
ta

ff
 w

it
h
in

 t
h
e
 W

e
s
t 

K
e
n
t 

a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 w

h
o
 a

re
 a

b
le

 t
o
 a

s
s
is

t 
w

it
h
 t

ra
n
s
la

ti
o
n
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 f

o
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
h
o
s
e
 f
ir

s
t 

la
n
g
u
a
g
e
 i
s
 n

o
t 

E
n
g
li
s
h
 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

4
6
. 

A
t 

s
ix

 m
o
n
th

ly
 i
n
te

rv
a
ls

, 
a
n
a
ly

s
e
 r

e
a
s
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 

a
g
a
in

s
t 

p
ro

te
c
te

d
 e

q
u
a
li
ty

 c
h
a
ra

c
te

ri
s
ti
c
s
  

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

a
n
d
 

M
a
rc

h
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
y
o
u
n
g
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 p

e
o
p
le

  

 

4
7
. 

U
s
in

g
 t

h
e
 K

e
n
t-

w
id

e
 Y

o
u
n
g
 P

e
rs

o
n
’s

 P
ro

to
c
o
l,
 w

o
rk

  
w

it
h
 

C
h
il
d
re

n
’s

 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 d

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n
ts

 t
o
 a

s
s
is

t 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 1

6
/1

7
 y

e
a
r 

o
ld

s
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

4
8
. 

S
ig

n
p
o
s
t 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 l
it
e
ra

c
y
 a

n
d
 n

u
m

e
ra

c
y
 c

la
s
s
e
s
 

w
h
e
re

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

4
9
. 

P
ro

m
o
te

 a
n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 t
o
 a

c
c
e
s
s
 t

e
n
a
n
c
y
 

s
u
s
ta

in
m

e
n
t 

c
o
u
rs

e
s
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

5
0
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 o

f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt

e
d
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

y
o
u
n
g
 p

e
o
p
le

 i
n
 T

u
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 W

e
ll
s
 a

n
d
 S

e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s
 

T
B
C

 
T
u
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 W

e
ll
s
 B

C
 &

 

S
e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s
 D

C
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
p
e
o
p
le

 

e
x
p
e
ri

e
n
c
in

g
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 

v
io

le
n
c
e
  

 

5
1
. 

W
h
e
re

 f
u
n
d
in

g
 p

e
rm

it
s
, 

e
x
te

n
d
 t

h
e
 u

s
e
 o

f 
a
n
d
 p

ro
m

o
te

 t
h
e
 

S
a
n
c
tu

a
ry

 s
c
h
e
m

e
 t

o
 a

ll
o
w

 p
e
o
p
le

 e
x
p
e
ri

e
n
c
in

g
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 a

b
u
s
e
 

to
 r

e
m

a
in

 i
n
 t

h
e
ir

 h
o
m

e
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

5
2
. 

S
u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
 o

f 
re

fu
g
e
s
 i
n
 T

o
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 &

 M
a
ll
in

g
 

a
n
d
 S

e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

T
o
n
b
ri

d
g
e
 &

 M
a
ll
in

g
 B

C
 

&
 S

e
v
e
n
o
a
k
s
 D

C
 

5
3
. 

F
o
ll
o
w

in
g
 o

n
 f
ro

m
 t

h
e
 s

u
c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
M

A
R
A
C
 t

ra
in

in
g
 i
n
 2

0
1
0
, 

e
n
s
u
re

 t
h
a
t 

s
ta

ff
 r

e
c
e
iv

e
 o

n
-g

o
in

g
 t

ra
in

in
g
 o

n
 d

o
m

e
s
ti
c
 a

b
u
s
e
 

(N
B
: 

R
e
s
o
u
rc

e
s
 t

o
 b

e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
) 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

5
4
. 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 j
o
in

t 
w

o
rk

in
g
 w

it
h
 o

th
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
 s

u
c
h
 a

s
 t

h
e
 P

o
li
c
e
 

th
ro

u
g
h
, 

fo
r 

e
x
a
m

p
le

, 
M

A
R
A
C
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
h
o
m

e
le

s
s
 

p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 d

is
a
b
il
it
ie

s
 

5
5
. 

A
u
d
it
 e

x
is

ti
n
g
 s

u
p
p
ly

 o
f 
te

m
p
o
ra

ry
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 t

o
 e

n
s
u
re

 

th
a
t 

th
e
re

 i
s
 p

ro
v
is

io
n
 t

o
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 

d
is

a
b
il
it
ie

s
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

5
6
. 

W
it
h
 P

ri
v
a
te

 S
e
c
to

r 
H

o
u
s
in

g
 c

o
ll
e
a
g
u
e
s
 w

o
rk

 w
it
h
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 

a
s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

 t
o
 i
m

p
le

m
e
n
t 

th
e
 K

e
n
t 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 G

ro
u
p
 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 80



 

P
a

g
e

 6
9

 o
f 

6
9

 

 

s
ta

n
d
a
rd

 f
o
r 

fu
n
d
in

g
 d

is
a
b
le

d
 a

d
a
p
ta

ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

s
s
o
c
ia

ti
o
n
 

s
to

c
k
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
p
e
o
p
le

 w
it
h
 

c
o
m

p
le

x
 n

e
e
d
s
, 

in
c
lu

d
in

g
 

m
e
n
ta

l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 a

n
d
 

s
u
b
s
ta

n
c
e
 m

is
u
s
e
 

 

5
7
. 

S
e
e
k
 a

d
v
ic

e
 f

ro
m

 h
e
a
lt
h
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 o

th
e
r 

s
p
e
c
ia

li
s
ts

 a
b
o
u
t 

th
e
 s

p
e
c
if
ic

 n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
th

is
 g

ro
u
p
 a

n
d
 h

o
w

 b
e
s
t 

to
 e

n
g
a
g
e
 w

it
h
 

th
e
m

; 
a
n
d
 p

ro
v
id

e
 a

p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 t
ra

in
in

g
 f
o
r 

s
ta

ff
 (

N
B
: 

M
a
y
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
 

a
d
d
it
io

n
a
l 
re

s
o
u
rc

e
s
) 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

5
8
. 

W
o
rk

 m
o
re

 c
lo

s
e
ly

 w
it
h
 a

d
u
lt
 S

o
c
ia

l 
S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 a

n
d
 K

D
A
A
T
 a

n
d
 

e
x
p
lo

re
 t

h
e
 p

o
s
s
ib

il
it
y
 o

f 
jo

in
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m

e
n
ts

 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy

 t
h
e
 

h
o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
th

is
 g

ro
u
p
  

S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 G

y
p
s
y
 &

 

T
ra

v
e
ll
e
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
  

5
9
. 

W
o
rk

 w
it
h
 t

h
e
 K

C
C
 G

y
p
s
y
 a

n
d
 T

ra
v
e
ll
e
r 

U
n
it
 t

o
 b

e
tt

e
r 

u
n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 t

h
e
 h

o
u
s
in

g
 a

n
d
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 n
e
e
d
s
 o

f 
th

e
 g

y
p
s
y
 a

n
d
 

tr
a
v
e
ll
e
r 

c
o
m

m
u
n
it
y
 

D
e
c
e
m

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 

 

6
0
. 

P
ro

v
id

e
 t

ra
in

in
g
 f
o
r 

s
ta

ff
 o

n
 t

h
e
 r

is
k
s
 o

f 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia

l 
a
n
d
 

d
o
m

e
s
ti
c
 a

b
u
s
e
 a

m
o
n
g
 o

ld
e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 (
N

B
: 

M
a
y
 r

e
q
u
ir

e
 a

d
d
it
io

n
a
l 

re
s
o
u
rc

e
s
) 

 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

 

6
1
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

n
 i
n
fo

rm
a
ti
o
n
 p

a
c
k
 f
o
r 

o
ld

e
r 

p
e
o
p
le

 f
a
c
in

g
 

h
o
m

e
le

s
s
n
e
s
s
 

M
a
rc

h
 2

0
1
2
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
ro

u
g
h
 

s
le

e
p
e
rs

  

 

6
2
. 

W
it
h
 o

th
e
r 

K
e
n
t 

a
u
th

o
ri

ti
e
s
 a

n
d
 p

a
rt

n
e
r 

a
g
e
n
c
ie

s
, 

d
e
v
e
lo

p
 

jo
in

t 
in

it
ia

ti
v
e
s
 f

o
r 

ro
u
g
h
 s

le
e
p
e
rs

 u
s
in

g
 f

u
n
d
in

g
 a

ll
o
c
a
te

d
 b

y
 

D
C
L
G

 

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 N

e
e
d
s
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
rs

 

6
3
. 

Id
e
n
ti
fy

 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 f

o
r 

s
o
u
rc

in
g
 a

c
c
o
m

m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 t

h
a
t 

c
a
n
 b

e
 u

s
e
d
 

a
s
 t

e
m

p
o
ra

ry
 w

in
te

r 
s
h
e
lt
e
rs

 t
o
 s

u
p
p
o
rt

 t
h
e
 S

e
v
e
re

 W
e
a
th

e
r 

P
o
li
c
ie

s
 o

f 
e
a
c
h
 a

u
th

o
ri

ty
 

O
c
to

b
e
r 

2
0
1
1
 

T
o
 u

n
d
e
rs

ta
n
d
 a

n
d
 m

e
e
t 

th
e
 n

e
e
d
s
 o

f 
e
x
-o

ff
e
n
d
e
rs

 

6
4
. 

Im
p
le

m
e
n
t 

a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 P

ro
to

c
o
l 
fo

r 
th

e
 R

e
s
e
tt

le
m

e
n
t 

a
n
d
 

H
o
u
s
in

g
 o

f 
O

ff
e
n
d
e
rs

 

O
n
g
o
in

g
 

 

T
o
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
rs

 i
n
 

s
h
a
p
in

g
 s

e
rv

ic
e
s
  

 

6
5
. 

D
e
v
e
lo

p
 a

 c
o
-o

rd
in

a
te

d
 a

p
p
ro

a
c
h
 t

o
 s

e
rv

ic
e
 u

s
e
r 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 i
n
v
o
lv

e
m

e
n
t,

 i
n
c
lu

d
in

g
 m

in
o
ri
ty

 g
ro

u
p
s
 e

.g
. 

g
y
p
s
ie

s
 a

n
d
 

tr
a
v
e
ll
e
rs

  

Ju
n
e
 2

0
1
2
 

P
o
rc

h
li
g
h
t 

 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

PROPOSED CHANGES TO STAFF TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

CABINET – 15 SEPTEMBER 2011 

Report of the: Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Resources 

Also considered by: Services Select Committee - 20 September 2011 

Status: For Decision  

Executive Summary:  This report sets out proposals to achieve the savings planned 
from changes to staff terms and conditions included in the 10-year budget. The 
proposal requires Council to approve a phased introduction of the changes, but over 
the life of the 10-year budget the total savings required would still be achieved.  

The proposal has been subject to extensive consultation with staff and the feedback 
from them is broadly supportive of the proposals, though a number of concerns have 
been raised about the impact of the proposals on staff pay, motivation and morale. 
SDC has been recognised nationally for its achievements in staff motivation and 
empowerment, leading to high levels of productivity. This proposal is designed to 
mitigate the impact on productivity and should ensure residents continue to receive 
high quality, value for money services.  

This report supports the Key Aims of the Community Plan 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Peter Fleming and Cllr. Brian Ramsay 

Head of Service Head of Finance and HR – Tricia Marshall 

Recommendation:  It be recommended to Council that:  

a) the changes to staff terms and conditions set out below be implemented from 
1 April 2012; and 

b)  the 10-year budget be amended as shown in Appendix C, to take account of 
the phased introduction of these changes.      

Background and Introduction 

1 Members will be aware that the 10-year budget includes a saving of £370,000 
from staff pay and conditions, with £320,000 planned for delivery in 2012/13 
and a further £50,000 in 2013/14.  

2 This paper provides Members with an update on the changes to terms and 
conditions proposed to achieve these savings and feedback from staff 
consultation on those proposals as well as setting out the implications for the 
10-year budget.  

Agenda Item 7

Page 83



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

3 As part of the previous and current savings plans, the following savings with 
an impact on staff terms and conditions have already been implemented: 

o Removal of market supplements (previously paid to staff based on market 
conditions for recruitment to specific posts); 

o No national pay awards for the financial years 2010/11, 2011/12 and 
2012/13; and 

o Removal of leased car option.  

4 In addition, the Government is expected to announce this Autumn proposals 
for increased pension contributions for local government staff, to be phased in 
from April 2012, together with changes to the benefits payable from the 
Pension Scheme.  

The  development of the proposed changes to staff terms and conditions 

5 In order to make changes from 1 April 2012, the following timetable has been 
adopted: 

Action Date 

Initial staff briefings  April 2011 

Development of proposals with input from a new 
Staff Consultative Group (SCG) (see below) and 
consultation with Unison, including feedback to 
and from service teams by SCG 

May 2011 

Formal 90 day consultation period of proposed 
changes 

6 June to 6 
September 2011 

Feedback on consultation - Staff briefings September 2011 

Member approval October 2011 

New contracts issued to staff November 2011 

Revised terms and conditions begin 1 April 2012 

Consideration of any appeals against changes May 2012 

 

6 Set out above are a number of changes to staff terms and conditions that are 
already in place or planned. In this context, it was considered important that 
the development of proposals to achieve the future savings be carefully 

Agenda Item 7

Page 84



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

planned to minimise the impact on staff motivation and morale, and hence 
service delivery.  

7 To this end, at the start of the consultation process all staff were invited to 
briefings led by Management Team, to ensure they understood the financial 
environment within which the Council is delivering its services, and to 
encourage them to be involved in the development of the savings proposals 
and consultation on them.   

8 To encourage participation in developing the proposals, a Staff Consultative 
Group was established. The group was made up of officers who had 
volunteered and were from a cross section of teams and grades across the 
organisation. 

9 One of the first tasks for the Group was to establish some key principles 
which, if possible, the organisation would wish to adhere to in considering any 
proposals. These included a recognition of the national picture and the need to 
have a solution that was financially sound over the 10-year budget process as 
well as if possible staying within national terms and conditions and finding a 
solution that was fair to all staff.  

10 The Group put forward and considered a number of options for making the 
savings and staff were consulted on their favoured option. This option is set 
out in more detail in Appendix A, but in summary: 

o The current lengthy pay bands will be shortened from 11 spinal points to 
four points, with the top two points being deleted; 

o In order to offer some protection, staff currently in the top two points will 
continue to receive national pay awards for five years from when those 
awards resume; at the end of that period their pay will drop down to the 
level of the new top point.  

11 Unison has also been separately consulted on the proposals and a Unison 
representative has one seat on the Staff Consultative Group.  

Summary of consultation responses 

12 The consultation period with staff ends on 6 September and Members will be 
updated at the Cabinet meeting on any final comments received. Staff have 
been encouraged to feedback their comments, and briefing sessions and one-
to-one meetings have been held to facilitate this. The comments received are 
summarised below and are set out in more detail in Appendix B.  

13 Overall, it is understood that the majority of staff understand and accept the 
Council’s need to make savings and consider the proposal to be the least 
worst option. Some staff whose pay will reduce on the longer term are 
concerned about the impact on their motivation. Others have raised concerns 
about these changes being made at a time when they are receiving no 
inflationary pay awards, but RPI is running at 5% and CPI at 4.4%, leading to 
a fall in pay levels in real terms. They also feel that making this change to 
terms and conditions when they have already experienced other detrimental 

Agenda Item 7

Page 85



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

changes, as well as proposed changes to pension contributions, is de-
motivating, particularly when SDC is recognised nationally for its staff 
productivity levels.  

14 However, most staff accept that under the circumstances, this is the most 
equitable outcome and have recognised that the proposed solution spreads 
the saving in the 10-year budget. Staff working at Dunbrik have signed 
petitions to support the proposals in full. This is in contrast to previous 
consultations, where usually high levels of responses are only received when 
staff are very dissatisfied.  

Key Implications 

Financial  

15 The 10-year budget assumes that £320,000 a year will be saved from 2012/13 
onwards, and a further £50,000 will be saved from 2013/14 onwards. Under 
the proposal above, initial financial modelling (set out in Appendix C) suggests 
that the majority of the savings will not be achieved until 2016/17 onwards but, 
over the period of the 10-year  budget, the cumulative savings will be fully 
achieved. The reason for this is that the savings will be achieved through 
holding pay at existing levels for staff affected for a number of years instead of 
reducing pay levels from next year.  

16 In practice the Budget Stabilisation Reserve will fund the shortfall in earlier 
years with repayments being made to the Reserve in later years. The budget 
already assumes that there will be no national pay award from 2010/11 to 
2012/13.  

Staffing 

17 The proposals above, together with extensive consultation with staff should 
mitigate the impact on staff morale and motivation (and hence potentially the 
quality of service to residents) of changing staff terms and conditions. 
Although unemployment levels are high nationally, the Council is experiencing 
difficulties recruiting to certain posts within the organisation and has found it 
difficult to retain others; a phased approach such as that proposed should 
minimise the risk that staff are dissatisfied and leave the organisation.   

Equality  

18 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed.  The proposed 
changes will reduce the risk of discrimination of age grounds, as pay levels will 
vary less with length of service, but on the other hand those affected by the 
changes are more likely to be older; however there are extended protection 
arrangements proposed that mitigate the impact.  

Community Impact 

19 The proposals should have a positive impact as they ensure that in the long 
term the required savings are achieved as well as protecting high quality 
service delivery for residents. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 86



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

Risk Assessment Statement 

Risk Mitigation Residual Risk 

Recruitment and retention of 
staff more difficult due to 
changes to terms and 
conditions, with adverse 
impact on service delivery 
due to vacancies.  

SDC recognised as a good 
employer through Investors 
in People Gold and 
Champion status, top 
placed local authority in 
Times ‘Best Public Sector 
Organisation to work for’ 
awards 

Medium – staff still 
continue to want to 
work for SDC 

Morale and motivation 
reduced as a result of these 
changes to terms and 
conditions in addition to 
previous changes, leading to 
reductions in productivity 
(through loss of loyalty and 
goodwill)  with an adverse 
impact on service delivery.  

Extensive consultation with 
staff to develop a scheme 
that most staff support.  

Low/Medium 

Some staff refuse to accept 
the proposed new terms and 
conditions, leading to service 
disruption.  

Continue with approach of 
consultation, feedback and 
1-1 meetings for those most 
affected.  

Low – generally staff  
have given positive 
responses to the 
consultation process 

Proposal may not deliver 
required savings, leading to 
the need to generate 
additional savings to balance 
the budget.  

Financial modelling has 
been carried out at a 
detailed level. Continue to 
monitor position through 
monthly budget monitoring 
and check assumptions on 
an annual basis. 

Low 

The amendment to the 10-
year budget is not approved, 
resulting in a requirement to 
make the saving from 1 April 
2012. This would cause  
considerable anxiety and  
uncertainty for staff and the 
need to develop and consult 
on an alternative solution at 
short notice. Impact on 
service delivery would be 
adverse due to loss of 

Members briefed fully on 
the proposal, including the 
implications for the 10-year  
budget, in that by the end of 
the 10-year period the 
cumulative savings 
achieved would remain 
unchanged. Members also 
briefed on staff comments 
and concerns.  

Low 

Agenda Item 7

Page 87



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

motivation and staff goodwill.  

Conclusion 

20 The Council’s success and national reputation has been made possible by the 
people it employs, their hard work and commitment and desire to deliver the 
highest quality of service to the community. It is therefore not easy, having 
already asked them over recent years to reduce their pay and conditions, to 
once again make that request. However, the Council has been faced with 
unprecedented challenges requiring more difficult solutions.  

21 The proposed changes to terms and conditions aim to strike a balance 
between the need to deliver savings for the Council against the potential 
impact on staff recruitment, retention, motivation and morale, and hence 
productivity levels. The proposed changes meet the Council’s financial targets 
over the period of the 10-year budget and also offer staff substantial protection 
from reductions in pay.  

 

 

Sources of Information: Staff consultation on proposed changes to terms 
and conditions papers 

Contact Officer(s): Tricia Marshall – Ext. 7218 

tricia.marshall@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

Pav Ramewal 
Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Resources 

Agenda Item 7

Page 88



 

 

Appendix A 

Proposed changes to staff terms and conditions 
 

1. The current bands are reduced from 11+ spinal pay points per band to four 
points, by removing the top two points (the ‘starred area’) and the lower five 
points; this also removes the current overlap between bands;  

2. Officers who are on a point below the new top spinal point, subject to 
performance, carry on progressing one spinal point each year until they reach 
the new top point of the band; 

3. Officers who are currently on the top two points (12% of staff) will continue to 
receive national pay awards for five years from when national pay award are 
reintroduced. After that period expires, their pay will revert to the new top 
spinal point.; and 

4. Officers can still be rewarded via the appraisal scheme with one-off payments 
for outstanding performance.  

 
The attached salary band table shows the proposed new bands in bold.  

Under this proposal staff would stay on national terms and conditions. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 89



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

SCP Salary SCP Salary SCP Salary

4 12,145 12 15,039 18 17,161

5 12,312 13 15,444 19 17,802

6 12,489 14 15,725 20 18,453

7 12,787 15 16,054 21 19,126

8 13,189 16 16,440 22 19,621

9 13,589 17 16,830 23 20,198

10 13,874 18 17,161 24 20,858

11 14,733 19 17,802 25 21,519

12 15,039 20 18,453 26 22,221

13 15,444 21 19,126 27 22,958

14 15,725 22 19,621 28 23,708

15 16,054

16 16,440

17 16,830

SCP Salary SCP Salary SCP Salary

23 20,198 29 24,646 35 29,236

24 20,858 30 25,472 36 30,011

25 21,519 31 26,276 37 30,851

26 22,221 32 27,052 38 31,754

27 22,958 33 27,849 39 32,800

28 23,708 34 28,636 40 33,661

29 24,646 35 29,236 41 34,549

30 25,472 36 30,011 42 35,430

31 26,276 37 30,851 43 36,313

32 27,052 38 31,754 44 37,206

33 27,849 39 32,800 45 38,042

34 28,636 40 33,661 46 38,961

41 34,549

SCP Salary SCP Salary SCP Salary SCP Salary

42 35,430 47 39,855 53 45,112 59 50,800

43 36,313 48 40,741 54 46,019 60 51,818

44 37,206 49 41,616 55 46,934 61 52,855

45 38,042 50 42,499 56 47,880 62 54,173

46 38,961 51 43,363 57 48,822 63 55,528

47 39,855 52 44,234 58 49,808 64 56,914

48 40,741 53 45,112 59 50,800 65 58,340

49 41,616 54 46,019 60 51,818 66 59,791

50 42,499 55 46,934 61 52,855 67 61,290

51 43,363 56 47,880 62 54,173 68 62,825

52 44,234 57 48,822 63 55,528 69 64,398

58 49,808 64 56,914 70 66,009

Band G Band H Band I Band J

Band A Band B Band C

Band D Band E Band F

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 90



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

Appendix B 

Proposed Changes to Pay Bands – Employee Consultation 

Summary of Comments 

1. Comments have been made via staff briefing sessions, which were well 
attended,  e-mails sent directly to the Human Resources Advisors and during 
the one to one meetings offered to staff most affected.   

2. The comments range considerably from members of staff who are fully in 
support of the proposal, some of whom are currently in receipt of salaries 
within the starred area spine points of the salary bands, versus those that 
consider this group to be the worse affected by the proposals.  Other staff 
comments question the decision to consult on only one option (at least at the 
beginning of the consultation process); although this point has subsequently 
been responded to it still appears to be an outstanding issue for some staff.  In 
addition, some staff have also expressed a view that they do not think that the 
Staff Consultation Group is a true representation of how staff feel about the 
proposals (although this may be a comment more specifically related to 
communication) and further question the Council’s financial considerations, 
implications and overall predicted savings. 

3. Set out below are the responses received, which have been grouped together 
into commonly themed areas. A response has been added to each group of 
comments.  

Comments in support of the proposals 

a) “I am in the starred area so this proposal does affect me and I am grateful 
that my pay will not be immediately changed and that SDC have given me 
protection for 6 years. With what I have read in the papers and have seen in 
the news this is a more preferable line of action to take than a percentage 
reduction of pay for all staff which would impact the lower staff employees of 
the Council, removing the outer fringe allowance or making further 
redundancies.  

We are not the only Council to be facing these difficulties and I appreciate 
the efforts being made Sevenoaks”. 

b) “In response to your email I would like to thank you and the Staff 
Consultative Group for all your hard work in reaching what must have been a 
difficult decision regarding the changes to the pay bandings. I found the staff 
briefings very informative and helpful.   

Although as I am not in the starred area and therefore not immediately 
affected by these changes I believe that in the current climate this is the 
fairest way to implement changes without reducing the salaries of all 
employees”. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 91



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

c) “I think that this is by far the best option and I totally support it”. 

d) “I would like to give my support to this idea of a change in salary bands as I 
believe that this choice will have the least negative impact upon all staff 
working at the SDC.” 

e) "Whilst I am uneasy supporting a proposal that disadvantages some people 
and not others, the changes proposed do seem to be the most proactive way 
of making the savings, whilst still providing those who are impacted sufficient 
time to adapt to the changes.  In my view a straight reduction to all staff will 
have far worse impact upon staff morale, would prompt the loss of many 
staff and would result in a knock-on decline in the Council's services.  

Therefore I would be grateful if you could register my reluctant support for 
the current proposal.  

Notwithstanding the above,  I would raise an objection in principle to the 
inclusion within the budget of the staff costs as they stand.  Whilst I 
appreciate the difficult times we face, I feel disappointed in Members that 
they would rather see cuts to a 'Gold' standard staff workforce than risk the 
political wrath of actions such as scrapping free bin bags.    

I also believe there should have been a staff consultation regarding the 
inclusion of the cut within the budget in the first place."  

4. In addition, employees at Dunbrik have demonstrated their approval of the 
proposed changes in the form of a petition by signing and submitting a copy of 
the initial consultation letter, dated 6th June 2011 (a total of 23 signatures 
obtained). 

Fairness of the proposal  

5. Particularly strong comments have been received questioning the ‘fairness’ of 
the proposal as it has been expressed that it particularly affects those 
members of staff either just approaching the spine column point starred areas, 
and those currently in receipt of salaries within the starred areas.  It is also 
noted from comments that there may be a possible negative effect on the 
motivation of staff in terms of their work performance and the impact this may 
have on their personal circumstances due to the financial loss which may 
ultimately result in a loss of staff.  

f) “I feel the measures that are proposed are completely disproportionate and 
act as a disincentive for staffLI work hard and do my job to the best of my 
ability, but am effectively being punished for doing soLI therefore fail to see 
how this is the least worst option.” 

g) “Despite hearing the arguments, I still feel it is totally unfair to penalise the 
small percentage and number of  staff (12% / 36 [approx] individuals) in the 
starred area who in the vast and overwhelming majority of cases (I know 

Agenda Item 7

Page 92



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

some placements were due to past  job evaluations) have earned their place 
to be there through the appraisal scheme.    

I have heard the argument that people who get into this area are thereafter 
unreasonably rewarded for years, but for some of us that isn’t true and no 
one has ever felt this was unfair enough to change before, so it doesn’t seem 
a valid argument to now use in the justification of targeting all the cuts 
towards this tiny group of people.  

I think that these savings should have been spread out across the whole 
workforce not just 36 people, why should they be penalised for performing 
well and take the full brunt of these cuts.    

Obviously I like no doubt everyone else in this group, will reluctantly accept 
this now but purely because the proposal is delayed up until 2018, whereas I 
understand if the 4% pay cut for staff was introduced it would have been 
taken affect next year. (Surprisingly, I don’t imagine the 88% of the non 
affected workforce are going to  disagree either with the proposal).  

However, if one system can be delayed for 7 years why not another.   

I understand this is ‘inducement’ its not what I would call it.”   

h) “I see this as a way of financially penalising and dis-incentivising those in the 
starred areas, who have achieved that spinal point by continued high level 
performance. A one off payment is not equivalent to an increment and does 
not add to your pension. I do not know how many staff are in the starred 
areas, but this would seem very unfair that they should bear this savings 
burden.”  

Response to comments   

6. All staff will be affected in that they will no longer be able to progress 
into the starred area.  However, it has been recognised that those in the 
starred area will be more affected by these proposals and pay protection 
arrangements have been included in the current proposal.  

7. It is acknowledged that any adverse change to staff terms and 
conditions is likely to affect morale and motivation and that most staff on 
the top two points that are being removed have gained that pay level by 
performing to a very high level. Steps have been taken to try to mitigate 
the impact, in addition  staff have been provided with information on why 
the changes are being proposed and the financial environment within 
which the Council is having to operate. The most affected staff have had 
individual meetings with HR to discuss the impact on their pay and to 
hear their concerns.  

Financial concerns in terms of the loss of salary to the individual and requests 
for further financial  information 

Agenda Item 7

Page 93



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

i) “I note that the information regarding the effects on Salary Bands/Spinal 
Column Points for what was Option C (and now the only Option offered under 
the Employee Consultation) only covers Salary Bands A to J inclusive. This 
gives no clue to the effects of the proposal on Salary Bands X & Y, and 
hence no information on how (and indeed if) the proposal will affect Director/ 
Executive level staffLL.In the interests of fairness, and given that we are led 
to believe that very senior employees have received substantial pay 
increases in recent years whilst other employees have received little or 
nothing, I trust that you will agree that this information is critical to assisting 
staff in making informed decisions regarding the Employee Consultation.” 

Response to comments   

8. Yes, both the Chief Executive and Directors’ salaries will be affected in 
the same way as all other staff.  Details of their salaries are already 
available on SiMON however these will also be published on the Staff 
Consultative Group pages. All employees receive the same pay award 
each year, including the most senior officers, there is no difference in 
treatment across the organisation.  

Impact on recruitment and consideration of salary uplifts in light of equal pay 
issues 

j) “In terms of recruitment it gives a fairer indication of expected salary range for 
new recruits particularly those who have not worked before in local 
governmentLthis will be a fairer way to advertise any vacancies as the 
difference between the top and the bottom of the scale will be that much 
reduced.” 

k) It was also raised a the last Staff Consultative Group Meeting on 18th August 
2011, whether it has been taken into consideration that the practice of 
offering sometimes higher salaries within a pay band to secure skilled & 
experienced candidates to roles will also mean that the salaries of current 
staff doing similar roles will also be addressed (i.e. in the Licensing 
Department); it was confirmed that this would be the case and that any 
issues arising would be reviewed on a case by case basis. 

Response to comments   

9. Yes, new members of staff would enter on the bottom point of the 
proposed new bands.  It is recognised that this could result in inequality 
amongst existing and new members of staff, and should this occur then 
the salary of the existing staff member will be looked into.  However, 
given that the % of officers within the lower bands is extremely low 
combined with a very low turnover within the Council we anticipate that 
this will be a rare occurrence.  

The number of options put forward for consultation with staff and comments 
on the role of the Staff Consultative Group 

Agenda Item 7

Page 94



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

10. Further questions have also been raised with regard to why only one option 
has been pursued and no financial demonstrations of the other options 
outlined in the initial consultation letter. The role & operation of the Staff 
Consultation Group and the consultation process itself has also been raised. 
(Please note that Carrie McKenzie–Lloyd’s e-mail sent to all staff on 12th July 
2011 communicated and confirmed the change to the original proposal). 

l) “Answer states that Option 3 was felt to be the one which meant people lost 
the least. Certainly not true for staff in the starred area, surely? What 
percentage or number of staff voted for/expressed an opinion or 
preference on each of the three options?” 

m) “By putting forward only Option C, staff have been effectively denied the 
opportunity to comment on the above proposals. The SCG cannot be 
considered representative of the views of all staff.” 

n) “Why have all employees not been given the opportunity to give their 
preferences on Options A, B and C as discussed by the SCG, rather than 
just what amount to the Option C proposals being put to all staff, please? At 
what point was it decided that only this single Option would be put out for 
employee consultation? This was certainly never made clear at any of the 
meetings of the SCG that I attended.” 

o) “I do note that the only published set of minutes from the Staff Consultative 
Group are those for the meeting of 11 May. No minutes of other meetings of 
the SCG have been publishedLLdespite the best efforts of the SCG 
members, many employees still remained unaware of the whole process. 
This being the case, the informal consultations carried out amongst 
employees by members of the Staff Consultative Group can hardly be 
considered to have constituted a full and representative sampling of opinion 
upon which to select only one Option to put forward for employee 
consultation.” 

p) It has also been expressed that the Council may lose some of its best 
people as result of these changes whereas others expressed that in some 
respects the revised option C is ‘putting off’ the inevitable. 

Response to comments   

11. More than three options were initially discussed by the SCG, however 
these were narrowed down to the three in the letter.  Members of the 
SCG put these proposals to their teams and the feedback received was 
that option C was the option which most people thought should be taken 
forward. 

12. The other two options were: 

o A percentage pay cut for all staff 

Agenda Item 7

Page 95



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

o Incremental rises every other year instead of every year. 

13. Option C was the option was felt to be the one which meant people lost 
the least.  A percentage pay cut would affect the lower paid members of 
staff to a greater extent and incremental rises every other year, would 
disadvantage those in the lower areas of the bands. 

Additional Questions Raised & Suggestions 

q) 
“So far, the consultation has only touched on salaries. What other changes 
to terms and conditions for individual employees' existing contracts of 
employment will these new contracts contain?  

Response: no other changes to terms and conditions will be included 
in contracts  other than those set out in Appendix A on which staff 
have been consulted 

r) 
“Please can you let me know how much the current wages freeze is 
expected to save the Council annually and whether that figure has been 
taken into account in the proposed savings to be generated from changes 
to terms and conditions?”  

Response: 1% increase in pay costs would add around £132,000 to the 
budget. A pay award in line with current CPI would cost £580,000 a 
year. A pay award in line with average pay increases in the UK (2.2% 
in June per the ONS) would cost £290,400 a year. The savings from a 
pay freeze are built into the budget separately from the savings 
expected from changes to terms and conditions. 

s) 
“Has consideration been given to those in the starred area who are nearing 
retirement age?” 

Response: all staff in the starred area have been offered a meeting 
with HR to discuss their particular situation including those close to 
retirement. 

t) 
“What is the highest deficit on the budget book? Has Sevenoaks District 
Council taken pensions contributions "holidays", or withheld payments to 
the pension fund, thereby increasing the pensions deficit, and if so, by how 
much? As staff had no choice but to continue to pay their pension 
contributions regardless of whether the pension fund was in surplus or 
deficit, it is grossly unfair to penalise them now if such actions by their 
employer have been instrumental in causing or increasing such deficit.”  

Response: The Council makes payments into the pension fund not 
only for ongoing liabilities but also to make up the pension fund 
deficit. Employees currently pay a maximum of 7.5% of pay into the 
Fund whereas SDC as employer pays 15.7% for ongoing service plus 
a lump sum payment towards the deficit (£2m payment in 2010/11). It 
can be seen that the Council has picked up a much higher proportion 

Agenda Item 7

Page 96



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

of pension costs than employees, though it is acknowledged that 
increases to employee contribution rates (as yet unannounced) are 
expected from April 2012. 

u) 
“I note that other Authorities have opted to close for up to one day a month 
with all staff taking unpaid leave. This would seem to be a much fairer 
option and one that all staff "benefit" from as they have extra days away 
from work?”  

Response: This is an interesting suggestion. This would have an 
immediate impact on staff take home pay  and also would reduce the 
level of service to our customers – it would not be possible to 
accommodate such a reduction in working time without having a 
significant impact on service delivery. Staff already have the option to 
reduce their pay in exchange for additional leave. 

 

 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 97



Cabinet – 15 September 2011 

 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 98



 

 

Appendix C 
Impact of proposals on current 10-year budget 

Ten Year Budget - Revenue

Budget Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure

Net Service Expenditure c/f 16,711 16,711 13,771 13,162 13,223 14,200 14,789 15,379 15,971 16,565 17,158

Inflation 442 507 547 611 589 590 592 594 593 593

Pension Fund deficit: actuarial increase (220) 0 0 520

Net savings (approved in previous years) (71) 34 (25) (75)

Concessionary Fares reduction (699)

Expenditure previously classified as capital* 100

Net savings (NEW) (2,492) (1,150) (461) (79)

Net Service Expenditure b/f 16,711 13,771 13,162 13,223 14,200 14,789 15,379 15,971 16,565 17,158 17,751

Financing Sources

Government Support (6,348) (5,358) (4,632) (4,251) (3,870) (3,986) (4,106) (4,229) (4,356) (4,487) (4,622)

Govt Support - Conc. Fares reduction 446 446 446 446 459 473 487 502 517 533

Govt Support to offset C Tax freeze 0 (229) (229) (229) (229) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax (9,172) (9,199) (9,199) (9,475) (9,759) (10,149) (10,555) (10,977) (11,416) (11,873) (12,348)

Interest Receipts (192) (153) (289) (594) (714) (662) (596) (529) (462) (397) (353)

Contributions to Reserves 716 471 330 430 330 330 330 330 330 330 330

Contributions from Reserves (1,715) (14) (645) (645) (645) (645) (645) (645) (645) (645) (645)

Total Financing (16,711) (14,036) (14,218) (14,318) (14,441) (14,653) (15,099) (15,563) (16,047) (16,555) (17,105)

Contribution to/(from) Stabilisation Reserve 265 1,056 1,095 241 (136) (280) (408) (518) (603) (646)

Budget Gap 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cumulative 10 year position (surplus)/deficit: (66)

Effect of Terms & Conditions Savings Changes

Effect of changes 320 370 405 288 145 (17) (318) (504) (691)

REVISED Cont to/(from) Stabilisation Reserve 265 736 725 (164) (424) (425) (391) (200) (99) 45

Cumulative 10 year position (surplus)/deficit: (68)

 

A
genda Item

 7

P
age 99



Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meetings of the Cabinet held on 21 July 2011
	6 West Kent Homelessness Strategy 2011-16
	Item 6 - Appendix A - West Kent Homelessness Strategy

	7 Proposed changes to Staff Terms and Conditions

